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Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo is a private, 
independent, non-profit philanthropic foundation, with 
full constitutional autonomy, within a complex regulatory 
framework underpinned primarily by Italian legislative 
decree 153/99 and Constitutional Court rulings No. 300 and 
301 – 2003, and by the Protocol of Understanding between 
the Italian association of bank and savings bank foundations 
(ACRI) and the Italian Ministry of Finance and the Economy 
(MEF) signed in 2015. As such, Fondazione Compagnia di 
San Paolo manages its assets independently, formulates 
and implements its own investment policy and allocates 
the income from its asset management to interventions of 
collective usefulness by means of grant-making instruments, 
whose beneficiaries include public and non-commercial 
entities with an altruistic mission. In accordance with its 
constitution, “Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo pursues 
socially useful purposes, to promote civil, cultural and 
economic development.” This general definition applies to the 
“major areas” of Culture, Research, Public Health and Social 
Policy. Although the governing document does not impose 
any specific geographical limits on Fondazione Compagnia 
di San Paolo’s work, its main focus is Turin, Piedmont, Liguria 
and Valle d’Aosta in North-West Italy. As an Italian and 
European foundation, Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo 
also has a secondary but significant range of action in the rest 
of Italy, in Europe (for projects that include Italian territory) 
and, for selected initiatives, in the international arena. 

Fourteen of the 17 Members of the General Council are 
appointed by 12 bodies identified in the constitution for 
their expertise and representativeness in the focus areas of 
Compagnia’s mission. The bodies currently responsible for 
appointing the General Council are: Turin Municipal Council, 
Piedmont Regional Council, Genoa Municipal Council, the 
Chambers of Commerce, Industry, Craft and Agriculture of 
Turin, Genoa and Milan, Unioncamere Piemonte, Accademia 
Nazionale dei Lincei, Accademia delle Scienze di Torino, Istituto 
Italiano di Tecnologia in Genoa, Fondo Ambiente Italiano 
(FAI), and the European Foundation Centre (EFC) in Brussels1. 

The other three members are selected by the General Council 
on the basis of clear and undisputed renown, in such a way 
as to ensure a balanced line-up of specific and recognised 
professional skills and expertise in key sectors.  

1. The European Foundation Centre (EFC) has now merged with 
the Donors and Foundations Network in Europe (Dafne) to form 
a single entity under the name Philea (Philanthropy Europe 
Association), which became legally operational in 2022. 

The bodies responsible for appointing the 
General Council

The governing bodies 

General Council (Consiglio Generale) : Compagnia’s policy-
making body. It has a four-year term of office. Is tasked with 
establishing Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s priorities, 
programmes and goals, including through its Committees, 
and monitoring the results thereof. 
Management Board (Comitato di Gestione): appointed 
by the General Council and made up of five members, 
who automatically include the Chair and Vice-Chair. The 
Management Board holds office for the same period as the 
General Council, and the two bodies’ tenure expires at the 
same time. The Management Board enjoys full powers of 
ordinary and extraordinary management of the Foundation. 
The Managing Board is therefore responsible for approving 
decisions regarding interventions in key sectors.  

Chair    appointed by the General Council, which also appoints 
the Vice-Chair. Holds office for four years, like the General 
Council, and can be re-appointed once; is Compagnia’s legal 
representative; chairs meetings, establishes their agenda and 
directs the work of the General Council and Management 
Board; is entitled to take urgent measures in the interests of 
Compagnia and reports on them to the Management Board.  

Secretary General    appointed by the Management Board, 
holds office for the same period as the General Council and 
can be re-appointed. Heads Compagnia’s operational arm. 

Board of Auditors    Compagnia’s supervisory body, 
appointed by the General Council and made up of three 
standing auditors, one of whom is the Chair of the Board of 
Auditors, and two alternate auditors. The Board of Auditors 
holds office for the same period as the General Council, and 
the two bodies’ tenure expires at the same time. Auditors 
can be re-appointed once.  

Compagnia aims to achieve gender balance in all governing 
bodies. 

Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo 
Profile and history. 
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Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo is a member of ACRI 
(a network of foundations), Philea and NEF and is either a 
founder-member or a member of the governing board of the 
following co-governed bodies: 

 	Fondazione della Comunità di Mirafiori Onlus;
 	Associazione Rete Dafne;
 	Fondazione Comunitaria della Valle d’Aosta;
 	Fondazione Centro Studi sul Federalismo;
 	Associazione per lo Sviluppo della Valutazione e l’Analisi 

delle Politiche Pubbliche;
 	Fondazione Polo del ’900;
 	Fondazione Comunità Chierese;
 	Associazione Globus et Locus - Milan;
 	Consulta per la Valorizzazione dei Beni Artistici e Culturali 

di Fossano;
 	Consulta delle Fondazioni di origine bancaria del Piemonte 

e della Liguria;
 	Palazzo Ducale Fondazione per la Cultura - Genoa;
 	Fondazione Luigi Einaudi - Turin;
 	Fondazione Torino Musei;
 	Fondazione con il Sud;
 	Collegio Universitario Renato Einaudi;
 	Associazione Urban Lab;
 	Fondazione Centro per la Conservazione e il Restauro dei 

Beni Culturali “La Venaria Reale”;
 	Xkè? ZeroTredici S.c.r.l.;
 	Museo Nazionale del Cinema - Fondazione Maria Adriana 

Prolo - Archivi di Cinema, Fotografia ed Immagine;
 	Fondazione del Teatro Stabile, Turin;
 	Fondazione Contrada Torino Onlus;
 	Consulta per la Valorizzazione dei Beni Artistici e Culturali 

di Torino;
 	Fondazione Museo delle Antichità Egizie;
 	Associazione Studi e Ricerche per il Mezzogiorno;
 	Fondazione Comunitaria della Riviera dei Fiori Onlus;
 	Consorzio delle Residenze Reali Sabaude;
 	Fondazione Comunitaria del Verbano Cusio Ossola;
 	Fondazione Teatro Regio di Torino.

As well as these institutional holdings, Compagnia has 
corporate holdings as listed in the relevant section of the 
Financial Statements.

The Cross-Cutting Functions (CCFs) serve Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo’s institutional activity and form an 
integral part of it:

 	 Impact Innovation, in conjunction with the Finance 
Department and under the management of the Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO);

 	Planning, Research and Evaluation;
 	Operations;
 	Communication.

The CCFs have the dual task of ensuring that Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo operates as an “organisational 
machine” and providing the Line Functions with the 
necessary services – communication, management, 
organisation, methodology, consulting, information – to 
optimise Compagnia’s work as a philanthropic foundation 
with a high degree of operational complexity. In doing 
so, they respond to signals and requests from “internal 
customers” in the form of Compagnia’s Governing Bodies, 
Goals, Missions, CFO and other CCFs. They also develop 
their own capacity for initiative-taking and their own 
agenda, with benefits for the Foundation’s work as a whole. 
The operating costs of the CCFs form part of Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo’s structural costs: most of these 
resources therefore combine with Compagnia’s grant-
making resources, which are deployed directly or indirectly 
for the benefit of the catchment area. 

Lastly, Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo has a 
Governance function, which supports the orderly running 
of the Foundation’s constitutional affairs. It also assists the 
Executive Bodies in managing institutional and international 
relations, as well as in preparing documentation directly 
relating to their activities. 

The co-governed bodies The cross-cutting functions
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Compagnia’s organisational model draws inspiration 
from European planning practices, which simultaneously 
emphasise the coherence, integration and flexibility of 
the action within an organisational system, in which the 
intentional focus (i.e. with a specific mission) of each 
operating unit contributes to the pursuit of the underlying 
goal. This underlying goal gives rise to missions, which in 
turn develop coherent mission projects. 

In Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s parlance, the 
“sustainable development of local communities for the 
common good” is a “grand challenge”, pursued via three 
Goals that identify (in the light of agenda 2030) three key 
dimensions: Culture, People, Planet. The Goals are pursued 
through 14 missions, each of which manages a coherent 
portfolio of projects, in terms of subject matter and aims. 

The organisational model

Political agenda and 
civic commitment

Clear, targeted 
objectives

Project portfolio 
and bottom-up 
trials

GRAND CHALLENGE
Sustainable development of local communities for the common good.

Culture 
Goal

1.	 Reinventing dwelling systems and regenerating 
neighbourhoods.  
Supporting social housing and urban regeneration. 

2.	 Promoting decent work.  
Increasing the number of fair, stable opportunities for 
the employment of vulnerable people. 

3.	 Educating for collective development.  
Promoting high-quality, inclusive education, equal 
educational opportunities and the welfare of children 
and teenagers. 

4.	 Rediscovering community.  
Promoting resilient communities that value solidarity.  

5.	 Working together for inclusion.  
Contributing to the development of inclusive, 
interconnected, skills-rich communities.

Missions

Planet 
Goal

1.	 Harnessing the value of research. 
Encouraging research and top-quality education to 
improve economic fundamentals and facilitate local 
development.

2.	 Boosting innovation.  
Financing and promoting innovation and technology 
transfer, to impact on social challenges, among other 
purposes. 

3.	 Promoting well-being.  
Encouraging healthy life-styles and strengthening 
prevention systems through effective health services.

4.	 Fostering international opportunities.  
Supporting the international vocation of local players 
and attracting new international opportunities for the 
local area.

5.	 Protecting the environment.  
Trialling actions aimed at environmental sustainability 
and awareness.

Missions

MISSION
PROJECTS

People 
Goal

1.	 Building capacity to attract.  
Promoting an area’s capacity to attract through  
culture and creativity.

2.	 Developing skills.  
Supporting skills training in the cultural arena as an 
agent of development in society. 

3.	 Preserving beauty.  
Preserving our cultural and artistic  
heritage and landscape.

4.	 Encouraging active participation.  
Encouraging people to take part in the community 
and culture to foster an inclusive society that 
prioritises human welfare. 

Missions

MISSION
PROJECTS

MISSION
PROJECTS

MISSION
PROJECTS
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Letter from the Chair

Compagnia di San Paolo’s 2021-2024 Multi-
Year Planning Document, which was first put 
into practice and validated in 2021, is built 
on the principle of harnessing the positive 
energies of our neighbourhoods. As the words 
and figures in this report illustrate, we have 
road-tested an array of innovative tools, and 
organised them into a system designed to 
support the multiple talents that make up 
civil society, and the network of local public 
institutions that play such a vital role in Italy’s 
democratic and community life. Compagnia 
quickly realised that today’s challenges 
would force foundations of its type to make 
significant changes to their role and practices: 
the post-pandemic reconstruction, enabled by 
a European intervention designed to address 
Italy’s particular weakness, to be honest, 
entailed a duty to make major leaps forward at 
every level. The system certainly needs a reboot, 
but it also needs to dissociate itself from the 
weaknesses and inefficiencies, which – due to 
inertia, superficiality and, let’s face it, a failure 
to appreciate the full extent of the changes 
taking place – have made Italy as poor in future-
oriented achievements as it is rich in resources. 

Safeguarding the planet and integrating 
digital opportunities into our ways of creating, 
consuming, producing and helping, need to 
be built into social, political and economic 
action, not least in the third sector. And all this 
must be founded on the actual possibilities 
and capabilities of our local communities. The 
education system, combined with educational 
communities and research, represents one of the 
tools for effecting this gradual but demanding 
revolution in the mindset, skills and practices 
firstly of citizens and secondly of operators. So 
if we are to foster change in the medium-to-
long term and help pave the way to long-term 
commitment, we bear full responsibility for 
kick-starting positive dynamics now and in the 
short term. This is the driving force behind two 
of the priorities clearly set out in our strategic 
plan: firstly, maximising the impact of the 
Foundation’s grant-making (which does not 
mean focusing exclusively on projects whose 

success is already guaranteed) and secondly, 
helping local social operators, including cultural 
and educational bodies, to develop an intelligent 
organisational resilience with immediate effect 
(which does not mean focusing exclusively 
on the corporate aspects of organisations). 
The National Recovery and Resilience Plan, 
which touches upon major systemic issues, 
some of which coincide with the scope of 
the work of Compagnia and its partners is 
both a symbol and a very real opportunity to 
make this transformation. Now is the time for 
efficiency and innovation, both of which are pre-
conditions for sustainable human and economic 
development. As highlighted at the recent ACRI 
Conference in Cagliari (April 2022), we can use 
these tools to weed out the mechanisms that are 
still giving rise to unfair inequalities – of gender, 
age, culture, income and access to services – in 
Italy and elsewhere, by acting on the premise 
that all this can go hand in hand with a clear and 
fruitful policy of “environmental reconciliation.” 
The young and future generations have a right 
to expect this from us.  

Readers who have the patience to examine 
this report will see how Compagnia di San 
Paolo turns these principles into practical 
action through our Goals and the framework 
put in place by our cross-cutting dimensions: 
environment, digital, knowledge, well-being, 
geographies and opportunities. 
I would like to end by thanking everyone without 
whose work Compagnia di San Paolo would 
simply not exist: our governing bodies and 
staff, but equally our partners and stakeholders. 
Compagnia is a community, and the fact that 
it is built on a plethora of relationships forms 
a strong part of both its current and historic 
identity. It is a community that strives for peace 
and always keeps sight of the fact that peace is 
built on justice. 

Turin, April 2022

Francesco Profumo
Chair of Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo

There are moments in history that catch people 
off guard and leave them speechless. April 
2022 is one of those moments. Seeing war flare 
up again on our continent, especially a war 
of aggression like the one in Ukraine, comes 
as a shock. It challenges the very concept 
of philanthropy: what kind of love and what 
kind of humanity is emerging in the wake of 
a pandemic that many hoped would make us 
more compassionate towards each other?  

And yet it is neither right nor possible to 
respond with silence or inaction. This is true of 
any field, but especially the field of institutional 
philanthropy. Ever since they first emerged, 
foundations, including Compagnia di San Paolo, 
have been based on the conviction that the 
potential for good in the world is too great to 
allow it to go to waste due to a lack of faith in 
the possibility of channelling it into practical 
action. And foundations have a responsibility 
to keep channelling it even at the most difficult 
moments, regardless of whether those moments 
affect the world as a whole or the marginalised 
people of an outer-city district. Without this 
faith and commitment, foundations would 
struggle to find the sense of purpose that 
translates values into practical action.

Ever since they first emerged, 
foundations have been based on the 
conviction that the potential for good 
in the world is too great to allow it to 
go to waste.
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In the course of 2021, Fondazione Compagnia di San 
Paolo approved 1,049 interventions for a total value of 
158,670,934.59 euros, payable from funds pertaining to 
the annual budget or allocated for grant-making purposes 
in prior years.  

The data relating to Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s 
institutional activity needs to be read with a certain care, 
especially with regard to the budget origin date of the funds. 
All possible steps have been taken to avoid duplications in 
the information provided, despite the fact that Compagnia’s 
work naturally includes initiatives that do not reach 
completion within the course of a single year (from allocation 
to payment of the final tranche of funding). The use of funds 
allocated from the budgets of prior years is reported in such 
a way as to show how it is distributed across the various 
goals.  

As is normally the case for entities operating on a continuous 
basis, the number and total value of grant payments made 
in a given year may exceed the allocations made in the same 
year. Some of these, in fact, may appear in years after the 
budgetary year to which they pertain, mainly because of 
the duration of the specific characteristics of the various 
projects supported, which dictate the frequency and amount 
of the tranches into which the grants are divided. 
 
It is worth noting, however, that not all allocations give rise 
to a single project: grants awarded on the basis of calls for 
proposals are a good example of this, as they generally 
depend on a single initial allocation, namely the one that 
gives rise to the call for proposals. This is then divided into 
multiple grants (awarded to the winners of the call) in the 
year in question and potentially also in subsequent years. 

2021.
Overview.

1.

1.1 How to read the data 

€158.67 m 1,049
Total grants awarded  
in 2021 

Interventions undertaken   
in 2021 

The total amount of allocations made in 2021 exceeds the 
value announced in the Multi-Year Planning Document 2021-
2024 (amounting to a budgetary figure of 135 million euros). 
The Multi-Year Planning Document in question explained that 
any additional resources arising from profits on Compagnia’s 
assets or other operations would be used in strategic projects 
during the period (see MYPD 2021-24, page 49). 

As explained above in the section covering the organisational 
structure, Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo is made up 
of three Goals and 14 Missions. The table below summarises 
the grant-making activity of the Goals and their Missions for 
2021, as well as reporting on the limited grant-making activity 
of the Planning, Research and Evaluation Department. 

1.2 Grants 

AREAS 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Culture Goal 38,263 42,237 43,193 41,698 40.634

People Goal 93,516 88,627 78,779 72,766 67,772

Planet Goal 45,660 48,850 50,324 49,761 48,594

Planning, Research and Evaluation Department - - - 4,002* 1,527

TOTAL AWARDED** 177,439 179,714 172,296 168,364 158,671

Special funds for voluntary work (Law 266/91) 7,132 6,748 6,771 4,175 7,188

Protocols of understanding / Extraordinary 
contributions*** 591 597 609 376 629

Number of contributions from budgetary 
resources 1,045 914 797 1,086 1,049

* The 2020 figure also includes contributions to Associazione di Fondazioni e di Casse di Risparmio (ACRI), which were no longer the Department’s 
responsibility in 2021.(*) Allocation to the ACRI Fund for Common Initiatives 
** According to ACRI guidance, this value also includes the tax credit connected with the fund to combat educational poverty, which amounted to 
11,544,967 euros in 2019.
*** Allocation to the ACRI Fund for Common Initiatives 

TABLE 1.1 ALLOCATIONS BY TARGET (THOUSANDS OF €) 
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TABLE 1.2 GRANT-MAKING ACTIVITY BY GOAL AND MISSION

SECTOR GRANTS AWARDED INTERVENTIONS UNDERTAKEN

euros % No. %

Implementation of the Strategic Plan 96,865 0.06% 3 0.29%

Culture Goal 40,634,397 25.61% 512 48.81%

Building capacity to attract 11,554,100 7.28% 168 16.02%

Developing skills 4,031,997 2.54% 68 6.48%

Preserving beauty 8,033,300 5.06% 63 6.01%

Encouraging active participation 7,435,000 4.69% 203 19.35%

Support for cultural and strategic bodies 9,580,000 6.04% 10 0.95%

People Goal 67,772,494 42.71% 331 31.55%

Reinventing dwelling systems and regenerating 
neighbourhoods 2,675,000 1.69% 23 2.19%

Promoting decent work 8,357,340 5.27% 54 5.15%

Educating for collective development 30,646,204 19.31% 100 9.53%

Rediscovering community 20,804,590 13.11% 87 8.29%

Working together for inclusion 5,289,360 3.33% 67 6.39%

Planet Goal 48,639,622 30.65% 182 17.35%

Harnessing the value of research	
	 22,756,400 14.34% 62 5.91%

Boosting innovation 9,490,500 5.98% 37 3.53%

Promoting well-being 10,048,730 6.33% 33 3.15%

Fostering international opportunities 3,055,000 1.93% 18 1.72%

Protecting the environment 3,288,992 2.07% 32 3.05%

Planning, Research and Evaluation Department 1,527,557 0.96% 21 2.00%

TOTAL 158,670,935 100.00% 1,049 100.00%

	 Implementation of the Strategic Plan
	 Culture Goal
	 People Goal
	 Planet Goal
	 Planning, Research and Evaluation Department

GRANTS INTERVENTIONS

42.7% 48.8%

31.6%

17.3%

2.0%

25.6%

1.0%

0.1% 0.3%

30.6%

Compagnia di San Paolo’s grant-making activity spanned 
1,049 projects for a total of 158 million euros. In numerical 
terms, the projects are distributed across the Culture 
Goal (50%), People Goal (32%) and Planet Goal (17%), 
whereas from a financial point of view, in line with the 
previous year, the People Goal accounted for about 43% 

of all grant-making, followed by the Planet Goal (31%) and 
the Culture Goal (26%). As explained later, the Planning, 
Research and Evaluation Department also awards grants, 
albeit to a more limited extent, in relation to applied socio-
economic research.  

FIGURE 1.1 GRANTS AND INTERVENTIONS APPROVED IN 2021 
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TABLE 1.3 GRANT-MAKING ACTIVITY BY SECTOR OF EXPENDITURE, 2021 / 2020

SECTOR GRANTS ATTRIBUTABLE 
TO 2021

BREAKDOWN OF GRANTS 
FOR PRIOR YEARS TOTAL GRANTS, 2021 TOTAL GRANTS,  

PRIOR YEAR 

projects amount, € projects amount, € projects amount, € projects amount, €

Culture Goal 335 16,874,590 251 11,845,118 586 28,719,708 318 18,606,716

People Goal 166 24,540,415 300 22,091,736 466 46,632,151 280 28,745,315

Planet Goal 89 12,577,632 86 10,100,725 175 22,658,357 69 19,353,060

PRED 15 1,167,447 9 148,674 24 1,316,121 15 3,732,342

Imp. Strategic Plan 1 61,280 3 87,029 4 148,309 11 111,197

Grant-making 
and programmes 
prior to 2020

- - 772 53,482,638 772 53,482,638 1,443 83,191,286

TOTAL 606 55,201,364 1,421 97,755,920 2,027 152,957,285 2,136 154,072,916

TABLE 1.4 GRANTS: PAYMENTS

SECTOR GRANTS PRIOR YEAR INTERVENTIONS PRIOR YEAR

euros % euros % No. % No. %

Culture Goal 40,634,397 25.62% 41,698,760 24.74% 512 49.95% 464 42.73%

People Goal 67,872,493 42.79% 72,766,168 43.24% 331 31.64% 423 38.96%

Planet Goal 48,593,622 30.63% 49,761,500 29.56% 182 17.40% 177 16.29%

PRED 1,527,557 0.96% 4,002,716 2.38% 21 2.01% 21 1.93%

TOTAL 158,628,069 100% 168,364,144 100% 1,046 100% 1,086 100%
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10,000 euros

50,000 euros

500,000 euros

1,000,000 euros

10,000,000 euros

23 interventions

2 interventions

22 interventions

331 interventions

499 interventions

172 interventions

Against a broadly stable backdrop, 2021 saw a reduction 
in both the number and value of interventions approved 
in relation to projects below the 10,000 euro threshold 
(these fell from 19% to 16% by number, and from 0.9% to 
0.75% by economic value). The 50,000-500,000 bracket 
accounts for the largest slice of financial value again this 
year (33.5% of total grants disbursed). 

Large projects are very limited in number, but account for 
a substantial share of grant-making resources: considering 
the two largest-scale categories (i.e. over a million euros), 
little more than 2% of allocations accounted for almost 
50% of the resources committed by Compagnia.  

1.3 Scale of interventions 

TABLE 1.5 ALLOCATIONS BY SIZE CLASS, 2021 / 2020 

SIZE CLASS AMOUNT AWARDED PRIOR YEAR INTERVENTIONS PRIOR YEAR

euros % euros % No. % No. %

Up to 10,000.00 euros 1,192,165 0.75% 1,459,847 0.87% 172 16.40% 203 18.69%

10,000.01 
to 50,000.00 euros 12,442,322 7.84% 12,773,317 7.59% 499 47.57% 458 42.17%

50,000.01 
to 500,000.00 euros 53,089,239 33.46% 56,510,960 33.54% 331 31.55% 376 34.62%

500,000.01 
to 1,000,000.00 euros 15,732,500 9.92% 17,747,505 10.55% 22 2.10% 23 2.12%

1,000,000.01 
to 10,000,000.00 euros 49,698,059 31.32% 52,703,059 31.32% 23 2.19% 24 2.21%

Over 10,000,000.00 
euros 26,516,650 16.71% 27,169,456 16.14% 2 0.19% 2 0.18%

TOTAL 158,628,069 100% 168,364,144 100% 1,049 100% 1,086 100%

FIGURE 1.2 INTERVENTIONS BY SIZE CLASS, 2021 
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In 2021, Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo accepted 
approximately 46% of the number of applications received, 
accounting for 67% of the total funding applied for. 
Compared with 2020, the number of applications accepted 
fell slightly (from 50% to 46%), but their value increased 
(from 60% to 67%). 
 
Apart from the obviously limited availability of resources, 
applications for funding were rejected, as in previous 
years, mainly on the grounds that a given call for proposals 
attracted other projects that were deemed better, that the 
proposed intervention was not of high priority, or that it was 
ineligible in terms of form or substance (Tables 1.6 and 1.7). 

1.4 Applications approved and rejected

SECTOR APPLICATIONS RECEIVED   ACCEPTED   REJECTED

Projects Value Average value Projects Value Projects

No. % euros % euros No. % euros % No.

Culture Goal 1,303 58% 77,087,631 33% 954,584 512 49% 40,634,397 26% 791

People Goal 514 23% 79,685,266 34% 769,338 331 32% 67,772,494 43% 183

Planet Goal 415 18% 78,228,079 33% 1,197,401 182 17% 48,639,622 31% 233

PRED 24 1.06% 1,916,196 0.81% 79,841.50 21 2.00% 1,527,557 0.96% 3

Imp. Strategic Plan 3 0.09% 64,865 0.03% 32,432 3 0.29% 96,865 0.06% -

Total 2,259 100% 236,982,036 100% 104,952 1,049 100% 158,670,935 100% 1,210

TABLE 1.6 APPLICATIONS BY SECTOR OF EXPENDITURE 

		  Implementation of the Strategic Plan
		  Culture Goal
		  People Goal
		  Planet Goal
		  Planning, Research and Evaluation Department

		
		
		
		
		

FIGURE 1.3 PROJECT APPLICATIONS BY SECTOR OF EXPENDITURE

39.3%

87.5%

100%

64.4%

43.9%
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Culture Goal People Goal Planet Goal TOTAL

A Non-priority intervention 5.8% 55.2% 34.8% 12.5%

B Inconsistent with Planning Framework 0.8% 4.3% 0.8%

C Subjective requirements not met 

D Application not accepted in relation to the 
agreement in force with the University of Turin 

E Application attributable to a specific calls for 
proposals 1.1% 1.0%

F Inconsistent with objective requirements for the 
submission of proposals

G Rejected after comparative evaluation (call for 
proposals) 55.3% 9.2% 52.2% 49.7%

H Application not accepted because call for proposals 
selection requirements not met 28.8% 8.7% 24.7%

I Application rejected by Management Board

L External specialist referral procedure with negative 
outcome

M Required documentation not received

No. Proposing body failed to acquire sufficient co-
funding

O Previous intervention not complete

P Relations with body suspended due to critical 
arrears situation

Q Application submitted by impermissible means 8.3% 35.6% 11.3%

TOTAL 100% 100% 100% 100%

TABLE 1.7 REASONS FOR REJECTIONS 

TABLE 1.8 PROJECTS AND GRANTS BY TYPE OF INTERVENTION 

Although all falling into the general category of non-repayable 
grants, the resources awarded by Compagnia correspond to 
different approaches to intervention, which in turn derive 
from the Foundation’s strategic policy direction, as well as 
from the nature and purpose of the individual projects and 
the most effective ways of supporting them. In 2021, 24% 
(in line with 2020) was allocated to grant-making aimed at 
speculative applications, i.e. projects presented mainly by 
private social-sector organisations, or to applications which, 
despite being coordinated within Fondazione Compagnia di 
San Paolo’s strategic planning and therefore often integrated 
into the Foundation’s “own” projects, nonetheless retain a 
high degree of independence and specialisation2.  

In line with its long-standing modus operandi, Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo continued to offer the usual levels 
of support for its auxiliary bodies, which absorbed about one 
fifth of total resources.

Compagnia’s multi-year framework agreements with 
universities and local public bodies took third place in terms 
of resources awarded (19%). Agreements with local public 
bodies contain multiple project components and various 
recipient entities.  

The other forms of grant-making are grants to co-governed 
bodies or bodies of which Compagnia is a founder member 
(in this case it often makes appointments to the governance 
bodies; this category does not include auxiliary bodies), 
grants awarded as a result of calls for proposals, and lastly a 
share allocated to operational projects or own programmes, 
i.e. initiatives which Compagnia opts to lead and direct, 
because they are seen as strategic or exemplary. With 
regard to these projects, the amount provided represents 
only part of Compagnia’s commitment, because the 
Foundation channels part of its permanent staff’s design and 
management work into them.  

1.5 Type of interventions 

TYPE OF FUND PROJECTS PRIOR YEAR GRANTS AWARDED PRIOR YEAR

No. % of which 
multi-year No. % euros % of which 

multi-year euros %

Grant-making (a)2 313 29.84% 4.94% 366 33.70% 38,187,546 24.07% 4.15% 48,372,778 28.74%

Support for Institutional 
Activity (b)3 64 6.10% - 70 6.45% 9,281,000 5.85% - 11,401,000 6.77%

Co-governed 
bodies, membership 
contributions (c)

15 1.43% - 14 1.29% 12,783,950 8.06% - 12,624,040 7.50%

Auxiliary bodies (d) 11 1.05% 0.96% 14 1.29% 31,124,554 19.62% 9.09% 33,626,227 19.98%

Calls for proposals (e) 417 39.75% 1.62% 366 33.70% 20,230,889 12.75% 0.96% 16,496,640 9.80%

Agreements (f) 93 8.87% 23.70% 109 10.04% 29,819,040 18.79% 10.75% 28,085,960 16.69%

Integrated projects, 
operational projects 136 12.96% 21.57% 147 13.54% 17,243,955 10.87% 11.76% 17,757,499 10.51%

TOTAL 1,049 100% 8.38% 1,086 100% 158,670,934 100% 4.19% 168,364,144 100%

2. About 50% of the value in this category depends on the fund to combat educational poverty (about 16 million) and on provisions made for future 
activities whose operational form is not yet fully defined. 
3. Final year of use of this form of grant-making.

16



Annual Report
2021

The Foundation
Profile and history

Annual  
Report 
2021

Annexes

Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo can only award 
contributions to non-commercial or public bodies, and is not 
entitled to fund natural persons and for-profit entities (other 
specific exclusions, such as political parties and initiatives 
of proselytism, are specified in the Foundation’s internal 
regulations governing institutional activities).  

The picture for 2021 is broadly in line with 2020. Contributions 
to foundations accounted for 37% of total funding and relate 
mainly to support for Compagnia’s auxiliary bodies, which 
take the legal form of foundations. Compagnia’s operational 
projects continue to play a major role, accounting for 25% 
(up from 20% in 2020), thus returning to the share they held 
in 2019. Third place goes to recognised associations. 

The caption “Operational projects and provisions” covers 
items that the departments prepare in order to launch 
projects of various types (calls for proposals, guidelines, 
direct actions), in which the legal nature of the final recipient 
is not yet defined at the time of approval. These sums are 
therefore reported under the caption “Compagnia di San 
Paolo, operational projects and provisions” until the type of 
recipient is identified. 

1.6 Recipients of resources by legal form

N.B. The distribution corresponds to the list of legal forms to choose 
from on the Online Application platform, on which applicants for 
funding can identify their status when submitting applications (which 
appear alongside the group of operational projects managed directly by 
Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo). 

TABLE 1.9 BREAKDOWN OF BENEFICIARIES BY LEGAL FORM AND CATEGORY

BENEFICIARIES BY LEGAL FORM PROJECTS GRANTS AWARDED

No. % euros %

Ministry, central bodies 1 0.10% 8,900 0.01%

Ministry, peripheral bodies 3 0.29% 434,000 0.27%

Regional Council 4 0.38% 700,000 0.44%

Provincial Council 1 0.10% 20,000 0.01%

Municipal Council 55 5.24% 8,645,690 5.45%

Joint local authority for multiple mountain or hilltop population centres 
(Comunità montana/collinare) 2 0.19% 95,000 0.06%

Consort. or assoc. of local bodies, park authority 5 0.48% 2,169,000 1.37%

Supranational organisations 2 0.19% 685,000 0.43%

Public research and technology transfer body 3 0.29% 155,000 0.10%

Public social-care and charitable organisation (IPAB) 1 0.10% 800,000 0.50%

Local health trust 3 0.29% 1,400,000 0.88%

University, Polytechnic University 34 3.24% 11,290,246 7.12%

Other Local Authorities 3 0.29% 202,000 0.13%

Foundation 187 17.83% 59,436,723 37.46%

Recognised association 271 25.83% 17,004,812 10.72%

Non-recognised association 7 0.67% 375,000 0.24%

Social promotion association 119 11.15% 3,261,149 2.04%

Voluntary work organisation 28 2.67% 1,042,139 0.66%

Non-profit consortium 6 0.57% 664,500 0.42%

Committee 2 0.19% 260,000 0.16%

Recognised NGO (under law 49/87) 1 0.10% 200,000 0.13%

Other private non-profit, non-entrep. entity. 61 5.72% 3,651,937 2.29%

Religious body 36 3.43% 2,777,385 1.75%

Social enterprise 14 1.33% 512,000 0.32%

Type A social solidarity cooperative 32 3.05% 743,061 0.47%

Type B social solidarity cooperative 15 1.43% 292,840 0.18%

Mixed-type social solidarity cooperative 29 2.76% 1,070,775 0.67%

Cooperative operating in the live performance and early years sector 10 0.86% 387,000 0.22%

Operational projects and provisions 114 10.87% 40,386,778 25.45%

TOTAL 1,049 100% 158,670,935 100%
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From a geographical point of view, the distribution of 
Compagnia’s contributions for the Turin area in 2021 remains 
broadly stable (78% as against 76% of resources in 2020 and 
80% in 2019). The slight growth over the past year is offset 
by a reduction in the share of resources for the Metropolitan 
City of Turin. However, this concentration in Turin, which 
is in line with Compagnia’s specific policies and historical 

1.7 Geographical distribution of funding

FIGURE 2.4 APPLICATIONS ACCEPTED, 2021

	 Turin (78.2%)
	 Province of Turin (3.7%) 
	 Other Provinces in Piedmont (4.7%)
	 Valle d’Aosta (0.3%)
	 City and Province of Genoa (5.5%)
	 Other Provinces in Liguria (0.7%)

tradition, is amplified by the fact that organisations such 
as universities, major hospitals and leading cultural bodies, 
which fulfil their function well beyond the city limits, are 
based in Turin. In addition to Piedmont, the city of Genoa 
(5.75% of grants awarded) and Naples and Southern Italy 
(3.6%) are significant areas for Compagnia’s philanthropic 
work. The remaining interventions, focusing on Lombardy 

and North-East Italy, have increased from 0.3% to 1.2% of 
the total value. The value of grants to foreign organisations 
accounts for less than 1% of the total, although many of 
the “local” projects supported have links with and positive 
effects on other countries, especially in Europe.

TABLE 1.10 DISTRIBUTION BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA

GEOGRAPHICAL AREA APPLICATIONS RECEIVED PRIOR YEAR   APPLICATIONS ACCEPTED PRIOR YEAR

Projects Value Projects Value Projects Value Projects Value

No. % euros % No. % euros % No. % euros % No. % euros %

Turin 994 44.0% 160,751,353 67.8% 1,016 45.1% 180,180,925 62.8% 597 56.9% 123,994,386 78.2% 631 58.1% 128,798,216 76.5%

Province of Turin 265 11.7% 13,176,810 5.6% 300 13.3% 25,806,891 9.0% 83 7.9% 5,915,770 3.7% 111 10.2% 7,520,639 4.5%

Other Provinces in Piedmont 464 20.5% 19,317,733 8.2% 518 23% 35,914,421 12.5% 156 14.9% 7,498,070 4.7% 149 13.7% 7,541,200 4.5%

Valle d'Aosta 24 1.1% 855,849 0.4% 12 0.5% 564,430 0.2% 8 0.7% 452,000 0.3% 7 0.6% 301,000 0.2%

City and Province of Genoa 255 11.3% 23,917,833 10.1% 200 8.9% 19,566,187 6.8% 107 10.2% 8,814,040 5.5% 105 9.7% 11,324,000 6.7%

Other Provinces in Liguria 128 5.7% 4,546,864 1.9% 97 4.3% 7,731,195 2.7% 26 2.5% 1,051,062 0.7% 29 2.7% 1,006,713 0.6%

Rest of Northern Italy 52 2.3% 3,905,496 1.6% 47 2.1% 3,479,178 1.2% 22 2.1% 1,993,400 1.3% 13 1.2% 482,000 0.3%

Central Italy 43 1.9% 3,356,089 1.4% 37 1.6% 4,441,168 1.6% 27 2.6% 2,093,557 1.3% 21 1.9% 4,083,636 2.4%

Naples and southern regions 22 0.9% 5,979,010 2.5% 12 0.5% 7,712,780 2.7% 11 0.9% 5,749,650 3.6% 8 0.7% 6,091,740 3.6%

Outside Italy - E.U. 4 0.2% 220,000 0.2% 7 0.3% 555,000 0.2% 4 0.4% 124,000 0.2% 6 0.6% 485,000 0.3%

Outside Italy - Other 7 0.3% 955,000 0.4% 7 0.3% 769,400 0.3% 8 0.7% 985,000 0.6% 6 0.6% 730,000 0.4%

TOTAL 2,258 100% 236,982,037 100% 2,253 100% 286,721,575 100% 1,049 100% 158,670,935 100% 1,086 100% 168,364,144 100%
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AnnexesTABLE 1.11 SUMMARY OF ALLOCATIONS APPROVED AND GRANTS DISBURSED DURING THE YEAR

BALANCE AT 
01/01/2019

   INCREASES    DECREASES
BALANCE AT 

31/12/2021
TYPE Provisions Redirections Total increases Usage from 2021 

approvals
Usage from prior 
year approvals Redirections Total decreases

GRANTS AWARDED

Culture Goal 23,022,043.95 36,398,953.00 4,235,444.00 40,634,397.00 16,874,590.28 11,845,118.19 53,482.95 28,773,191.42 34,883,249.53

Art, cultural heritage and cultural activities 19,999,713.75 0.00 7,657,564.91 80,957.93 7,738,522.84 12,261,190.91

Cultural innovation 4,070,862.90 0.00 1,979,575.08 30,177.74 2,009,752.82 2,061,110.08

“Polo del '900” Programme 167,550.04 0.00 29,000.30 121,402.02 150,402.32 17,147.72

People Goal 44,020,852.81 52,400,000.00 15,423,761.17 67,823,761.17 24,462,640.26 22,143,003.43 85,100.03 46,690,743.72 65,153,870.26

Social policy 44,652,185.25 36,000.00 36,000.00 22,519,474.99 206,402.83 22,725,877.82 21,962,307.43

Housing programme 4,329,868.66 0.00 1,888,903.99 6,325.73 1,895,229.72 2,434,638.94

ZeroSei Programme 1,605,718.37 0.00 585,036.51 27,780.74 612,817.25 992,901.12

Turin and the Alps Programme 85,541.22 0.00 9,000.00 33,541.22 42,541.22 43,000.00

Planet Goal 30,719,387.06 44,700,000.00 3,839,622.00 48,539,622.00 12,557,631.57 9,586,766.70 43,547.65 22,187,945.92 57,071,063.14

Research 40,380,484.79 21,517.29 21,517.29 12,818,967.00 141,091.71 12,960,058.71 27,441,943.37

Public Health 20,073,050.94 0.00 4,479,532.78 331,550.09 4,811,082.87 15,261,968.07

International affairs programme 488,157.61 0.00 300,000.00 9,000.00 309,000.00 179,157.61

Planning, Research and Evaluation Department 270,374.39 1,500,000.00 27,557.00 1,527,557.00 1,167,447.20 148,674.39 0.00 1,316,121.59 481,809.80

Trials and implementation of strategic plan 188,396.19 96,864.89 96,864.89 61,280.00 87,029.13 8,790.72 157,099.85 128,161.23

High-impact innovation 720,369.86 100,000.00 100,000.00 513,958.71 28,478.26 542,436.97 277,932.89

Philanthropy and Local Communities 3,251,533.59 0.00 1,251,582.50 48,010.27 1,299,592.77 1,951,940.82

Total grants awarded 238,046,091.38 134,998,953.00 23,780,766.35 158,779,719.35 55,123,589.31 97,843,188.61 1,255,639.89 154,222,417.81 242,603,392.92

FUNDS FOR INSTITUTIONAL ACTIVITY

Grant stabilisation fund 335,009,169.90 3,929,711.79 3,929,711.79 3,929,711.79 3,929,711.79 335,009,169.90

“Pending earmarking” fund

Fund for reintegrations from sectors to be redirected 125,363,917.94 196,568,665.67 1,457,373.99 198,026,039.66 143,538,170.11 143,538,170.11 179,851,787.49

Activated tax credit, community welfare 3,998,334.09 1,177,864.89 1,177,864.89 312,864.89 312,864.89 4,863,334.09

Other funds, of which: 28,041,343.96 5,767,433.88 5,767,433.88 1,995,177.21 2,076,835.14 995,707.95 5,067,720.30 28,741,057.54

Fondo Adeste + 50,359.74 0.00 20,530.94 20,530.94 29,828.80

Funds from Fondazione Cariplo (Innovation for Development) 48,450.00 0.00 5,750.00 5,750.00 42,700.00

Funds from Fondazione di Sardegna (Will project) 0.00 79,507.75 79,507.75 0.00 79,507.75

INDIRE fund for European Erasmus Plus CUP project 13,246.65 179,846.40 179,846.40 167,178.05 5,416.80 172,594.85 20,498.20

European Stepping Plus Project Fund 0.00 70,000.00 70,000.00 12,200.00 12,200.00 57,800.00

Inclusive Communities Call for Proposals. 0.00 150,000.00 150,000.00 0.00 150,000.00

Prof. Cornaglia legacy fund 25,633,354.86 2,598,604.06 2,598,604.06 1,003,984.10 2,045,137.40 955,889.58 4,005,011.08 24,226,947.84

Contributions from Fondazione Re Baldovino 35,211.22 0.00 0.00 35,211.22

“CSF Contratto Battaglia” Project 5,043.00 0.00 0.00 5,043.00

People philanthropic fund 1,005,678.49 107,703.32 107,703.32 22,544.26 22,544.26 1,090,837.55

A philanthropic fund supporting initiatives relating to employment 
and educational poverty, with a special focus on the 0-6 age group 1,250,000.00 618,732.97 618,732.97 811,815.06 5,895.30 817,710.36 1,051,022.61

Manuela Noelli Ziviani philanthropic fund 0.00 1,038,039.38 1,038,039.38 11,378.81 11,378.81 1,026,660.57

A philanthropic fund supporting activities for young people in Val 
Casternone 0.00 925,000.00 925,000.00 0.00 925,000.00

GRANT-MAKING FUND EX ART. 1, PARA. 47, LAW 178/2020 0.00 36,032,696.00 36,032,696.00 0.00 36,032,696.00

VOLUNTARY WORK FUND 4,169,594.71 7,188,382.89 7,188,382.89 4,374,134.06 4,374,134.06 6,983,843.54
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The 2015 ACRI-MEF protocol identified transparent, 
competitive calls for proposals as the standard procedure 
by which foundations award grants. They are an effective 
tool, but cannot be the only one used by grant-making 
organisations: own programmes, formal agreements with 
large and essentially “unique” beneficiary bodies, and 
channels for speculative applications are not only advisable, 
but often necessary. Nonetheless, Fondazione Compagnia di 
San Paolo’s tool-kit includes various additional types of call 
for proposals that supplement the basic type. One of these 
is two-stage calls for proposals, which involve two selection 
phases, the first focusing on the basic idea and the second 
focusing on detailed designs produced by the winners of 
the first. Another is the introduction of specialised thematic 
capacity-building processes for participants. Both types 
were widely used in 2021 and often operate in conjunction 
with each other.

Compagnia di San Paolo published 24 calls for proposals in 
2021 (payable from funds not pertaining exclusively to the 
2021 budget) with a total value of 32.9 million euros: the 
Culture Goal published a total of seven calls (with a total 

value of 7.6 million euros), while the People Goal and the 
Planet Goal published six calls each (with total values of 
5.6 million and 8.2 million euros respectively). These were 
complemented by two Next Generation calls for proposals 
(totalling 8.2 million euros) and three cross-Goal calls: two 
involving a partnership between the Culture and Planet Goals 
(totalling 358,000 euros) and one between the Culture and 
People Goals (totalling 130,000 euros).

The number of candidates and winners varied widely 
according to the type of grant. The number of candidates 
ranged from a minimum of four to a maximum of 367, while 
the number of winners ranged from a minimum of four to 
a maximum of 100. The amounts awarded to winners also 
varied widely from one call to another, ranging from a 
minimum of 2,200 euros to a maximum of 450,000 euros 
per winner.
Overall, 36% of candidates won calls for proposals in 2021. 
Of these winning candidates, 25% had responded to calls 
from the Culture Goal, 13% to calls from the Planet Goal and 
64% to calls from the People Goal.

1.8 Calls for proposals issued by 
Compagnia di San Paolo in 2021
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TABLE 1.12 COMPAGNIA’S CALLS FOR PROPOSALS IN 2021

PLANET TITLE OF CALL AREA OF INTERVENTION FUNDS AWARDED (€) WINNERS CANDIDATES
CAPACITY 
BUILDING

TWO-STAGE 
CALL FOR 

PROPOSALS

GOAL

PRIMA Scheduled maintenance of cultural heritage assets   1,742,000 10 12

SPACE Basic cultural spaces   1,500,000 100 240

VIVA Summer cultural offering   548,000 28 367

In Luce  Local cultural identities and development   1,500,000 21 65

ART Waves / Planning Performing arts planning   1,350,000 23 67

ART Waves / Production Performing arts production   690,000 15 71

Nati per Leggere 2021 Reading aloud with children   365,000 17 20

People + Goal La bella stagione Summer socialisation and cultural activities for children and young people during the Covid 
pandemic

  129,850 14 22

People

Prospettive urbane Feasibility of urban regeneration projects   1,190,000 10 10

Community Foundations Guidelines to support community foundations 2021   725,000 under preliminary 
examination 16

Equilibri Local networks, female employment and quality education   2,800,000 12 32

Sustainable development 
technologies

Within the “Innovazione per lo sviluppo” project
In partnership with Fondazione Cariplo

  1,000,000 4 4

Circular economy projects Within the “Innovazione per lo sviluppo” project, Coopen initiative, in partnership with 
Fondazione Cariplo

  359,980 9 9

Sustainable food and agriculture 
projects

Within the “Innovazione per lo sviluppo” project
Coopen initiative, in partnership with Fondazione Cariplo

  808,440 under preliminary 
examination ?

Planet

Simbiosi Regeneration and protection of the natural environment   1,400,000 13 22

Energia Inclusiva Social innovation against energy poverty   155,000 4 7

Hospeedal Public-private projects for hospital-based healthcare for women and children   1,800,000 under preliminary 
examination 166

Trapezio Recovering and reaping value from high-scoring European research projects   1,800,000 4 19

Intelligenza Artificiale AI projects with impact on the catchment area   4,000,000 12 41

Mutamenti Ideas and action for a changing climate   500,000 59 66

Planet + Culture
Wonder Design and social   240,000 5 56

TorinoProxima Civic imagination and social entrepreneurship   118,000 5 16

 
Next Generation You / Phase I Advanced organisational development for the third sector   2,250,000 150 190

Next Generation We / Window I Advanced organisational development for the third sector   6,000,000 88 180
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Part 2 

The Multi-Year  
Planning 
Document  
2021-24.
The launch of monitoring.
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FIGURE 2.1 MENTORING

The grant-making statistics presented in the previous 
chapter provide a concise but comprehensive picture of 
Compagnia’s work. They do not, however, reflect the type, 
complexity and multi-faceted nature of the effects that 
the Foundation is committed to generating through its 
partnerships with the bodies it funds. The impact of a year’s 
work by a philanthropic foundation such as Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo can only be explained by going 
into greater detail about the nature of the activities that the 
Foundation has helped make possible and their effects. 

This is all the more applicable because the Multi-Year 
Planning Document 2021-24 emphasises the importance 
of complementing the “sensitivity” that forms an integral 
part of all philanthropic activity with a substantial set of 
data and indicators, as is standard practice across the 
entire international philanthropic community. In view of this, 
Compagnia started collecting more data about its grant-
making in 2020, for the dual purpose of making it easier 
to understand the meaning of the Foundation’s work and 
improving the impact of it by comparing data on processes 
with data on results. Monitoring the application of the Multi-
Year Planning Document therefore acts as a compass, a 
reporting tool and a learning tool, designed to boost the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the Foundation’s work.  

With the launch of the Multi-Year Planning Document 2021-
24, we therefore decided to dedicate a section of this report 
to an initial analysis of the data collected in relation to the 
indicators that the MYPD used for monitoring purposes. It is 
an initial analysis because it contains data about projects and 
initiatives that were launched in 2021 but did not necessarily 
reach completion in that year. In any event, it includes data 

about 2021 activities for which definitive data has since been 
obtained. The information will become more complete year 
by year and the nature of certain targets set in the MYPD 
2021-24 is such that it will not be possible to determine how 
far they have been achieved until the full planning period 
comes to an end. 

This analysis covers the following: data collected to enable 
readers to view Compagnia’s initiatives through the lens of 
the SDGs set out in the United Nations Agenda 2030; results 
data relating to measurements of the initiatives’ outputs; 
and details of the distribution of the initiatives between the 
six “cross-cutting dimensions” that the MYPD uses as an 
important criterion for interpreting Fondazione Compagnia 
di San Paolo project action. Lastly, we will present a series 
of initiatives launched in 2021 (the second year of the 
pandemic and the first year of the National Recovery and 
Resilience Fund), with which Compagnia intends to help 
organisations boost their capacity to innovate, manage, 
raise funds and design and deliver projects. This philosophy, 
under which Compagnia provides public and third-sector 
bodies with opportunities for organisational growth, has 
given rise to a cross-sectoral line of intervention and three 
calls for proposals, whose titles –  Next Generation You, 
Next Generation We and Next Generation School – reflect 
the major Next Generation EU recovery plan launched by the 
European Commission. This line of work got under way in 
2021 and will continue in the remaining years covered by the 
MYPD 2021-24.

The Multi-Year Planning Document 
2021-24.
The launch of monitoring.

2.

2.1 The launch of monitoring of the Multi-
Year Planning Document 2021-24
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In 2020, Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo re-aligned 
itself around the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 
defined in the United Nations (UN) Agenda 2030, and this 
choice was confirmed in the MYPD 2021-24, which contains 
further details. This alignment involves every provision that 
is associated with one or more SDGs. Furthermore, each 
Goal and Mission covers a certain number of SDGs. 
Thanks to the cooperation of bodies that complete the 
application forms, or to their completion by the departments 
in other cases, the approved amount is available for 
distribution on a per-SDG basis in 2021.  
The graph below illustrates the breakdown of 2020 projects 
and grants by SDG. 
The projects supported in 2021 and the wide range of 
the goals set out in Agenda 2030 have a particular focus 
on SDGs 4 (Quality Education), 11 (Sustainable cities and 
communities), 10 (Reduced inequalities), 8 (Decent work and 
economic growth), 1 (No poverty) and 8 (Good health and 
well-being). For anyone familiar with Fondazione Compagnia 
di San Paolo, this data simply confirms an orientation that 
was already clearly visible. It also provides clear evidence 
of Compagnia’s emphasis on education, which has been 
stepped up over the past year.  

2.2 The contribution of 2021 grant-
making activities to achieving Sustainable 
Development Goals 

The total percentage was calculated only for projects that could be 
associated with one or more SDGs. For 2020, the amount concerned was 
141,420,000 euros, and for 2021, there were 986 projects with a total value 
of 149,707,614 euros. 

8.9% 0.3% 28.0%8.1% 0.7%

10.9% 0.4% 32.8%6.7% 0.9%

0%

10%

30%

20%

Amount awarded 2021

Amount awarded 2020

FIGURE 2.2 DISTRIBUTION OF AMOUNT AWARDED, 2020 / 2021

0.3% 6.9% 0.5% 0.4%0.3% 11.1% 0.1% 1.5%9.4% 21.3% 0.9% 1.3%

0.1% 10.5% 1.1% 0.2%0.1% 10.4% 0.4% 1.2%7.2% 14.6% 0.4% 2.1%
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MONITORING DATA
for the Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo 

Strategic Plan and “Group Strategy”

ONLINE APPLICATION SYSTEM QUESTIONNAIRE
(calls for proposals)

SPECIFIC QUESTIONNAIRES FOR 
CALLS FOR PROPOSALS

GENERAL QUESTIONNAIRES FOR 
SPECULATIVE APPLICATIONS

INTERNAL QUESTIONNAIRES 
completed by the Missions

LATEST SUPPORT FOR 
INSTITUTIONAL ACTIVITY 

QUESTIONNAIRE
(2011 only)

AUXILIARY BODY QUESTIONNAIRES

FIGURE 2.3 MONITORING PROCESS

With its Multi-Year Planning Document 2021-2024, 
Compagnia made specific commitments to its catchment 
area, which go beyond mere funding figures and set 
measurable targets for the supported initiatives. Each Goal 
set down result indicators both at Goal level (Goal targets) 
and Mission level (Mission KPIs). All beneficiary bodies, 
including Compagnia Group’s auxiliary bodies, have been 
instructed to start collecting and sharing these indicators, 
which are designed to reflect at least some aspects of the 
impact of the projects that Compagnia takes part in by 
providing economic or other resources. In view of the scale 
and complexity involved, the process took several months to 
design, test and develop in terms of indicators, sources and 
IT infrastructure. Devising a data collection system involved 
taking account of all actors in a position to provide data 
through their interaction with Compagnia, including Mission 
Managers, organisations awarded grants on the basis of 
calls for proposals or speculative applications, auxiliary 
bodies and bodies that received support for institutional 
activity in 2021 (a financing arrangement that came to an 
end in 2021). The task also requires a high degree of ongoing 
maintenance, both in terms of ensuring that the indicators 
remains appropriate and validating the input data. As always, 
the time factor is significant: reporting on projects funded 
in a given year obviously takes place after their completion, 
according to time-scales that differ from one project to the 
next. Moreover, actual “impact assessments” (see section 
on the Planning, Research and Evaluation Department) are 
usually carried out after the reporting date.

Figure 2.6 describes the data sources for the monitoring 
process.

2.3 The launch of monitoring of the 
strategic plan 
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The online application system used questionnaires to collect 
specific information about the project’s impact, at the time 
of both application (forecast) and reporting (on project 
completion). The subsequent statistics are based on the 
data provided by the relevant bodies at the time of reporting 
or on reconstructions of specific internal information flows 
by Compagnia’s departments.  
Overall, the data enables us to estimate that a project funded 
by Compagnia di San Paolo in 2021 generated approximately 
10 million “experiences of involvement”. We use the term 
“experiences of involvement”, rather than “people”, because 
these “contacts” are likely to involve the same people multiple 
times (many of whom are not even aware of Compagnia’s 
role, as in the case of visitors to restored cultural heritage 
assets or patients examined with new hospital diagnostic 
machines: the assessments are carried out by the project 
managers). 

As regards the number of bodies that have worked directly 
or indirectly with Compagnia on projects launched in 2021, 
1,534 “contacts” were established, including with public 
bodies (513), third-sector bodies (725) and for-profit 
companies (296). The latter can belong to collaboration 
networks involved in projects co-funded by Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo, although they are not eligible for 
any kind of grant from it. 

An impact report provides in-depth analysis of the data for 
2021 and the first half of 2022.
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As well as using SDGs and result indicators, Compagnia 
monitors the MYPD 2021-24 on the basis of the six cross-
cutting dimensions introduced by the document, namely 
digital transition, geographies, opportunities, knowledge, 
green transition and well-being. Some of these dimensions 
correspond directly to the major European goals transposed 
into Italy’s National Recovery and Resilience Plan, while 
others are more extensive reformulations. 

Compagnia did not start allocating projects to these 
dimensions until the second half of 2021, so the data 
relate to the last two quarters rather than the whole year. 
Knowledge and Opportunities are the dimensions that 
account for the largest slice of funding, bearing witness to 
the fact that learning remained one of Compagnia’s highest 
priorities for 2021. It is viewed as a constant of everyone’s 
life (the cross-cutting dimension defined as “Knowledge” 
accounted for 35% of funding awarded) and a means of 
generating opportunities for people affected or at risk of 

2.5 Cross-cutting dimensions 

Culture.FCSP

being affected by exclusion and inequality (the dimension 
defined as “Opportunities” also accounted for 35% of funding 
awarded). More than a tenth (11%) of the resources awarded 
by Compagnia in 2021 were invested in supporting initiatives 
aimed at safeguarding physical and mental health (the cross-
cutting dimension defined as “well-being”), which became 
even more important against the backdrop of the pandemic. 
This was followed by two of Compagnia’s relatively new 
cross-cutting dimensions, which now account for significant 
slices of funding, namely environment (“green transition”, 
which absorbs 5% of funding awarded) and “digital” (3%). 
This is another example of a project that contains more than 
meets the eye: many of the supported projects, which serve 
a primarily social or cultural purpose, also contain elements 
of digital innovation as enabling features. 

60%0%

Planet.People.

CROSS-CUTTING DIMENSION Fondazione CSP Culture People Planet

Opportunities 26,947,000 35% 18% 53% 12%

Knowledge 26,828,000 35% 51% 30% 38%

Well-being 8,438,000 11% 7% 11% 19%

Green transition 4,214,000 5% 6% 1% 20%

Digital 2,605,000 3% 11% 3% 7%

Geographies 1,718,000 2% 7% 2% 3%

(Not assigned) 6,899,000 9% - - -

Total provision 77,649,000 100% 100% 100% 100%

TABLE 2.1 / FIGURE 2.4 THE CROSS-CUTTING DIMENSIONS BY VALUE OF FUNDING AWARDED, 2021
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2021 activity
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This section sets out the activities of each Goal and each 
of the Missions reporting to them in 2021. Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo Foundation supports so many 
initiatives that they cannot all be presented here, but the 
highlights are covered in this section. A summary of the 
operational philosophy of the Culture, People and Planet 
Goals, and the lines of action they have undertaken over the 
year, is followed by a fact-sheet for each Mission. As well as 
setting out the overall strategy assigned to the Mission by the 
MYPD 2021-24, the fact-sheets include profiles of individual 
projects or groups of projects of particular relevance to the 
Mission, and details of two initiatives of an exemplary nature. 
These interventions tend to stand out for their originality and 
innovative content, rather than their economic scale. 

Goals and Missions
of Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo: 2021 activity.

3.

Working with Covid: second year 

Through a succession of waves and variants, Covid inevitably 
disrupted Compagnia’s work programme in 2021, despite the 
fact that the organisation was well prepared to expedite a 
return to normal, while facilitating the reconstruction – and 
innovation – of systems that the pandemic had weakened 
or put under strain. Several of the sectors that Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo traditionally works with, such as 
health, education, culture and social care, found themselves 
in the midst of an operational crisis, while also facing an 
increase in social vulnerability – with growing inequalities 
and declining opportunities – and the forced change of many 
long-standing habits. With rising demand for social services, 
a collapse in demand for live cultural events, organisational 
limitations across the board and the emerging potential of 
the digital sphere, the pandemic obviously affected everyone, 
but it also triggered positive reactions, inventiveness and 
commitment. First and foremost, Compagnia responded on 
the social and healthcare fronts, by deploying two vaccination 
hubs in Turin, for adults and children (see the Promoting Well-
being Mission), but its entire modus operandi revolved around 
the Covid effect. It would be fair to say that every project 
was coloured by Covid in terms of both method and content. 
Continuing what it started in 2020, Compagnia developed 
appropriate organizational and administrative responses. It 
switched a vast amount of work involving personal interaction, 
training and co-design, both internally and with partners, to 
online channels, without any loss of productivity. Furthermore, 
it continued to offer organisational flexibility by granting 
extensions, rescheduling project time-lines and dividing 
grants into instalments so as to prevent partner bodies from 
suffering cash-flow crises as far as possible. Some of the 
emergency initiatives undertaken in 2020 – which proved 
to be life-savers in the social and cultural arenas – taught 
Compagnia more about the real needs of its partner bodies, 
before being adopted as ordinary, repeatable tools by 2021.
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In 2021, the first year of implementation of the MYPD 2021-
24, the Culture Goal was primarily engaged in designing new 
lines of intervention and reconfiguring existing fields of work, 
in the light of new policy directions. In the first instance, this 
involved harnessing the cultural dimension as a facilitator 
of human and local development in conjunction with other 
dimensions, such as social care and technology. In order 
to translate the policy directions of the MYPD into actions, 
the Culture Goal had to undertake research, mapping and 
analysis, with input from various partners, so as to design 
robust intervention tools that would meet the needs identified 
and achieve the intended impact of the plan.  

The need to counter the fall-out of the pandemic on the 
cultural sector prompted Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo 
to make a number of extraordinary interventions in the cultural 
arena in 2021. This also provided an opportunity to identify 
new needs and dynamics to which culture and participation 
represented an effective response. This in turn fostered strong 
connections with other Goals within Compagnia and other 
bodies within the Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo Group. 

Our work was guided by focusing projects on the strategic 
policy directions of the Missions, and introducing actions 
aimed at developing and consolidating organisations and 
initiatives. This involved our relationships with Compagnia’s 

co-governed bodies and strategic partners in various fields, 
as well as all calls for proposals and operational projects. The 
tool-kit set established in the MYPD provided many of the 
necessary tools. 

The calls for proposals system was revised in 2021, resulting 
in the introduction of a multi-year perspective, division of 
the process into phases and closer attention to impact.  
Various lines of intervention were shared and coordinated 
with the main public institutions in the catchment area, both 
within the framework of agreements (Piedmont Regional 
Council, Turin Municipal Council and Genoa Municipal Council) 
and through ad hoc partnerships. Development programmes 
were launched with the leading cultural organisations in the 
catchment area, in many of which Compagnia is a partner, 
with a view to boosting their efficiency and local impact. 

This was a major overhaul, and we extended and enhanced 
the definitions of culture on which we have been working and 
will continue to work. In terms of method, Compagnia opted 
to share this vision by various means (webinars, communities 
of practice, training, capacity-building, communication) aimed 
at improving the efficiency and effectiveness of cultural 
ecosystems, and their aptitude for collaboration. 

The Culture Goal and its Missions

€40.63 m 512
Total grants awarded  
in 2021 

Interventions undertaken   
in 2021 

1	 Building capacity to attract 
2	 Developing skills  
3	 Preserving beauty
4	 Encouraging active participation

1

2

3

4

Support for cultural and 
strategic bodies

Support for cultural and 
strategic bodies

GRANTS

INTERVENTIONS

1

2

3

4

Culture 
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To generate value from recognised cultural identities by 
positioning them in such a way as to extend the cultural 
infrastructure of the organisations and foster an integrated 
relationship between the worlds of culture and tourism.

To enhance and showcase the artistic and cultural heritage 
located across the target areas to create opportunities for 
economic, social and cultural development.

To support cultural planning and production irrespective of 
gender differences and encourage cultural and pioneering 
research.

To consolidate the reference role of the production and 
research entities that make up the recognised platforms of 
cultural identities.

To support the digital transformation of the cultural sector 
by means of multi-year innovation plans for the bodies 
concerned, in order to foster the development of their 
innovation culture and skills, improve their sustainability and 
increase levels of hybridisation with the technology sector.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

In 2021, the Mission re-designed its tools for enhancing and 
showcasing scattered-site artistic and cultural heritage and 
for creative and artistic planning and production in Piedmont, 
Liguria and Valle d’Aosta. This spawned the In Luce and 
Viva calls for proposals (worth €1,500,000 and €548,000 
respectively). The former is aimed at supporting cultural 
projects with an impact on sustainable cultural tourism, 
while the latter is aimed at funding summertime cultural 
offering in the three regions. The Art~waves call for proposals 
(€2,040,000) addressed the creative vocation of local 
communities through innovative, attractive cultural projects 
across the three regions, with a view to fostering a production, 
planning and distribution chain. The Mission supported 23 
projects in the planning line and 15 projects in the production 
line for the first phase of the call. 

Support for the contemporary creative sector was shaped by 
a detailed exchange of views on needs and strategies with 
the most significant players in the local ecosystem. Areas of 
interest were identified for each organisation, and capacity-
building and empowerment pathways were then developed 
in line with the Mission’s purposes and strategic design. 
 
Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo channelled considerable 
effort into the regionally important Piedmont cinema 
cluster in 2021. The aim of our intervention was to foster 
collaboration between the main players (first and foremost 
Museo del Cinema and Film Commission Torino Piemonte) 
and encourage the extension and positioning of the network. 

The Wonder call for proposals (€2,400,000) was 
launched with the support of Circolo del Design and 
Torino Social impact. It is aimed at designers and third-
sector bodies intending to develop projects that make 
effective use of design to generate innovative solutions 
and services to meet social needs, while responding 
to the challenges of cohesion and the green transition. 
Under the Switch call for proposals (€1,706,640), Compagnia 
supported nine multi-year digital innovation plans relating to 
major cultural bodies in Piedmont and Liguria. These were 
accompanied by monitoring in collaboration with Fondazione 
Links and an evaluation plan produced in conjunction with 
the Observatory of Digital Innovation in Cultural Activities 
and Cultural Heritage of the Polytechnic University of Milan.

€11.55 m
Grants awarded

168
Interventions undertaken  

Building Capacity to Attract 
Mission

1.

SDGs covered

The “VIVA” call for proposals, aimed 
at supporting the summertime cultural 
offering in the catchment area

The “In Luce” call for proposals, aimed at 
showcasing and generating value from the 
cultural identities of local areas

Designed to support the summertime artistic and cultural 
offering in Piedmont, Liguria and Valle d’Aosta, the “Viva” 
call for proposals was one of the Culture Goal’s responses 
to crisis in the cultural sector caused by the lingering Covid 
19 pandemic. A grant of 548,000 euros was awarded to 
support initiatives aimed at producing cultural assets and 
initiatives and generating value from their use. Cultural visits 
and tourism were therefore encouraged by the enhanced 
affordability of the offering, and models were developed 
to increase the impact of the resources provided for the 
projects.  

A total of 367 projects proposals were received, of which 
28 were selected: 22 in Piedmont, 4 in Liguria and 2 supra-
regional. The selection procedure gave priority to proposals 
capable of generating value from cultural and landscape 
heritage assets and kick-starting development mechanisms 
and local networks. The selected projects proved to be 
highly effective at promoting tourism and cultural visits by 
identifying specific target groups, especially young people 
and vulnerable social groups. They achieved this by offering 
vouchers for free or reduced-rate access to initiatives, 
and creating package tours and partnerships with hotels, 
restaurants and transport companies. Many initiatives 
involved artists under the age of 35, such as the Mirabilia 
International Circus & Performing Arts Festival 2021 in 
Piedmont or the “Nuove Terre - Le Arti della Scena” festival 
in Liguria.

Value of allocation
€548,000

Compagnia launched the “In Luce” call for proposals to provide 
a new channel to help enhance and showcase scattered-site 
cultural heritage in Piedmont, Liguria and Valle d’Aosta. This 
call for proposals comprises two phases, relates to the three-
year period 2021 to 2023 and is aimed at groupings of entities. 
Its purpose is to develop cultural capacity to attract as a 
means of fostering sustainable tourism, by first drawing up a 
long-term local cultural enhancement plan for each project. 
In phase 1, which required a multi-year plan to generate value 
from a proven “local cultural identity” and an initial project 
to implement it, 21 projects were selected across the three 
regions, with total funding of €1,500,000. 
The selected projects stand out for their ability to fully 
interpret the local identities concerned, cover a multi-year 
period and involve well structured partnerships with clearly 
defined governance and a variety of actors. An empowerment 
process for the selected projects will get under way in the 
spring of 2022. Its aim is to boost the skills of the participating 
bodies ahead of phase 2 of the call for proposals, in which 
applicants must submit a project that develops and 
implements the content of the Multi-Year Enhancement Plan.

Value of allocation
€1,500,000

Culture 
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To develop initiatives that promote the leading role played 
by cultural experience in the dissemination of educational 
communities and multi-dimensional learning contexts, with 
cultural bodies as value generators.

To develop initiatives aimed at supporting young artists 
and creative talents in building their professional skills and 
embarking on career paths.

To promote a composite, interconnected training and 
incubation system, based on co-responsibility between 
academies, institutions, independent entities and training 
providers specialising in artistic/creative, cultural and auxiliary 
cultural design skills, that meets all of the field’s requirements.

To kick-start initiatives aimed at making cultural actors more 
sustainable, interconnected, consistent with their strategic 
planning and capable of recognising, fostering and embracing 
the dynamism shown by more advanced, and often flexible 
and innovative, professionals and entities.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

Developing Skills  
Mission

2.

Firstly, 2021 saw the continuation of funding for established 
projects such as Nati per Leggere Piemonte (€362,000), which 
encourages the habit of reading aloud in families with children 
from conception to 6 years of age, as a practice that has been 
proven to have positive effects on cognitive and relational 
development. The Mission supported 17 projects, which are 
implemented by networks encompassing health, education 
and library facilities and cover more than 400 municipalities 
in Piedmont. Thanks to a rigorous process of evaluation, 2021 
paved the way for a review and relaunch of the project, which is 
partnered by Piedmont Regional Council. 

Other initiatives aimed at young people included our work 
with La Bella Stagione (€219,000) on the 2021 programme. 
“Un’Estate Insieme” coordinated by the Educating for 
Collective Development Mission and aimed at offering summer 
opportunities to under-18s during the Covid pandemic. We also 
launched a new project, called “Consonanze” (with an allocation 
of €200,000 in 2021) in conjunction with Fondazione per la 
Scuola, aimed at introducing active musical experience into 
primary schools as a tool for developing curricular and cross-
cutting skills. The initial preparatory work was carried out in 
2021. This involved mapping non-profit providers of musical 
education in Piedmont and Valle d’Aosta, in order to find out 
more about the sector and identify project partners.   

On the professionalisation front, the Performing+ initiative 
(€325,000) was brought to a close, at the same time as efforts 
were stepped up to support the Hangar Piemonte project 
(€150,000 in total), which is an integrated programme of training, 
professional mentoring, awareness-raising and networking 
designed for cultural bodies in Piedmont. The investment is 
based on collaboration with Fondazione Piemonte dal Vivo, 
which has been extended from Performing+ to a general strategic 
consensus on the need to boost the skills of cultural organisations.  
Since cultural work plays a central role in its strategies, the 
Mission mapped the cultural professions (especially emerging 
professions) and training opportunities associated with them 
in Piedmont, Liguria and Valle d’Aosta in 2021. Conducted by 
Cles srl and Associazione per l’Economia della Cultura, the 
study provided a comprehensive and nuanced picture, showing 
both the fragility and the potential of the sector (€60,000). In 
order to boost the professions, it is essential to work on training. 
That is why we supported 11 training and mentoring projects 
for artists and creatives in 2021 (for a total of €397,000), in the 
form of residences, masterclasses and specialisation courses in 
music, visual arts and animation. 

€4.03 m
Total grants

68
Interventions undertaken  

SDGs covered

Performing+La Bella Stagione 2021

As part of the Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo Group 
programme “2021. Un’Estate Insieme”, the Developing Skills 
Mission, in conjunction with the Educating for Collective 
Development Mission and Consorzio Xkè? ZeroTredici, 
produced La Bella Stagione in 2021, featuring over 100 
educational, play-based and creative activities, offered by 
52 cultural bodies, in the field of science, environmental 
education and local-area promotion, to schools and summer 
groups in Turin. The aim of the project was to extend the 
opportunities available to children and young people and 
help them rebuild their relationships and explore their local 
area. The programme was also designed to strengthen the 
alliance between cultural bodies, schools and third-sector 
actors, thereby fostering an educational community. A further 
aim was to encourage visits to places of culture by families, 
especially after the end of the summer programme. The 
project was implemented in conjunction with Associazione 
Abbonamento Musei, which donated 9,245 junior 
subscriptions to children aged 6 to 13 across 100 summer 
groups, comprising summer camps, oratories, groups from 
the “Sam non va in vacanza” project and students from 93 
classes. There was a total of 18,972 admissions from May to 
October, not including visits by families after the summer, 
which will remain possible until June 2022. These are 
significant numbers, attributable to a project funded by the 
Developing Skills and Educating for Collective Development 
Missions in the amount of €219,416.66. 

Value of allocation
€219,000
of which €129,000 from the Developing Skills Mission 

The Performing+ programme came to an end on 18 November 
2021. This was a three-year capacity building programme for 
over 112 live performance organisations in Piedmont, Liguria 
and Valle d’Aosta, undertaken in conjunction with Osservatorio 
Culturale del Piemonte. Its aim was to complement economic 
support with an internal growth pathway for organisations, 
aimed at fostering socially responsible management and 
organisation and a strategic orientation towards sustainable 
development. A total of €325,000 were invested in the 
project, €150,000 euros of which funded activities carried 
out in 2021. Over 150 hours of lessons, 9 workshop days and 
1 environmental sustainability action lab were carried out 
in the last year, resulting in a positioning and commitment 
manifesto. Guidance was given to 10 organisations to help 
them each draw up a Social Report, and a permanent on-line 
tool-kit was produced, covering principles, methodologies 
and tools designed to encourage sustainable operating 
models: https://performingplus.it/. The monitoring process 
confirmed that Performing+ helped strengthen the strategic 
planning, sustainability, efficiency and robustness of the 
organisations involved. It also helped them cope with the 
pressure of the pandemic and prepare for the challenges 
of the National Recovery and Resilience Plan. In view of its 
success, the project will be launched again, and in 2022 will 
incorporate the Hangar project by Fondazione Piemonte dal 
Vivo, with Hangar+.   

Value of allocation
€325,000
of which €150,000 to support activities carried out in 2021
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To play a proactive role in fostering dialogue between the 
institutions in order to promote strategic use of the available 
resources through agreements, conventions and the 
innovative use of all regulatory instruments.

To promote a culture of maintenance of cultural heritage, 
based on research and design, which takes priority over 
emergency restoration, and facilitates planning, at least in the 
medium term, for sustainable heritage management.

To promote the development of the local area by harnessing 
the value of its landscape, starting from the most advanced 
regulatory instruments, such as the Piedmont Regional 
Landscape Plan, and using it as a testing ground.

To take a proactive approach to coordinating system-oriented 
actions aimed at  managing archive assets and research 
libraries.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

Preserving Beauty  
Mission

3.

The Mission supported 32 initiatives to restore and upgrade 
cultural heritage sites (€3,370,785) in accordance with the 
criteria set down in the MYPD 2021-24, namely coordination 
with the relevant local institutions, promotion of a culture of 
scheduled maintenance and evaluation of priorities in terms 
of urgency. The interventions involved strategic sites in the 
historic centres of Turin and Genoa (including the Church of 
San Filippo Neri and the Albergo dei Poveri) and across the 
whole of Liguria and Piedmont (including the completion of 
the Santuario di Oropa). 

A new line of intervention got under way in 2021, which makes 
use of the “leverage” defined in the Strategic Plan, by helping 
organisations benefit from the “Facades Bonus”, which offers 
tax relief on the restoration of the facades of buildings, which 
in Compagnia’s case are listed buildings. Under the initiative, 
Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo supported three 
organisations in Liguria and two in Piedmont, by bearing the 
cost of the share not covered by the tax rebate, and covering the 
financial costs arising from the transfer of credit (€350,000). 

Road-testing continued on the project to offer guidance 
on implementing the Regional Landscape Plan (Piedmont) 
aimed at local sustainable development based on the intrinsic 
values of the landscape concerned. The test method involved 
formalising the partnership between the Ministry of Cultural 
Heritage and Activities, Piedmont Regional Council and 
Compagnia di San Paolo in a written agreement. After a first 
phase focused on the area surrounding Ivrea, the second 
phase got under way in 2021, this time focusing on the Alta 
Langa.

€8.03 m
Total grants

63
Interventions undertaken  

SDGs covered

Project for the coordination and 
development of archive support work

PRIMA call for proposals (encompassing 
prevention, research, investigation, 
maintenance and listening in relation to 
cultural heritage)

PRIMA, which saw the result of its first edition in 2021, is 
a two-phase call for proposals designed to pursue one 
of the main objectives of the Preserving Beauty Mission, 
namely to promote a culture of planned maintenance as 
opposed to emergency response. To achieve this objective, 
the practice of restoration needs to be re-interpreted as a 
project commitment designed – with the aid of scientific and 
technological research and rigorous economic planning – to 
put in place scheduled processes of heritage conservation 
and maintenance work. Ten preventive conservation and 
scheduled maintenance projects were selected under the call 
for proposals and awarded total funding of €2,168,000. The 
call for proposals also provides the winning organisations 
with training programmes delivered in partnership with the 
Centro Conservazione e Restauro “La Venaria Reale”, the 
R3C inter-departmental centre of the Polytechnic University 
of Turin and the Archaeology, Fine Arts and Landscape 
Superintendence of the Metropolitan City of Turin. 

Value of allocation
€2,168,000 

Launched in 2021, the project has been awarded a total of 
€120,000 to support the archive system, and should be read 
in relation to the MYPD 2021-24. It envisages coordinated, 
networked actions and initiatives designed to help manage 
archival and library assets more effectively, and make more 
productive use of them, along the lines set down in the Na-
tional Recovery and Resilience Plan in relation to digitalisa-
tion, innovation, competitiveness and culture. These goals 
can be achieved by developing service networks and making 
innovations on the technological front. In the catchment area, 
however, a trigger moment was needed, and the project pro-
vided this. The actions related to the specialist fields of Fon-
dazione 1563 per l'Arte e la Cultura, one of Compagnia di San 
Paolo’s auxiliary bodies, which took part in them. Fondazi-
one 1563 was tasked with establishing a technical committee 
made up of the leading local organisations responsible for 
archives and libraries, with a view to identifying priorities and 
agreeing upon subsequent system-oriented actions.   

Value of allocation
€120,000
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To develop alliances and a corresponding network with 
strategic entities whose mission includes helping people take 
part in collective life and supporting some of them through 
the phase of change and empowerment, in order to enhance 
their ability to represent and act on behalf of the local area, in 
initiatives that are consistent with the Mission.

To harness the value of cultural and civic centres by identifying 
the junction points of this potentially dense network of new 
cultural centres, independent cultural centres and civic 
assembly centres in North-West Italy, in order to optimise 
outstanding strengths and antennae in the local area and 
launch development programmes for those that show signs 
of potential.

To develop initiatives aimed at encouraging the inclusive use 
of public spaces intended for the well-being of the inhabitants 
of the areas in which they are located.

To support second-tier entities operating within the four 
areas of participation identified as cases of both integrated 
co-management and the exercise of democratic practice; 
to facilitate their efficient growth, including with a view to 
developing tools for replicating the project designs and good 
practices developed in this context.

To identify, test, evaluate and scale up actions and centres in 
the identified areas and specific ad hoc projects; to develop 
systemic empowerment initiatives and experiences that foster 
meetings and projects involving cross-overs between sectors, 
skills, approaches and disciplines of knowledge.

To integrate the points deriving from the previous strategic 
policy directions – for local ecosystems and specific priorities 
for urban, provincial and internal areas – into a system to 
guide future policies.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s strategy 

Encouraging Active Participation  
Mission

4.

€7.44 m
Total grants

203
Interventions undertaken  

SDGs covered

The Mission introduced the operational concept of 
Strategic Allies in 2021, which refers to a group of preferred 
organisations with which to work for the purpose of fostering 
active participation in different cultural experiences. A 
three-year enhancement and development programme got 
under way with eight such organisations, on the assumption 
that boosting their organisational capabilities will make a 
significant contribution to achieving Compagnia’s goals in the 
cultural arena, as set out in the MYPD 2021-24. (€ 1.465.000) 
At the same time, 100 cultural participation spaces/centres 
in the provinces of Piedmont, Liguria and Valle d’Aosta 
were identified as a result of the three-year “Space” call for 
proposals (€1,500,000), which is a systematic development of 
the emergency “Rincontriamoci” call for proposals published 
in 2020, two weeks after the start of the first lockdown.  

Democratic participation is one of the new lines of 
intervention designed to encourage active participation 
by young people. The various actions undertaken in 2021 
included the first year of the NextGenU project (€170,000), 
which is designed to raise awareness among under-25s of EU 
policies, the EU as an institution and its impact on the lives 
of citizens. The project saw the involvement of about 100 
young people and 14 cultural and civic centres in North-West 
Italy in a series of active participation events. The G20 Global 
Games project (€160,000) introduced people under the age 
of 30 to international politics, and saw the participation of 
over 2000 young people from Turin and Genoa. The civic 
participation line mainly involved second-tier bodies, while 
also encouraging the formalisation of networks (Tavolo del 
Riuso, Orme, network of spaces next to schools) for the 
purpose of optimising their efficiency and hence the impact of 

collaborative practices, which have a long history in the Turin 
area (€320,000). We also supported several very important 
individual initiatives and promoted the TorinoProxima call for 
proposals to help guide civic and cultural projects towards the 
creation of social-impact enterprise. 
 
The relationship between science and society as a social 
and cultural dimension saw Compagnia taking action by 
coordinating with strategic allies, think-tanks and networks 
(such as the Sistema Scienza Piemonte); the Mission promoted 
projects on gender-equality in science, including Coding Girls 
(€77,000), designed to foster an interest in coding languages 
and information technology among secondary-school girls, 
and Io Scelgo STEM (I Choose STEM) (€50,000), to raise 
awareness of the opportunities for women to study and build 
careers in science and technology. 

A project was also launched by Libera APS, aimed at training 
and dissemination regarding real estate confiscated from 
organised crime (€70,000), in conjunction with the national 
agency for the administration and allocation of property 
seized from organised crime, the Prefecture of Turin and ANCI.  

The WELL Impact project, on the relationship between 
culture and health, also went into development in 2021, with 
four pilot projects in Turin, Vercelli, Genoa and Alessandria 
and the first workshops in the areas concerned. Places of 
culture and health, and participation in /exposure to cultural 
and health activities are the subject of the four pilot projects 
involving social, cultural and health operators and citizens and 
evaluators (€400,000).
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SPACE - “Spazi di Partecipazione Al Centro” is a three-year 
project spawned by the economic crisis faced by places of 
participation and the relational crisis faced by people as a 
result of the pandemic. In the wake of the health emergency, it 
was converted into an initiative under the active participation 
strategic line.  New cultural centres, independent cultural 
centres and civic aggregation centres constitute a sector of 
civic value because of the collaborative practices that they 
trigger, and also a sector of cultural value (99 of the 100 
selected centres reported that they produce and circulate 
culture, “zero-miles culture” and neighbourly support culture 
that flies under the radar of normal surveys of cultural 
participation).  

They are mostly micro-enterprises capable of generating 
economic and other value, in return for zero or very low 
institutional funding. In many cases, their operators have 
invested their own resources in publicly useful businesses, 
often involving public assets. Closing these centres would 
adversely affect both organizers and relationships within 
communities and collective undertakings. 

The results were published in April 2021: There were 100 
“socio-cultural centres” scattered across every province 
of the Piedmont, Liguria and Valle d’Aosta regions, which 
gained access to the three-year support programme that 
also includes the creation of a community of practice 
among social managers/entrepreneurs, with a commitment 
from Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo of one and a 
half million euros for 2021 alone. An analysis of the results 
shows that: 
	 2 out of 3 centres were founded after 2000;
	 over the past 5 years, private individuals (or groups thereof) 

invested a total of 9.3 million euros in spaces of this kind;
	 in 2020, the centres incurred costs of 4.3 million euros and 

reported a loss of earnings amounting to 6.3 million euros;
	 1 out of 4 centres has at least one member of its top 

management aged under-35.

Value of allocation
€1,500,000

SPACE call for proposals - “Spazi di 
Partecipazione Al Centro”

One of the Encouraging Active Participation Mission’s five 
strategic lines for the four-year period 2021-24 is to map all 
cultural stakeholders, keep an up-to-date record of them and 
identify a group of “Strategic Allies”, within the ecosystem, 
to boost as innovators and with which to form a network. 
Chosen for their consistency with these aims, the significance 
of their work on one or more of the Mission’s objectives, and 
their influence on other stakeholders, these are organisations 
with which significant operational methodologies and 
projects are co-built. As well as supporting their annual 
work for a time limited to the duration of the MYPD 2021-
24, Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo also organised a 
consulting service to help the bodies concerned develop 
their management and innovative capabilities by means of 
a three-year plan. This development was designed in 2021 
thanks in part to the input of outside consultants who 
helped each organisation gain a clearer understanding of its 
characteristics and make maximum use of its potential. 

Value of allocation
€1,465,000 

In line with the new strategic plan, Fondazione 1563 
stepped up the role it plays in implementing Compagnia’s 
programmes in 2021, both in humanist research and in work 
relating to archives, by launching projects for the Compagnia 
Group and developing initiatives for the catchment area, in 
conjunction with the Culture Goal. The first edition of the 
“Turin Humanities Programme” got under way in 2021. 
Providing scholarships in Global History, it enhances Turin’s 
role as a vital and attractive place for humanist research.  

Value of allocation
€2,200,000 

The Mission’s strategic allies: 
enhancement and transformation plans

Lead auxiliary body: 
Fondazione 1563
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Two factors characterised the context in which the People 
Goal operated in 2021. The first was the persistence 
of the pandemic and an accelerating rise in economic, 
educational and social inequalities. Worrying phenomena, 
such as the psychological malaise of entire segments of the 
population, particularly the youngest, and a widespread 
sense of isolation, fatigue and uncertainty about the future 
were the order of the day. The second, by contrast, was the 
emergence of encouraging dynamics as a specific result 
of the pandemic. These included increased civic activism, 
often on the part of young people; unexpected forms of 
resilience on the part of organised civil society, which 
had grown more aware of the benefits of collaboration; 
highly proactive educational communities; and increased 
dynamism on the part of young people, people from 
migrant backgrounds and public institutions committed to 
making effective use of the resources made available by 
European and national programmes.
  
Initiatives launched by the Goal in late 2020 were fully 
implemented, thus providing responses designed to 
reduce the effects of the pandemic on food poverty, the 
unaffordability of essential goods, educational inequalities, 
mental distress, increased marginalisation and a labour 
market that was inaccessible to young people not in 
employment, education or training (NEET), women with 
dependent children and vulnerable people. 2021 also saw 

the implementation of projects directly conceived and 
promoted by groups of young people that Compagnia 
chose to assist, by continuing to invest in their dynamism, 
independence and empowerment. 

The community played a pivotal role in our work, as the 
primary facilitator of human relations and a vital hub for 
building social capital and channelling its resources into 
combating poverty in all its forms, especially through 
neighbourly support action. The supported interventions 
facilitated the development and consolidation of broad 
partnerships between actors operating on a territorial 
basis. Increasingly, these partnerships proved to be 
innovative and effective welfare systems, characterised by 
an integrated approach to tackling social and educational 
issues that overcame the intrinsic limitations of sector-
specific interventions organised according to excessively 
vertical models. Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo also 
adopted new tools to fulfil its subsidiary role in relation to 
public policies in 2021. At a time when many organisations 
–  public bodies first and foremost – were receiving 
substantial resources, Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo 
launched initiatives aimed at upgrading their design and 
management capabilities, with a view to acting as a partner 
and taking a broad, multi-disciplinary view of projects, 
while focusing closely on impact and sustainability.  

The People Goal and its Missions

€67.77 m 331
Total grants awarded  
in 2021 

Interventions undertaken   
in 2021 

5 Reinventing dwelling systems and regenerating neighbourhoods 
6 Promoting decent work 
7 Educating for collective development 
8 Rediscovering community  
9 Working together for inclusion

6

6

7

7

8

8

9

9

5

5

GRANTS

INTERVENTIONS
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To explore ways of promoting urban regeneration initiatives 
where dwelling is combined with infrastructure, logistics, 
employment, community interaction and socio-cultural 
considerations to ensure social inclusion and have a positive 
social, economic and environmental impact on parts of the 
catchment area.

To formulate, in collaboration with other Missions where 
appropriate, initiatives aimed at promoting environmental 
sustainability in urban areas (from measures to combat 
energy poverty to the dissemination of energy efficiency 
models, the use of specific tool-kits and a focus on urban 
green spaces and urban forestation).

To continue to support active housing services (temporary 
accommodation, social condominiums, social housing 
agencies, social co-housing projects, etc.) aimed at 
developing the social, dwelling and relational skills of the 
beneficiaries, in response to their specific needs.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

To strengthen an innovative, collaborative social housing 
culture, by promoting the dissemination of models, research, 
analysis and experiences through seminars, publications, 
subject-specific reports, etc.

To strive to connect local entities and initiatives with regional, 
national and European resources, with a view to scaling up 
the capacity of local areas through hands-on support and/or 
co-funding actions.

To develop systems of scattered-site social housing supply 
– using vacant private housing stock or stock available to 
the third sector, non-performing loans, and dwelling units for 
sale by court auction – in order to increase the availability 
of affordable housing through economically sustainable and 
socially inclusive models.

€2.68 m
Grants awarded

23
Interventions undertaken  

Reinventing Dwelling Systems and 
Regenerating Neighbourhoods  
Mission

5.

SDGs covered

Social Co-Dwelling Units for Young 
People

Luoghi Comuni

New hospitality and assembly centres

These units are small communities of about 70 young people 
aged between 18 and 35, living together temporarily in 
public residential building complexes in Turin, in exchange 
for a reduced rent and approximately 10 hours of voluntary 
work to support the community of residents by organising 
activities and taking care of the communal spaces. The seven 
long-standing co-dwelling units were complemented with 
two new units in 2021, one geared towards artistic activities, 
in Via Cigna, and one with a focus on green issues, in Via 
Fossata. 

Value of allocation
€79,500

Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo submitted the 
“Residenze Temporanee Luoghi Comuni” project as a 
candidate for the New European Bauhaus Prize and it was 
selected as one of the 60 finalists out of more than 2,000 
projects from all over Europe. 

Luoghi Comuni Porta Palazzo was later chosen as the subject 
of a docu-film for the Building Communities series, produced 
by BBC Story Works, and presented by Housing Europe as a 
model of social housing that gives people new opportunities 
to build fresh visions of the future.

Value of allocation
€27,000

Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo supported the 
construction of two new social housing facilities in Turin in 
2021 with a total investment of €895,000. 

Both are socially and functionally mixed and are intended 
to meet housing needs at the same time as redeveloping 
urban areas and revitalising the local social context. 

Ma.Ri. House is a temporary residence for students, 
workers and families, with a particular emphasis on social 
vulnerability, promoted by the association Insieme per 
Accogliere Onlus and managed by Synergica scs. As well 
as being a social housing residence surrounded by 5,000 
square metres of green space, it is a place that complements 
and interacts with the local community to which it belongs, 
whose quality of individual and collective life it aspires to 
enhance by means of services and opportunities for citizens. 
Ma.Ri. House accommodates up to 65 people in furnished 
single and double rooms with bathrooms, and also has 
communal areas for receiving guests. The residence was 
opened in June 2021.  

Cascina Filanda was a derelict building at the entrance to 
Parco Meisino, which has been restored and re-purposed to 
accommodate an open, inclusive community.  

Managed by Coabitare, a social enterprise, it comprises 15 
studio apartments, 14 double rooms and a dwelling unit for 
the facility manager. It accommodates a total of 58 people 
and is equipped with communal areas for cultural activities 
and gatherings, and an outdoor area of 3,000 square 
metres. It also offers services for guests and for the district.   
The social mix is made up of people facing housing 
hardship, city users and occasional visitors. It also fulfils 
a variety of functions, including social housing, tourist 
accommodation, conference-room rental and services for 
citizens. The residence was opened in December 2021.

Value of allocation
€895,000
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The “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals relating to feasibility studies for 
urban regeneration

The aim of the call was to enable public bodies in the 
catchment area to carry out feasibility studies in preparation 
for the development of urban regeneration programmes 
aimed at enhancing, upgrading and taking care of the urban 
fabric, improving the quality of dwelling and day-to-day 
living, encouraging the economic development of the area, 
and promoting neighbourly support and community welfare 
actions. 

Objectives:
 	to improve local bodies’ ability to design complex projects 

and acquire the resources to fund them;
 	to reorganise, upgrade and increase the building stock 

available for the provision of social housing and social and 
cultural services;

 	to upgrade the urban environment by enhancing the 
connections between housing facilities, public spaces and 
services in order to improve their safety and accessibility;

 	to avoid further land consumption by giving preference to 
the redevelopment of urbanised, disused and degraded 
areas

 	to encourage the recovery and redevelopment of buildings, 
including large sites or disused complexes, upgrade their 
energy efficiency and implement city services;

 	to promote environmental sustainability (green and blue 
infrastructure, sustainable mobility, use of green materials 
and technologies, etc.);

 	to promote community development, social inclusion, 
community welfare and civic participation by means of 
social mentoring.

The call for proposals was designed to act as a gateway for 
access to various forms of funding for local regeneration, in 
which the Foundation acts as a development agent whose 
resources have the potential to multiply their impact by 
attracting additional resources. 

Beneficiaries: 14 municipalities in Piedmont and Liguria.

Value of allocation
€1,192,000
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To enhance the employability of people in situations of 
vulnerability or at risk of vulnerability, by continuing existing 
interventions and introducing new experimental initiatives 
that offer more innovative and efficient active employment 
policy solutions for vulnerable target groups than have been 
implemented by public authorities or other local actors.

To teach, develop, recognise and enhance the present and 
future key work skills of beneficiaries of the initiatives, while 
also making those skills transferable and consolidating the 
beneficiaries’ personal and professional resources, so as to 
help them find and keep work and cope with potentially 
complex transitions.

To promote interventions to combat poverty and enhance 
employability and to support social inclusion by means 
of an integrated, multidimensional response, both on the 
economic front (employability and employment policies) 
and on the social and educational front (capacity building, 
combating housing hardship, access to services, including 
conciliation, and family and relational vulnerability).

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

To facilitate the construction and reinforcement of synergies, 
alliances and local systems between public and private 
employers and actors from the social and solidarity economy 
in order to develop new, more effective active employment 
policy instruments, aimed in particular at people in situations 
of vulnerability or at risk of vulnerability, by integrating rather 
than duplicating skills and interventions, disseminating 
and making productive use of knowledge to interpret the 
challenges of the employment market more clearly, and 
encouraging discussion and debate on these issues.

€8.36 m
Grants awarded

SDGs covered

54
Interventions 
undertaken  

Promoting Decent Work  
Mission

6.

Integro Initiatives relating to employment and 
disability

Interventions for the benefit of people 
serving custodial and non-custodial 
sentences for criminal convictions

In 2021 Compagnia continued its commitment to adults 
(over the age of 29) seeking employment. The INTEGRO 
initiative has completed the mentoring process launched in 
2019 for 200 people with complex needs, for whom a multi-
dimensional approach was taken to build pathways to socio-
economic independence by focusing on active job-seeking, 
housing and social relations.

Value of allocation
€2,683,288

Vocational mobility training

The guidance and skills-building actions aimed at paving 
the way to employment reached 229 adults (over the age 
of 29), including 30 single women with school-age children, 
27 foreigners with housing problems and 14 people over 
the age of 58. A total of 72 hours of specialist training were 
provided, leading to the opening of 46 traineeships and 70 
employment contracts (data for the first 9 months of the 
project).

Value of allocation
€800,200

By supporting the project Il Mio Posto Del Mondo, Compagnia 
helped boost the employment opportunities of 11 young 
people with disability levels of more than 46% in the 19-29 
age group and consolidate the application of an innovative 
model of managing the job placement process by promoting 
the tools made available by welfare-to-work policies and 
organising them into a system.

Value of allocation
€60,000

In 2021, Compagnia helped equip 67 women serving 
custodial sentences to obtain employment by providing 
training designed to upgrade skills and boost employability 
(LEI Projects) and using the organisational structure of 
seven social cooperatives that work with prisoners. The 
cooperatives involved are all of different size, employ widely 
varying numbers of staff and have different histories (pilot 
project designed to strengthen the prison economy).

Value of allocation
€179,000
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2021 saw the completion of the capacity-building programme 
for public, non-profit and for-profit bodies engaged in 
matching job-seekers with vacancies. Using peer-to-peer 
learning, the programme facilitated the exchange of tools 
and strategies to counter the Refugee Gap and strengthen 
networks that help refugees into the job market. Four 
training modules were held for a total of nine meetings 
(30 participants on average) and a national seminar (232 
participants).

Value of allocation
€132,000

Migliora2

The CUP project presented by Compagnia di San Paolo in 
its capacity as lead organisation, in the 2019 Erasmus+ call 
for proposals funded by the European Commission, took 
second place in the Italian league table. The overall aim of 
CUP is to improve the medium-to-long-term employment 
prospects of men and women serving custodial sentences 
in Europe, by providing tools to measure and assess the 
benefits and impact of training courses, in order to develop 
pathways to get prisoners back into employment at the end 
of their sentences. The initiative also makes strategic use of 
advocacy to help raise awareness of prison-related issues 
and promote a new narrative that views prison as a place for 
training and enhancing the skills of individuals. 

Work continued in 2021 on developing and testing innovative 
training modules based on technical, cross-cutting and 
basic skills, which involved prisoners and prison staff from 
six European prisons located in the initiative’s four partner 
states, Italy, Cyprus, Greece and the Netherlands. The 
project involves 150 prisoners (100 men, 30 women and 20 
young people) in seven training programmes. By extending 
strategic collaborations, the partnership intends to scale 
up the tools and methods it has tested and replicate them 
globally after completion of the project.

Beneficiaries: six prisons in four European countries (Italy, 
Cyprus, Greece and the Netherlands), 150 prisoners.

Value of allocation: the grant approved by the Erasmus+ 
programme is €449,616, of which 40.7% of the total project 
budget is allocated to Italian partners. Compagnia has 
approved an additional contribution of €50,000. 

Value of allocation (Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo)
€50,000 

Articolo+1 is an active employment policy initiative for young 
people not in employment, education or training (NEET) 
launched by Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo in 2016 
in the Metropolitan City of Turin, with a view to increasing 
employment rates among people aged 15 to 29 with little 
or no work experience. The initiative was promoted in the 
Metropolitan City of Genoa in 2020, although activities did 
not start until 2021 due to the pandemic. Since its launch, the 
project has reached 270 young people and led to the opening 
of 98 traineeships and 58 contracts.  The distinctive features 
of the interventions include their use of neighbourly support 
networks and social channels to engage people, the provision 
of support for short training courses co-designed with 
companies, and the integration of employment facilitation 
pathways with social and educational mentoring. Articolo+1 
was also launched in the province of Verbano Cusio Ossola 
in 2021, thank to a partnership with Fondazione di Comunità 
del VCO and Fondazione Buon Lavoro. Compagnia di San 
Paolo transferred the work method and the necessary know-
how to coordinate, promote and monitor the initiative to 
the two partner foundations. The initiative will become fully 
operational in 2022 and aims to involve 140 young people 
in employment and social empowerment programmes, and 
open 78 traineeships and 68 employment contracts.  

Beneficiaries: Genoa - At least 468 young people not in 
employment, education or training (at least 141 of whom have 
taken up employment). VCO - At least 140 young people not 
in employment, education or training (at least 68 of whom 
have taken up employment).  

Value of allocation: Articolo+1 Genova, approximately 
€1,000,000 (two-year intervention) and Articolo+1 VCO - 
€430,000 (two-year intervention) of which €230,000 euros 
were awarded by Compagnia.

Value of allocation (Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo)
€230,000

CUP - Convicts Upskilling Pathway Project The Articolo+1 programme in other 
geographical areas 
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To road-test an effective, widespread hybrid education-
al model, which incorporates face-to-face teaching, use 
of digital media and formal and informal experiences, in a 
framework of reflection and strategic coordination, there-
by making productive use of the skills available within the 
Compagnia system in synergy with local institutional actors, 
and taking a leadership position at national and international 
level.

To promote multi-dimensional, multi-actor experimental ini-
tiatives for competent, innovative, inclusive, high-quality ed-
ucational ecosystems

To contribute to the development of cognitive, cultural, so-
cial, emotional and personal skills to develop the potential of 
young people, support continuous learning and proactively 
shape their future in a changing national and European con-
text.

To promote leadership and dynamism among families and 
the younger generations.

To support initiatives of advocacy, value enhancement and 
capitalisation of early years and  adolescence culture and prac-
tices, based on rigorous evidence and development processes.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s strategy NOE - Nuovi Orizzonti Educativi

Diffusione Zerosei: a programme of 
actions designed to raise awareness of 
early childhood issues

A three-year initiative promoted with Turin Municipal Council and 
Piedmont Regional Schools Office, District 6, in conjunction with 
Collegio Carlo Alberto and the University of Turin, to develop an 
educational community in the Barriera di Milano area between 36 
entities (schools, third-sector bodies, local services and cultural 
institutions and associations) that co-design actions to enhance 
out-of-school activities and reduce the school drop-out rate. 
70 actions; 100 children aged 0-6 and 130 parents; 450 children 
aged 6-13; 245 adolescents aged 14-18. 

Value of allocation
€467,000

The results of the Zerosei Programme and the guidance 
sessions given to bodies funded by the Fund to Combat 
Juvenile Educational Poverty in Piedmont and Liguria were 
used to produce guidelines, recommendations, tool-kits 
and calls for proposals across the catchment area. The aim 
is to support the consolidation of early-childhood culture 
and to nurture communities of practice and professionals 
as part of a broader collaboration in the development of 
communities of practice with children. Products created: 
Tool-kits and short videos on parenting in multi-ethnic 
families; Accompagnamento ZeroSei. Policy directions for 
early-childhood action; Accompagnamento ZeroSei call for 
ideas.

Value of allocation
€160,000€30.65 m

Grants awarded

SDGs covered

100
Interventions 
undertaken  

Educating for Collective Development  
Mission

7.

“Un’estate insieme”: from post-Covid 
project to established practice Famiglie ZeroSei 

Developed in conjunction with Fondazione Ufficio Pio, 
Fondazione per la Scuola and Consorzio Xkè? ZeroTredici, 
the programme combines well-established projects run 
in partnership with Turin City Council (“Estate Ragazzi”, 
summer activities run by Salesian and parish oratories, 
“CESM”, “Estate Xkè?”, “Estate Bimbi”) and new actions 
(“La Bella Stagione” and “Sam non va in vacanza”, the latter 
forming part of the inter-institutional initiative “Provaci 
ancora Sam!”). The challenge is to create a local alliance 
between the public administration, third-sector bodies, 
oratories, schools, cultural bodies, local participation centres 
and foundations, which can work in synergy to provide quality 
educational opportunities for children aged 6 to 14. In 2021 
this was done in partnership with Associazione Piemonte 
Musei. The initiative led to the construction of an educational 
bridge linking term time with the summer holidays, to help 
overcome the adverse effects of the pandemic on children’s 
learning and socialisation in Turin. With an investment 
of €1,581,000, 35 participation centres, 24 museums, 34 
schools, 17 providers of the Estate Ragazzi della Città di 
Torino programme and 40 oratories developed activities for 
around 7,000 children, equating to 11% of the population of 
Turin in this age group. Over 7,000 museum season tickets 
were issued, and the initiative saw the involvement of over 
1,000 volunteers, 80% of whom were under the age of 30. 

Value of allocation
€1,182,000 

Strong relationships, solidarity and neighbourly support 
protect the well-being of people, families and communities, 
especially if they are vulnerable or at crucial life-stages, 
including early childhood. What is the most effective way 
of supporting active participation and the construction of 
informal networks between families with children aged 0-6 
years? Ten bodies and institutions were invited to work with 
families to co-design a range of initiatives involving cultural, 
relational and social opportunities in the city. They comprised 
five museums and five bodies involved in the “La Bella 
Stagione” programme (Museo Egizio, Reggia di Venaria, 
Fondazione Sandretto Re Rebaudengo, GAM, Museo Lavazza, 
Associazione Theatrum Sabaudiae, Ente di Gestione Aree 
Protette del Po, Museo Arte Urbana, Circolo Banfo, Viaggi 
Solidali) and five ZeroSei venues (Spazio ZeroSei, the public 
baths in Via Agliè, Binaria Bimbi, the Gruppo Abele Drop 
House and Vides Main). The project partners are Turin City 
Council, the Piemonte Musei season ticket system and Rete 
Lilliput, which was involved in producing a kit to help people 
get the most out of the cultural experience independently. 
100 families were involved, equating to about 20 for each 
Zerosei venue. The joint effort between the Educating for 
Collective Development Mission and the Developing Skills 
Mission, with the aid of Consorzio Xkè? ZeroTredici, the 
collaboration between museums, participation bodies and 
Zerosei venues is generating an increase in skills among 
operators, cross-pollination and new strategies to help 
empower families.  

Value of allocation
€92,000 
of which €62,000 from the Educating for Collective 
Development Mission and €30,000 from the Developing 
Skills Mission 
(Culture Goal)
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To introduce community health promotion initiatives that 
impact positively on the organisation of local services, in 
synergy with the measures implemented at public level.

To help strengthen the social capital of communities and 
combat the rising levels of poverty and inequality, by 
establishing neighbourly support networks.

To promote gift culture and the culture of solidarity by 
making more productive use of new and established forms 
of volunteering.

To help orchestrate local resources into a system by 
consolidating networks that include public institutions, 
the third sector and civil society in order to build multi-
dimensional, multi-level responses aimed at people in 
situations of vulnerability.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

Rete Ricibo

A citizens’ network project for the recovery and redistribution 
of food surpluses for the purposes of social solidarity in the 
Municipality of Genoa The aim of the project in 2021 was 
to build an integrated ecosystem for a zero-waste city, by 
coordinating all parties that manage the recovery and 
redistribution of goods, thereby combining the fight against 
food waste with the fight against poverty.

Value of allocation
€65,000

€20.80 m
Grants awarded

SDGs covered

87
Interventions undertaken  

Rediscovering Community  
Mission

8.

Guidelines for supporting Community 
Foundations Distretto Sociale Barolo

Per aspera ad astra

An experimental initiative aimed at enhancing the use of 
theatre within the prison system, coordinated by ACRI and 
involving 13 Italian foundations. Carried out in 14 Italian 
prisons and involving some 250 prisoners per year, the 
project aims to forge a network encompassing the best 
practices and experiences across a range of locations in the 
catchment area, and to disseminate their approach. This 
is backed up by raising awareness of the effectiveness of 
theatre as a tool for personal development and enhancing 
the employability of prisoners, who are offered training for 
theatre-related jobs as part of the project. 

Value of allocation
€110,000

An initiative aimed at 10 community foundations operating 
in North-West Italy (Piedmont, Liguria and Valle d’Aosta) 
through support for their activities, fund-raising campaigns 
to boost their results and actions to strengthen their capacity 
to generate economic resources, including in networks with 
other local organisations.

Value of allocation
€725,000
of which €20,000 explicitly allocated to 
capacity building

A protocol of understanding covering Turin and Piedmont 
aimed at building an integrated social, cultural and health 
services cluster for people facing hardship: a full-blown 
citadel of human promotion, centred upon the heritage 
and tradition of the Opera Barolo. The synergies forged 
between the organisations involved have helped to reduce 
segmentation between the different targets and needs, and 
to promote generative welfare, by means of community 
involvement and dynamism. 

Beneficiaries: 10,000 people per year.

Value of allocation
€ 50,000

Pluralità di cure

This operational project involving a network of organisations 
has provided a range of responses to the mental health needs 
of the immigrant population, with a view to reducing their 
distress or suffering. The partnership carries out specialist 
clinical, psychological and social interventions, training 
sessions aimed at strengthening the professional skills of 
social and health workers in their relationship with people 
from migrant backgrounds, and promoting access to social 
and health services for immigrants and their families through 
guidance and training.

Value of allocation
€260,000
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“Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals “B2 = Il bene x bene” call for 
proposals

A two-year initiative through which Compagnia has 
continued and developed its commitment to the mental 
health of communities in the Piedmont region.

Compagnia used this call to support nine local networks 
made up of third-sector and public bodies (providers of 
social care services and/or local health trusts responsible 
for the areas in which the initiative was implemented). 
Special efforts have been made to boost the role played in 
these networks by associations of users of mental health 
services and their families, with a view to raising awareness 
of the rights of people with mental-health issues, mitigating 
isolation and facilitating a shift in the cultural paradigm 
towards the emancipation of people facing mental-health 
issues.

The initiatives supported involve people with experience of 
mental suffering in the construction and implementation 
of personalised projects focusing on three core needs – 
housing, training/employment and socialisation – based on 
the principles of inclusion and access to citizenship rights. 
The projects offer prevention and promotion activities 
relating to mental health, especially for teenagers and young 
adults.

Compagnia offers guidance programmes to the selected 
local networks and invests in public awareness-raising 
actions, with a view to promoting cultural change in the 
approach to mental health.

Beneficiaries: 9 local partnerships in Piedmont.

Value of allocation
€1,000,000

The aim of this call for proposals was to support initiatives 
designed to strengthen local networks for the recovery and 
redistribution of surpluses and donations of essential goods, 
first and foremost food, to people facing hardship.

The 11 initiatives supported in Piedmont and Liguria have 
involved municipal councils, third-sector bodies, providers 
of social care services and, in some cases, individual citizens 
organised into informal groups, reaching about 15,000 
beneficiaries. Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo provided 
practical support for the projects, involving training, the 
mapping and coordination of relevant local actors, and the 
presentation of platforms and apps for the exchange of 
goods and information.

Issued in the wake of previous Compagnia initiatives, the call 
for proposals harnessed the momentum generated by the 
Covid-19 emergency to coordinate local networks involved in 
combating food poverty and the unaffordability of essential 
goods with other support provided by public-service and 
third-sector bodies by means of local welfare hubs.

Compagnia di San Paolo’s periodic monitoring thus made 
it possible to observe the evolution of local teams spawned 
by the Covid-19 emergency in permanent coordination 
between local volunteering and municipal and social-care 
services; develop actions combining the fight against waste 
and the fight against poverty, especially among young 
people; set up solidarity emporiums to give people facing 
hardship freedom of choice in places where surpluses are 
redistributed; develop connections with local experiences in 
urban and social agriculture.

Beneficiaries: 11 local partnerships in Piedmont and Liguria.

Value of allocation
€ 432,000
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To offer support, guidance and assistance to victims of 
crime, regardless of the type of crime in question and the 
subjective condition of the victim, with a specific emphasis 
on initiatives for women who fall victim to gender-based 
violence, by boosting the role of public bodies in this type 
of policy and service, and by eliciting initiatives of advocacy 
and promotion of a culture of crime victims’ rights.

To empower young people and foster their independence, 
with a view to making them active protagonists and a 
recognised resource within society, and to build – alongside 
people who are most at risk or in situations of hardship, 
where appropriate – processes involving local entities, 
aimed at making young people drivers of change and hence 
citizens with a high level of awareness and strong sense of 
responsibility.

To support specific geographical areas for the networking 
of services and solutions for the basic and complex needs 
of vulnerable people and people at risk of marginalisation, 
especially from migrant backgrounds, in order to counter 
social exclusion in all its forms.

To increase the response capacity of entities and operators 
in the public service and private-sector social arena that 
interact with people from migrant backgrounds, to ensure 
that they all have access to locally available services and 
opportunities, by promoting inclusive processes that 
recognise and value the pathways of everyone concerned.

To continue local partnership initiatives between Northern 
and Southern regions of the world, in collaboration with 
specialist actors from our catchment area and with other 
foundations, involving support for processes that help boost 
the skills and knowledge that are instrumental to promoting 
sustainable development, through a multi-dimensional, 
multi-situated approach.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s strategy 

€5.29 m
Grants awarded

SDGs covered

67
Interventions 
undertaken  

Working Together for Inclusion  
Mission

9.

Telefono rosa Mosaico

YEPP - Youth Empowerment Partnership 
Programme

The YEPP project is based on a participatory programme 
intended to build active citizenship paths involving young 
people, change and innovate their role in communities and 
develop long-term projects that improve the quality of life 
of local communities, particularly among the young. YEPP 
is based on the “community development” approach and 
aims to develop: empowerment of young people and the 
community; partnerships between different entities (public, 
private, third sector) at all levels (local, regional, national 
and international); advocacy (influencing public policy so 
that the participation and empowerment of young people 
becomes a factor that shapes actions); learning (continuous 
training and skills transfer for all individuals involved in the 
project, whether young or old).

YEPP projects were run at 12 sites across 4 regions of Italy 
in 2021 thanks to Associazione Yepp Italia, which took part 
in 20 international partnerships, alongside the YEPP Europe 
centre in Berlin.

Value of allocation
€260,000

With its initiative encompassing accommodation, listening 
and support for female victims of violence or maltreatment, 
Associazione Telefono Rosa Piemonte offers legal advice, 
psychological support, a social and employment help-desk, 
accommodation in a centre for female victims of violence, 
and counselling for children under-18 who have witnessed 
or directly suffered violence. 744 female victims of violence 
received help from the project.

Value of allocation
€60,000

The OASI: On the Street project, run by the association MOSAICO 
- Azioni per i Rifugiati in 2021, helped people in need or facing 
vulnerability in the wake of their migration, by listening and 
offering support and guidance on finding information and 
accessing the services made available by local authorities. 
The project reached 1,500 people and offered ongoing 
assistance to 700. 

Value of allocation
€ 55,000

Territori Inclusivi

This call for proposals is designed to develop and 
consolidate social protection networks aimed at people 
who are vulnerable and/or at risk of marginalisation, with a 
particular emphasis on people from migrant backgrounds. 
The initiatives that received funding also took action aimed 
at exchanging knowledge and changing the narrative 
around migration and inclusion, as an integral part of the 
consolidation of local networks. The project involved 13 
selected public-private partnerships in Piedmont and Liguria.

Value of allocation
€587,000
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CUAMM Project
IN16159 - Ingegneria Naturalistica In 
Valpolcevera, Genova

The goal of the project “Prima le Mamme e i bambini - 
Nutriamoli”, promoted by CUAMM, was to help improve the 
health of mothers and children in seven countries in Africa 
(Angola, Tanzania, Uganda, Ethiopia, Sierra Leone, South 
Sudan and Mozambique), by increasing access to and the 
quality of mother and baby, infant, neonatal and nutritional 
services. The initiative is supported in partnerships with other 
foundations. 65,025 women and 15,770 children received 
assistance; 1,836 community workers received training. 

Value of allocation
€200,000

Kids who want to turn the woods into a “home” for the 
community. A project selected under the GxG “Giovani 
per i Giovani” call for proposals, in whose first phase – the 
“Mind Club” call – an informal group of young people from 
Genoa, called “Tra gli alberi” (among the trees), proposed 
this original idea. It was then co-designed with COOPSSE, 
a social cooperative and the lead organisation, the local 
partners, namely Associazione “La Piuma” Onlus and the 
Cooperativa Sociale “Villa Perla Service”. This two-year 
project got under way in 2021.

The aim of the project was to provide a group of young 
people with education and training combined with the 
opportunity, tools and resources to carry out conservation 
and natural engineering work in the wooded uplands of 
Valpolcevera. The area features a network of trails that is 
subject to erosion, landslides, pollution and deterioration, 
which exacerbate subsidence and flooding in the event of 
rainfall, causing problems in downstream areas.

The project involved mapping the sites requiring remedial 
work, taking action to prevent hydro-geological subsidence, 
setting up two areas for use by local education authorities 
for outdoor educational activities, preventing environmental 
pollution, enhancing the general and specific skills and 
abilities of the participants, and promoting dynamism as a 
facilitator of well-being.

On completion of the project, the practical work carried out 
by young people will enable citizens to use the reclaimed 
spaces in the local area.

Value of allocation
€ 54,000 
(co-funded with Fondazione Carige)

MOI, Migrazione un’Opportunità di 
Inclusione

Auxiliary bodies involved:  
Fondazione per la Scuola, Ufficio Pio and 
Consorzio Xké ZeroTredici

The 2017-2021 multi-year MOI project – Migrazione 
un’Opportunità di Inclusione – was promoted by Compagnia 
di San Paolo, Turin Municipal Council, the Prefecture of Turin, 
the Archdiocese of Turin, Piedmont Regional Council and 
the Metropolitan City of Turin. The aim of the project was 
to provide housing and employment opportunities for the 
occupants of the four buildings in the former Olympic village 
and to allow gradual use for residential purposes. 

Over the course of four years, the aim of clearing the 
occupied area was achieved as a result of joint action by 
the project’s sponsors. In the first phase, people were 
gradually offered places in accommodation facilities under 
agreements with Turin City Council and the Archdiocese of 
Turin. About 20 accommodation facility management bodies 
were involved in the project, across some 60 locations. The 
project had 806 direct beneficiaries. The multi-disciplinary, 
inter-institutional team placed a strong emphasis on social 
inclusion, gave top priority to the specific needs of each 
individual and developed solutions to help people leave 
with the highest possible degree of independence. The 
project entered its final stage in 2021, against a backdrop 
complicated by the ongoing pandemic. From the start of 
the project to 31 December 2021, 753 training and guidance 
courses, 512 employment contracts and 390 traineeships 
were put in place. 

As regards the tailored housing assistance programmes 
offered under the MOI project, 178 people achieved housing 
independence in 82 dwellings.

Value of allocation (over the 4 years)
€6,000,000 
of which €750,000 were awarded in 2021

Intensive collaboration with the People Goal’s auxiliary and 
co-governed bodies, such as Fondazione per la Scuola, 
Ufficio Pio and Consorzio Xké Zerotredici, yielded well 
planned and structured solutions to social and educational 
issues affecting our catchment area. Consolidated by field-
testing and implementation, these solutions have become 
scalable practices and models ripe for replication and 
sharing with other institutions and policy-makers. Achieving 
this result was made possible by the aligned strategies of the 
Compagnia Group and effective use of the specific expertise 
of each of its member bodies.

Total value of allocation
€ 14,661,000 
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The common thread linking the Planet Goal’s initiatives 
in 2021 was the development of Fondazione Compagnia 
di San Paolo’s key stakeholders in the fields of social and 
environmental innovation, academic research, the health 
system and the international arena. The grants were mainly 
aimed at strengthening the organisations and their processes, 
thus boosting their competitiveness and their project design 
and delivery capacity. In line with the Foundation’s strategic 
planning for 2021-2024, the main aim was therefore to 
prepare the ecosystem for the funding opportunities arising 
under ordinary European programmes (Horizon Europe, 
Social Economy Action Plan) and extraordinary programmes 
adopted at national and European level (National Recovery 
and Resilience Plan and Next Generation EU respectively).

With the launch of the Covid-19 vaccination campaign, 
Compagnia stepped up its efforts to tackle the pandemic 
and support the regional health system, by opening a 
vaccine hub in Turin in 2021, organised and funded by the 
Foundation in conjunction with Turin local health trust. We 
also supported projects designed to facilitate the innovation 
and digital transition of the health system with specific 
reference to remote health monitoring, the renovation of 
hospital departments, the upgrading of hospital equipment 
and the safety of staff and women.

To mitigate the impact of the post-pandemic environment on 
social-economy and third-sector actors, considerable effort 
went into initiatives designed to help consolidate the sector, 
through upskilling, digital innovation and strengthening 
strategic management.

In line with the national and European reference framework, 
the environmental challenge and the green transition were 
other key priorities in 2021: experimental initiatives relating 
to local adaptation to climate change, combating energy 
poverty and protecting the natural capital and biodiversity 
of the catchment area were launched with a view to 
enhancing Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s expertise 
in a field that did not become an explicit policy area until the 
publication of the MYPD 2021-24.

Considerable efforts were also directed towards the main 
universities with which Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo 
works, to enhance their capacity to attract. Furthermore, the 
quality and reputation of North-West Italy’s research system 
was a focus of targeted actions, which also embraced major 
international think-tanks. To complete the picture, 2021 saw 
a significant increase in synergies between the Mission’s 
activities and those of three of Fondazione Compagnia di 
San Paolo’s auxiliary bodies, namely Fondazione Collegio 
Carlo Alberto, Fondazione LINKS and the Italian Institute for 
Genomic Medicine.

The Planet Goal and its Missions

€48.64 m 182
Total grants awarded  
in 2021 

Interventions undertaken   
in 2021 

10	 Harnessing the value of research
11	 Boosting innovation 
12	 Promoting well-being
13	 Fostering international opportunities
14	 Protecting the environment

11

11

12

12

13

13

14

14

10

10

GRANTS

INTERVENTIONS
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To support universities in European competition and foster 
the attraction and retention of talent by means of a variety of 
integrated actions.

To promote innovation in teaching in order to reduce the mis-
match between skills learned and skills needed by the market.

To promote advanced strategies for managing and protecting 
the intellectual property generated by universities, and reap-
ing value from it.

To ensure fair and inclusive education that brings out the best 
in every individual.

Supporting research by means of calls for proposals in line 
with European planning.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

€22.76 m
Grants awarded

62
Interventions undertaken  

Harnessing the value of research 
Mission

10.

SDGs covered

“PoC Instrument” call for proposals Agreements with Universities

The PoC Instrument call for proposals helped universities to 
transition patented technologies or registered software from 
the initial development stage to usability in production. The 
aim of this was to reduce technological risk and facilitate the 
commercial exploitation of research, by setting up university 
spin-off companies where appropriate. The last of the five 
application deadlines specified in the call for proposals 
was reached in November 2021, resulting in the receipt of 
122 applications for the development of proofs of concept. 
This call for proposals and its budget is covered by the 
agreements with Universities.

Value of allocation
€1,600,000

The three-year agreements (2019-2021) with the University 
of Turin, the Polytechnic University of Turin, the University of 
Eastern Piedmont, the Federico II University of Naples and 
the University of Genoa expired in 2021 and negotiations 
are in progress for their renewal for the three-year period 
2022-2024. Support for the university system placed a 
strong emphasis on the competitiveness of universities at 
the European level, innovation in approaches to learning, 
technology transfer activities and generating value from 
intellectual property. 

The relationship with universities included the development 
of services, support for top-tier educational pathways and 
the enhancement of skills, the last of which was achieved 
through the award of scholarships in partnership with local 
bodies.

Value of allocation
€11,900,000
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“Trapezio” call for proposals  - Paving 
the way to research excellence and talent 
attraction

“Intelligenza Artificiale” call for proposals
Lead auxiliary body:  
Fondazione Collegio Carlo Alberto

Carried out in collaboration with the Promoting Well-Being 
Mission, the call for proposals was designed to serve two 
purposes: to train institutions in Piedmont and Liguria to 
compete in research funding programmes at European level, 
so as to boost their competitiveness, reputation and long-
term economic sustainability; and to road-test a new way of 
supporting the best project proposals which, despite being 
assessed very positively at European level (receiving a Seal 
of Excellence, for example), were not awarded funding due 
to budget constraints, while at the same time attracting 
talented researchers to our country.

The call for proposals is divided into two lines of 
intervention. The first, designed to help the research 
system compete at European level, provides funding (from 
€50,000 to €150,000) for research projects which have 
been positively evaluated by an international funding body, 
but have not been financed due to a lack of funds. The 
resources granted may be used by the proposing bodies for 
actions to consolidate the scientific profiles of researchers 
internationally, to strengthen the scientific and cross-cutting 
skills of research staff, including design skills, and to promote 
international networking activities. The second line, designed 
to support the internationalisation of research institutions 
and the attraction of talent, offers holders of a Seal of 
Excellence (SoE) under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie Actions 
Programme a chance to develop their research project at a 
host institution in Piedmont or Liguria.
The call for proposals, aimed at research bodies, universities, 
cancer research and treatment centres (IRCCS) and hospital 
trusts in Piedmont and Liguria, has two deadlines – the first 
on 30 December 2021 and the second on 31 March 2023 – 
so as to include the largest possible number of competitive 
calls under the Horizon Europe programme.

Value of allocation 
€3,600,000
of which €1,800,000 drawn from 2021 funds
of which €1,300,000 from the Harnessing the Value of 
Research Mission
and €500,000 from the Promoting Well-Being Mission

The second edition of the call for proposals relating to artificial 
intelligence and its ethical, socially useful applications was 
launched in December in partnership with Fondazione CDP 
with a view to supporting innovative research projects aimed 
at advancing scientific knowledge in the field of artificial 
intelligence and generating economic and social benefits 
for the catchment area. The Foundations work together 
to promote and strengthen their commitment to scientific 
research, which they see as strategically important to the 
country and which is reflected in European initiatives such 
as the Digital Europe Programme, Horizon Europe and Next 
Generation EU.

The aim of the call for proposals is to investigate the 
opportunities that artificial intelligence opens up in four areas: 
Health and Well-being, Environment and Green Transition, 
Protection and Insurance Against Risks, Education and 
Training. The aim is to provoke thought and encourage the 
development of pilot projects that use artificial intelligence in 
the four fields identified. The projects must meet local needs 
and bring significant economic and, more especially, social 
benefits to the community. The proposed projects must 
therefore involve collecting data and carrying out analyses 
in the local area, road-testing innovative solutions and 
encouraging collaboration between universities, research 
bodies, businesses and the third sector.

The submission of projects is invited from partnerships 
comprising at least seven entities: one lead organisation, one 
evaluation body, two research and development partners 
and at least two local partners.

Four partnerships will be selected, one for each thematic 
strand, and an amount of up to €1,000,000 will be awarded 
to each. To take part in the call for proposals, an Expression 
of Interest must be submitted by 15 March 2022, followed by 
an application by 31 May 2022.

Value of allocation 
€4,000,000

Fondazione Collegio Carlo Alberto, a research-oriented 
auxiliary body of Compagnia di San Paolo, co-governed 
by the University of Turin, is a research body whose object 
is to promote, manage and enhance research and higher 
education in the economic, political and social sciences and 
related disciplines. It is an international centre of expertise 
and helps the Harnessing the Value of Research Mission 
achieve its goals by means of training; attracting, nurturing 
and benefiting from the best researchers; and communicating 
with policy makers and society in the scientific and cultural 
fields it covers.

Value of allocation
€5,630,000  
of which €150,000 allocated from prior years

As regards support for research, in line with European 
planning and the new national research support instruments 
(such as the Italian Fund for Science), our actions (see 
Intelligenza Artificiale and Trapezio - Paving the way to 
research excellence and talent traction) have aimed to foster 
inter-disciplinary research and the development of European 
networks and partnerships, and to enable research bodies to 
attract, nurture and benefit from research talent. 
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To promote actions aimed at consolidating the innovation 
ecosystem, by serving as a territorial hub within a framework 
of strategic public-private partnerships and by drawing 
the attention of policy-makers and the local community to 
European Commission initiatives aimed at innovation, and 
technology and skills transfer.

To promote actions to boost the resilience, renewal and ef-
ficiency of social-economy organisations and increase their 
impact, by initiating processes of development and organi-
sational transformation, enhancing skills and supporting the 
formation of an entrepreneurial culture, in line with national 
measures and EU policies.

To support cultural training and acceleration actions aimed 
at empowering a new generation of impact-oriented 

entrepreneurs and innovators, in collaboration with 
institutions, local actors and Italian universities, in line with 
innovative teaching and third-mission initiatives.

To promote interventions aimed at digital transformation  
and data management, by creating opportunities to connect 
technological/process innovation with collective action, so 
as to help organisations identify new ways of addressing the 
local area’s needs and aggregating demand.

To consolidate the local skills system on the basis of initiatives 
and opportunities associated with innovation deriving from 
the European Commission that can foster local excellence as 
a building block in local development.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

€9.49 m
Grants awarded

37
Interventions undertaken  

Boosting innovation 
Mission

11.

SDGs covered

“Wonder” call for proposals

The Wonder call for proposals set itself the goal of 
supporting innovation in the third sector, by encouraging 
the dissemination of knowledge, models and policies 
capable of generating necessary and positive changes 
for individuals and communities, while at the same time 
supporting the design sector, which is recognised as one of 
the defining features of the Turin system, with high potential 
for application and growth.

Value of allocation
€240,000
of which €120,000 from the Boosting Innovation Mission 
and €120,000 from the Building Capacity to Attract Mission 
(Culture Goal)

Wecoop

The Wecoop project uses a board-game format to simulate 
the experience of an enterprise and its relationships with the 
community and the geographical area it operates in, drawing 
on the principles of the civil economy and the practical 
experiences of social enterprises. Thanks to a partnership 
between Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo and the 
Scuola di Economia Civile, WeCoop was presented at the 
2021 edition of Turin International Book Fair, where it was 
used by high-school students.

Value of allocation
€30,000

Borsa dell’Impatto Sociale 

The “Borsa dell’Impatto Sociale”, or Social Impact Exchange, 
is an experimental project designed to create a capital 
market dedicated to businesses whose mission includes 
having a positive social impact. In the short term, the project 
aims to create “dedicated” variants of existing capital 
markets, and then to create a stand-alone segment in the 
medium term. The feasibility study was completed in 2021 
and pilot enterprises were selected for the trial. Compagnia 
is a member of the Promoting Committee, consisting of 
sector experts, bodies and companies, which public and 
private actors can join.

Value of provision for the feasibility study
€90,000 
of which €50,000 from the Boosting Innovation Mission

“TorinoProxima” call for 
proposals

Developed in collaboration with SocialFare and ForwardTo, 
TorinoProxima is a multi-partner initiative designed to 
connect civic imagination projects relating to the future of 
Turin with cultural acceleration pathways intended to spawn 
new social-impact enterprise. 

Value of allocation
€265,000
of which €100,000 from the Boosting Innovation Mission 
and €165,000 from the Building Capacity to Attract Mission 
(Culture Goal)
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ESA Business Incubation Centre Turin

The Polytechnic University of Turin’s Incubator I3P, the 
Polytechnic University of Turin and Fondazione LINKS 
won the selection of the European Space Agency for the 
construction and management of the new ESA Business 
Incubation Centre Turin, aimed at supporting the formation 
and growth of new Italian start-ups in the aerospace sector. 
The centre is a magnet for attracting high-potential start-
ups, identified by means of three annual selections, that can 
put down roots and grow in our catchment area.

Value of allocation
€200,000 
of which €70,000 from the Boosting Innovation Mission

Digital Open Badges for the Third Sector 

Compagnia has launched an experiment with Digital 
Open Badges for the third sector in partnership with the 
University of Turin’s LabNET SAA School of Management 
and Fondazione Accademia Maurizio Maggiora. The aim is to 
raise awareness of the instrument and its potential at system 
level. Digital Open Badges represent an innovative model 
for assessing skills, especially soft skills and other skills that 
are not certified by institutional education systems. They are 
digital awards, issued according to international standards, 
which are becoming widely used across Europe as a good 
practice for skills certification and validation, and which can 
therefore help people build professional CVs, incorporating 
experiences that are otherwise hard to attribute a measurable 
value to.

Value of allocation
€64,700
of which €40,000 from the Boosting Innovation Mission and 
€24,700 from the Promoting Decent Work Mission 
(People Goal)

53
Planet 
Goal



Annual Report
2021

The Foundation
Profile and history

Annual  
Report 
2021

Annexes

Vento - Venture Originator

Vento is a non-profit venture building programme designed, 
developed and managed by SEI School of Entrepreneurship 
& Innovation in Turin, supported by Exor and in partnership 
with Talent Garden and OGR Tech. Every year, it helps 10 
teams bring scaleable tech companies to the market, in 
response to challenges issued by large companies. Each 
team is given a challenge, formulated by a grouping of 
large companies. Their task is to find a solution that can be 
turned into a fully fledged business with high development 
potential.

Candidates are selected entirely on the basis of their 
entrepreneurial potential, and they do not need to have 
an idea or a team to take part. The top candidates - 
undergraduate students, researchers, doctoral students 
and young people in employment - attend an individual 
interview and then take part in a five-day boot-camp to fully 
demonstrate their entrepreneurial potential. Once selected, 
the 30 aspiring entrepreneurs are split into 10 teams and 
take part in a 4-month full-time venture building programme, 
during which they are paid and helped to develop new 
innovative and scalable tech companies.

On the final Investor Day, the start-ups are presented to an 
audience of Italian and European angels, accelerators and 
venture capital funds, which can decide to invest in the newly 
formed companies, to further support their development.

The programme draws inspiration from the best venture 
builder models that are rapidly establishing themselves in 
the US and Europe: over the past seven years, the number of 
business creation organisations has increased by 625% and 
has been shown to bring major benefits for founders and 
investors alike (Source: Disrupting the Venture Landscape - 
GAN Accelerators).

Vento aims to minimise the failure rate of entrepreneurial 
ideas and to increase the growth potential of new businesses, 
by systematically selecting participants, setting up teams 
and researching the demand from which the company 
originates, with the support of Partner Companies. The 
challenges include creating new markets, targeting new 
customers, using existing technologies for new applications 
and leveraging new trends.

Vento does not take equity holdings in the start-ups it helps 
create, or success fees of any kind: it was founded with the 
support of the holding company Exor which, through Vento, 
is committed to supporting the entrepreneurial projects of 
talented young people as part of its ESG policy.

Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo supports the start-ups 
formed during the programme, by providing the teams with 
the necessary funding to help produce prototypes/proofs 
of concept, as a necessary step in developing the nascent 
business.

Value of allocation
€250,000 

“Rigenera” - financial innovation for the 
social economy

This three-year project promoted by Fondazione Compagnia 
di San Paolo and Fondazione Opes-Lcef is aimed at 
supporting cooperatives and social enterprises by facilitating 
their innovation, independence and economic sustainability, 
using the transformational power of patient and regenerative 
capital.

In its capacity as financial backer and partner, Opes provides 
economic support to third-sector production initiatives in 
the form of recoverable grants, so as to enable about 10 
cooperatives and social enterprises to develop their business 
activities. In the event of a positive economic result, Opes 
has the option to request the return of the paid-up capital 
and to decide, alongside Compagnia, whether to put it at the 
disposal of other third-sector production companies.

As well as financial support, the selected social enterprises 
and cooperatives are provided with due diligence, pre- and 
post-investment mentoring, strategic guidance, managerial/
organisational support and assistance with seeking capital, 
to help draw up and implement an industrial plan.

Kick-starting experimental projects therefore enables 
Compagnia to multiply the impact of resources, generate 
social impact, foster lasting improvements in efficiency 
and sustainability for the beneficiary bodies and deploy a 
pioneering tool from the tool-kit presented in the Multi-Year 
Planning Document 2021-2024.

Value of allocation
€230,000

Lead auxiliary body: Fondazione LINKS

Fondazione LINKS is an applied research centre founded 
by the Polytechnic University of Turin and Compagnia di 
San Paolo, which operates in applied research, innovation 
and technology transfer, bridging the gap between basic 
research and market-readiness.

In addition to its ordinary work, LINKS helps achieve 
Compagnia’s goals according to a three-pronged approach 
involving actions and interventions consistent with 
Compagnia’s strategies, initiatives serving the Goals and 
Missions, and initiatives serving the third-party bodies with 
which Compagnia has partnerships in place.

Value of allocation
€5,300,000
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To encourage organisational and management innovation, 
especially if associated with a technological dimension.

To focus of interventions, including infrastructure interventions, 
as far as possible on one or two facilities in the catchment 
area that have nationally renowned clinical expertise.
 
To create connections between research and practical 
health applications (translational research and personalised 
preventive medicine).

To help strengthen the research carried out by Fondazione 
IIGM and reap value from it, thanks in part to collaboration 
with top scientific institutions (e.g. Human Technopole).

To promote the implementation of the chronic disease 
management plan, which is a new care model – facilitated 
by digital transformation – based on increased recourse to 
home care, the creation of care networks, the operational 
reorganisation of hospitals and clusters and the formulation 
of personalised care plans, within the framework of the 
agreement with Piedmont Regional Council.

To support actions aimed at promoting healthy lifestyles. 
To focus on primary and secondary prevention, physical 
activity, sport and healthy diets, geared towards sustainable 
use of natural capital.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s strategy 

€10.05 m
Grants awarded

33
Interventions undertaken  

Promoting Well-Being  
Mission

12.

SDGs covered

“Hospeedal” call for proposals

Support for the vaccination campaign: 
Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo 
Vaccination Hub

Telemedicina

The aim of the experimental Hospeedal initiative is to 
promote collaboration between public and private actors 
focused on upgrading hospital departments by means of 
projects carried out by third-sector bodies providing support 
functions to hospitals run by health trusts in the Piedmont 
Region. The 2021 edition focused specifically on women’s 
and children’s health.

Value of allocation
€1,575,000

Inaugurated on 21 May 2021, the Fondazione Compagnia 
di San Paolo Vaccination Hub at 112/A Via Gorizia, built in 
partnership the City of Turin Local Health Authority, testifies 
to our Foundation’s vigorous support for the Covid-19 
vaccination campaign. The intervention increased the 
vaccination lines from three to 10, thus enabling the centre 
to keep working seven days a week from 8.00am to 8.00pm. 
As well as being open to the public, the hub became a 
reference point for the third sector, especially in the cultural 
field. The increase in capacity made it possible to vaccinate 
more people in less time (around 85,000 people were 
vaccinated up to 31 December, with an average of around 
600 doses administered per day during the summer), 
thereby promoting the Common Good and putting people 
first - our most pressing priorities during the pandemic. 
Since 2020, we tackled the Covid-19 health emergency by 
working swiftly on the needs highlighted by local health 
facilities, so as to lay the foundations for better access to 
healthcare for everyone after the pandemic. This was the 
rationale for setting up the vaccination hub, in line with the 
strategic objective of enhancing prevention as a means of 
boosting life-long health and the sustainability of the health 
system.

In order to maximise efficiency by combining Compagnia’s 
resources with those of the regional health service, a 
paediatric vaccination hub was opened next-door to the 
adult hub on 16 December 2021, as soon authorisation was 
given to vaccinate children aged 5-11. Thanks to Compagnia’s 
support, it was possible to administer vaccinations from 
Monday to Friday, 5.00pm to 8.00pm, and throughout the 
day on Saturdays and Sundays, so as not to get in the way 
of children’s school, sporting and leisure commitments. 
The interior of the vaccination centre was designed around 
children, and every step in the vaccination process was 
accompanied by games, entertainment and storytelling to 
alleviate children’s anxiety about the jab.

Value of allocation
€1,000,000

The Telemedicina project on enhancing care quality to 
enhance patients’ life quality aims to road-test the use 
of remote health monitoring as a tool for improving 
communication between hospitals and communities, and 
extending the home care model to chronic patients, including 
cancer patients. The project uses a customised technology 
platform and includes training and awareness-raising for 
operators. 

Value of allocation
€900,000

So Far So Near

The So Far So Near project involving nationwide extension 
of the visual rehabilitation services for the developmental 
age provided by Istituto Chiossone in Genoa offers a range 
of visual rehabilitation services for under-18s through a 
combination of face-to-face and remote consultations, on 
the basis of the hub & spoke model, to give patients all over 
Italy access to the services they need. The project involves 
various rehabilitation centres and the creation of a dedicated 
IT portal.

Value of allocation
€90,000

Lead auxiliary body: 
Fondazione IIGM

Fondazione IIGM (Italian Institute for Genomic Medicine) 
continued the process of integration with the Istituto di 
Candiolo – IRCCS, a specialist cancer research and treatment 
centre belonging to the Piedmont-Valle d’Aosta Oncology 
Network. Genomic research linked with translational, 
personalised and regenerative medicine has established 
IIGM’s reputation as a research body and innovation platform 
and demonstrated its ability to serve as a centre for the 
research work of the Città della Salute in Turin, including as 
a host institution, i.e. a centre capable of attracting research 
groups with funding (European groups in particular) 
because it provides an ideal scientific, technological and 
working environment. It has remained a focal point for the 
Planet Goal in biomedical research relating to oncology, in 
line with the Mission Cancer guidelines set down under the 
Horizon Europe framework programme.

Value of allocation
€3,100,000
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Promoting the impact of initiatives on the strengthening 
of local system actors involved in Compagnia’s network of 
international partners.

Improving the quality and increasing the number of people 
involved, by supporting diversity of gender and age in the 
bodies and initiatives supported.

Raising the quality of scientific production, monitoring its 
dissemination in the academic and institutional world and its 
impact on public opinion and decision-makers.

Promoting international training and capacity-building 
initiatives, thus providing young people at the start of their 
careers with opportunities for participation.

Helping boost and diversify revenue streams, thereby 
supporting the gradual economic independence of the 
beneficiary bodies and reducing their dependence on 
Compagnia.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

€3.05 m
Grants awarded

18
Interventions 
undertaken  

Fostering International Opportunities  
Mission

13.

SDGs covered

Promoting cooperation and prosperity in 
the Mediterranean area T20

Valuing and leveraging strategic partnerships (IAI, ECFR, 
GMF): Med Strategy Group GMF, New Med IAI, Rome MED 
Dialogues ISPI, MENA Forum ECFR, Turkey Observatory 
CeSPI, the work of SRM.

Value of allocation
€460,000

Promoting and relaunching the process of 
European integration 

Sharpening the focus of the research and outreach work of 
Fondazione Centro Studi sul Federalismo (CSF), of which 
Compagnia is a founder member.

Value of allocation
€400,000

Consolidating transatlantic relations 

Valuing and leveraging strategic partnerships (IAI, ECFR, 
GMF): Transatlantic Security Symposium IAI, GMF Cities 
Programme. 

Value of allocation
€130,000

Fostering new leadership in Turin and 
worldwide 

Strengthening the training activities of the UN Hub in 
Turin (ITC ILO, UNSSC) and consolidation of international 
scholarship programmes (ECFR Pan European Fellowship, 
NATO Defense College Junior Fellowship). 

Value of allocation
€800,000

Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo / 
ECFR Pan European Fellowship

Under the strategic partnership between the two 
organisations, the European Council on Foreign Relations 
(ECFR) and Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo have 
drawn up a Pan European Fellowship programme. Its aim 
is to support capacity building for the benefit of young 
researchers, in order to boost collaboration between 
the ECFR, one of Compagnia’s strategic partners, and 
some of the bodies it works with at local and national 
level. The programme is aimed at young researchers and 
consists of training in various fields, including research & 
advocacy, network-building, event management, strategic 
communication and European policy, with a particular 
emphasis on foreign and security policy. Each fellowship 
lasts four months and is divided into two phases. The first 
is spent in one of the ECFR’s European offices (in London, 
Paris, Berlin or Rome) and the second is spent at one of 
Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s partner institutions 
in Turin. Throughout the programme, under the supervision 
of ECFR experts and the host institution in Turin, fellows 
conduct a research project in a subject area such as the 
Middle East and North Africa, Turkey, the Western Balkans, 
migration, cyber security or European foreign policy on 
security and defence. The Turin-based host institutions 
involved in the Fellowship Programme in 2021 included 
Scuola di Applicazione dell’Esercito Italiano (part of the 
Italian army’s officer training academy) and Fondazione 
Centro Studi sul Federalismo.

Value of allocation
€57,000 
under the strategic partnership between ECFR and 
Compagnia with a total value of €300,000

For the first time ever, Italy held the Presidency of the 
G20 in 2021. An international forum for the world’s leading 
economies, the G20 bases its agenda on recommendations 
from civil society organisations from all over the world, 
structured into engagement groups. Think20 (T20), one of 
the groups recognised by the G20, is made up of think-tanks 
and research institutes from the 20 member states. T20 
operates independently of national governments and makes 
policy proposals based on research and empirical evidence 
to support the G20 process and leaders. T20 thus facilitates 
interaction between the G20 and the international academic 
and research community, and helps raise awareness of global 
issues among a broader public.

Istituto Affari Internazionali (IAI), one of Compagnia’s 
strategic partners, was appointed as a G20 scientific partner 
by the Presidency of Italy’s Council of Ministers. The IAI was 
backed up by Istituto per gli Studi di Politica Internazionale 
(ISPI), of which Compagnia is a supporting member, in the Co- 
Presidency of the T20, also at the behest of the Presidency of 
Italy’s Council of Ministers. Compagnia contributed directly 
to T20 in the form of grants of €75,000 to the IAI for the 
T20 Inception Conference and the coordination of the task 
forces, and €75,000 to ISPI for general T20 coordination. 
Compagnia also played a direct operational and scientific 
role in the proceedings, with staff members taking part in 
the work of T20, and its Chair, Francesco Profumo, chairing 
the T20 Task Force 7, dedicated to “Infrastructure Investment 
and Financing”.

Value of allocation
€150,000
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To improve the condition of our natural capital, by recognising 
that the quality and functionality of natural systems are 
assets for local development and essential components of 
human health and well-being.

To support processes designed to accelerate the 
environmental and energy transition.

To encourage the spread of green innovation aimed at 
making food production and consumption healthier and 
more sustainable.

To raise awareness of climate change issues and support 
local efforts to build resilience to climate-change challenges.

The building-blocks of the Mission’s 
strategy 

€3.29 m
Grants awarded

32
Interventions 
undertaken  

Protecting the Environment  
Mission

14.

SDGs covered

“Green Donors” call for proposals

Sea TY Platform F20

Dissemination events

The environmental crowdfunding campaigns triggered by 
the Green Donors call for proposals were completed in 2021. 
On completion of a training course for the participating 
bodies, to help formulate their goals and communication, 
11 crowdfunding campaigns were launched, which collected 
donations from over 1200 people, thus attaining the 
specified targets and enabling the launch of 11 environmental 
sustainability projects in Piedmont and Liguria.

Value of allocation
€200,000

The retrieval of abandoned fishing nets from the Secche 
di Santo Stefano in the province of Imperia, under the Sea 
TY project (in conjunction with the Aworld app) and the 
Plogging World Championship - a combined running and 
litter collection race held in the municipalities of Val Pellice 
- are two events enabled by Fondazione Compagnia di San 
Paolo, which were not only intrinsically significant but also 
attracted a lot of media attention for educational purposes. 

Value of allocation
€45,900

The Protecting the Environment Mission has forged 
international links by taking part, on behalf of Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo, in the work of Platform F20, the 
international network of foundations committed to achieving 
the Sustainable Development Goals in G20 countries. 

Value of allocation
€20,000

Accademia dei Lincei, Festival Cinemambiente, Museo A 
come Ambiente and Legambiente Piemonte Valle d’Aosta 
all received support for their efforts to run annual events 
aimed at high-profile dissemination and mass participation in 
relation to culture and environmental awareness.. 

Value of allocation
€145,000
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“Mutamenti” - Ideas and action for a 
changing climate

The call for proposals drawn up in conjunction with 
Fondazione CMCC - Centro Euro Mediterraneo sui 
Cambiamenti Climatici was issued in April 2021 with a view 
to increasing the resilience of Piedmont, Valle d’Aosta and 
the Ligurian hinterland to the impacts of climate change.

These areas need to equip themselves with tailored 
policies and instruments, develop new economic, social 
and environmental models to adapt to and withstand the 
long-term stresses caused by climate change, develop 
the necessary resilience and help communities prepare to 
respond effectively to the challenges posed by climate change.

The call targeted administrations in Piedmont, Valle 
d’Aosta and the Ligurian hinterland with populations 
of less than 20,000 people. Its aims were to enhance 
understanding of climate change (CC) and future climate 
scenarios, raise awareness of the impacts of CC on people, 
the environment and the economy, based on data and 
analysis; to inform people about the framework of global, 
European and national strategic policies on adaptation to 
CC and project funding opportunities arising from these 
policies; to support the selected areas in the design and 
implementation of local actions to adapt to climate change; 
and to support the design and subsequent implementation 
of specific CC-adaptation initiatives.

The call was divided into two phases and made use of a 
range of tools from Compagnia’s operational tool-kit. Twelve 
areas were selected in the first phase, each of which received 
a grant of up to 20,000 euros to cover the cost of design 
and co-design. The winning candidates also benefited from 
individual and group training and project guidance, curated 
by Fondazione CMCC, with a view to providing the necessary 
data and other input for the detailed design of the proposed 
local adaptation initiatives. The winners were given climate 
data and scenarios in a simpler, more user-friendly format for 
distribution among local communities to raise awareness of 
the risks associated with climate change.

The second phase of the call for proposals, scheduled for the 
spring of 2022, will lead to the selection of the best and most 
effective proposals, which will be awarded grant funding to 
facilitate their practical implementation.

Value of allocation
€900,000

“Energia Inclusiva” - Innovators against 
energy poverty

Formulated by Compagnia di San Paolo’s Protecting the 
Environment Mission and Boosting Innovation Mission in 
partnership with Fondazione SNAM was issued in February 
2021 with a view to identifying, selecting, supporting and 
guiding innovative and environmentally friendly solutions to 
combat the rise in energy poverty.

This nationwide call for proposals benefited from technical 
support from the Polytechnic University of Turin’s Incubator 
I3P, scientific support from Ashoka Italia and support from 
Fondazione Accenture as a digital partner.

The initiative is innovative for two reasons. Firstly, energy 
poverty is a growing problem that has attracted very little 
research or specific initiatives to counter it; and secondly, the 
collaboration between the two Foundations and their method 
represent a fresh, experimental departure that has enabled 
Compagnia to acquire new skills and establish connections 
and relationships outside its normal catchment area.

The call was divided into two phases. The first involved the 
selection of 13 proposals from six regions of Italy. Thanks 
to the Polytechnic University of Turin’s Incubator I3P, these 
proposals received three months of tailored, specialist 
guidance and consulting to help refine their design and 
develop their potential.

The 13 proposals all involved different methods and 
approaches but shared a common commitment to addressing 
the issue of energy poverty by giving social innovators the task 
of seeking out green solutions – ideally with entrepreneurial 
potential – capable of generating broad, widespread change 
at system level.

On completion of the acceleration process, which 
provided eight hours of plenary training and 325 hours 
of one-to-one coaching, four projects were selected, 
which will be implemented in the coming months in 
Piedmont, Lombardy, Emilia-Romagna, Lazio and Sardinia.  
Each project received a grant of between 40,000 and 
50,000 euros.

Value of allocation
€215,000
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The work of the cross-cutting functions, which are 
organised into Departments and Offices, facilitate 
Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s overall operation 
and its institutional and grant-making activity in particular. 
They are repositories of skills and specialist knowledge, 
they work in concert with each other and with the Goals 
and Missions, they receive and manage special projects, 
including in relation to the Compagnia Group, and they 
represent an additional means by which Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo can understand and meet the 
needs of its catchment area. 

The cross-cutting functions.
Highlights of 2021.

4.

In 2021, the Impact Innovation Department (IID) channelled 
its efforts into the fields outlined in the MYPD 2021-24. 
These included finance for innovation, with an emphasis on 
ecosystem development by means of coordinated action with 
Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s Finance Department, 
and serving as a strategic, cross-cutting function for the 
Foundation and its Goals and Missions. 

The first of these strands saw the completion of the second 
edition of the Techstars Smart Mobility Accelerator, an 
acceleration programme managed in partnership with Intesa 
Sanpaolo Innovation Center and Fondazione CRT. If we 
take the 23 start-ups from three continents accelerated in 
2020 and 2021 as a unit of analysis, the aggregated data as 
at 31/12/2021 reveals some significant results: €26.5 million 
of VC funding collected in the post-programme phase, 183 
jobs created, 19 PoC contracts with Italian clients, two start-
ups have opened bases in Turin and a third has received 
guidance on opening an Italian branch. Open calls for 
proposals for two further initiatives designed to support the 
innovation ecosystem were launched in 2021, namely ESA 
BIC Turin, an incubation centre for the space economy, and 
Magic Spectrum, a digital acceleration programme focused 
on 5G and IoT technologies. Completing its ecosystem 
development work, the Department made a contribution on 
the technical and policy-making front to numerous entities 
co-governed by Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo, either 
directly (Fondazione LINKS, LIFTT) or indirectly (ITHACA 
Associazione, ITHACA S.r.l., I3P and 2i3T). With regard to 
support for institutional activity in 2021, the IID continued to 
work on the management and exploitation of Compagnia’s 
data assets. 2021 saw the definitive publication of the CSP 
Data Hub Gateway Web, an internal access portal developed 
over the past three years, which hosts Compagnia’s 
information assets.  

Compagnia’s staff now have quick, intelligent access to the 
Foundation’s historical grant-making data, which includes 
both approved and rejected applications. 30 dashboards 
are available for consultation and over 80% of staff are now 
using this innovative portal, for a total of almost 5,000 visits. 
To encourage use of the CSP Data Hub, Compagnia staff 
received over 60 hours of training. The related Mission 

Dashboards project also reached completion, thus giving 
Compagnia staff access to a set of 15 dashboards fed with 
Open Data for effective interpretation of local needs: by 
hooking up with 50 open databases, the project generates 
130 indicators, set out with a graphic design geared 
towards at-a-glance understanding. 2021 also saw the start 
of a major project for monitoring the Strategic Plan 2021-
2024, which introduced ongoing reporting of the impact of 
Compagnia’s initiatives on its catchment area. 700 impact 
indicators and over 60 data collection questionnaires were 
developed in preparation for the process. The CSP Data Hub 
initiative also included the Finance Department’s advanced 
data management project, an internal service for data 
extraction, analysis and visualisation, and for disseminating 
the Foundation’s experiences to the outside world by way 
of data philanthropy. The Department was also given the 
task of coordinating Compagnia Group’s Data Science Task 
Force. 

With regard to accelerating innovation, in 2021 the IID was 
tasked with conducting a feasibility study for the Next 
Generation We call for proposals. Next Generation We is a 
grant-making initiative launched in line with the Strategic 
Plan 2021-2024, designed to create the conditions for 
public administrative bodies in the catchment area to make 
best use of the opportunities made available by National 
Recovery and Resilience Plan. As this was an extraordinary 
call for proposals with a highly innovative purpose, the IID 
took on the task of analysing the context, designing the call 
and involving key institutional stakeholders.  

The IID played a key role in project management for 
major, high-complexity projects in 2021, by supporting 
Turin’s application to host the International Festival of 
Economics and then managing the preparation for the event. 
Considerable effort went into building relations with the 
local committee, coordinated by the Collegio Carlo Alberto, 
which encompasses a wide range of Turin-based players that 
provide financial and institutional support for the initiative.

4.1 High-Impact Innovation Department 
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A role recently taken on by Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo, involving 
constant commitment on the part of the Impact Innovation Department

The journey from lab to 
market

A strategy for cultivating a 
vibrant innovation ecosystem 
by means of a mix of patient 
capital, grant-making and multi-
disciplinary expertise

Accelerator platform

A “blended finance” instrument 
designed to put Turin on the 
European map of innovation 
ecosystems.

Techstars 
Accelerator 
Programme

A pioneering programme 
and powerful magnet  to 
attract high-potential start-
ups to settle and grow in our 
catchment area.

A joint initiative by:

Building innovation ecosystems

start-ups  
supported in 2021

programmes  
under preparation

initiatives 
put in place

public and private partners 
involved

programmes at the open-call 
stage

acceleration  
initiatives

200 2

30+
programme 
ready for launch

1

50+ 2

6
programme already in place for 
several years

1

SDGs covered

Quality of accelerated 
start-ups

Programme structure

Results
Relations with the 
catchment area

Access to human 
capital

Visibility for the Turin 
eco-system

of funding in the post-
programme phase

€26.5 m
PoC contracts with local 
clients

19
mentors supporting the 
programme

150+
participants in the 
inaugural Demo Day

5,000+

jobs created in the wake 
of the programme

183
start-ups guided through the 
opening of an Italian branch

1
meetings between mentors 
and start-ups (per year)

~1,500
foreign accredited investors
84%

total revenues in FY 2021

€6.6 m
start-ups opened sites in 
Turin

2
mentors selected by the 
Foundation

24
accredited investors 
among the participants

514

* Unit of analysis: 23 start-ups accelerated in the 2020 and 2021 editions, aggregated data as at 31/12/2021.

editions (“classes”) on 
the programme

of investment  
from partners

early-stage start-ups
selected per class

of investment received 
by each start-up

4 €12m + $120K12
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In 2021, the department fulfilled its main functions in relation 
to the deployment of the MYPD 2021-2024, by helping design 
the architecture for monitoring the MYPD, coordinating the 
preparation of the 2022 Annual Planning Document (as well 
as the 2020 Annual Report), overseeing the advanced eval-
uation of Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s institutional 
activity, conducting three in-depth studies (birth-rate policies, 
European research on philanthropy and common goods), and 
providing analytical support to Compagnia’s Goals, Missions 
and Governance.

While desk-based work remained relatively unaffected by 
the pandemic, certain study and research activities planned 
for 2021, such as the European Conference on “Philanthropy 
Research” and the Common Goods Research Project, suffered 
operational delays and were carried forward into 2022.

This process was accompanied by the publication of the 
weekly internal newsletter “Numeri & Filantropia”, which 
focuses on the latest developments in philanthropy and the 
social sector, and has now reached over 500 editions.

In pursuance of its evaluation role, the Department completed 
a number of complex operations, using a variety of analytical 
models. All the projects funded by Fondazione Compagnia 
di San Paolo are subject to rigorous progress monitoring by 
the relevant managers. The term “evaluation” refers to the 
in-depth analyses that describe and explain the processes 
involved in implementing projects and/or isolating their true 
impact on the situation and behaviours of beneficiaries.

The department is responsible for conducting various types 
of counterfactual analysis (in various ways), where useful and 
possible, as well as implementation analyses (spotlighting the 
positive and negative operating mechanisms of the projects) 
and advanced monitoring, which examine the quantifiable 
dimensions of projects and the degree of satisfaction of final 
beneficiaries.

The evidence that emerges from evaluations is sum-
marised and systematically published in the Evalu-
ation Library and can be consulted at https://www.
compagniadisanpaolo.it/it/biblioteca-valutazione/.  
Where appropriate, the outcomes of evaluations have been 
written up in scientific articles and submitted to academic 
journals, to facilitate the circulation of the ideas and evidence 
concerned.

The evaluations in progress at the end of 2021 included 29 
impact assessments (including 15 counterfactual) and 45 
implementation analyses or advanced monitoring programmes.  
As shown in Figure 5.1, 19 evaluations have been assigned 
to external evaluators, 8 are being carried out internally by 
the Planning, Research and Evaluation Department, and 2 
are being carried out by the Impact Innovation Department. 
A total sum of approximately €849,000 was allocated to 
external evaluations. This equates to 0.5% of total average 
annual funding disbursed by Fondazione Compagnia di San 
Paolo in the period 2016-2019.

4.2 Planning, Research and Evaluation 
Department

ASVAPP
Associazione per lo Sviluppo  

della Valutazione e l’Analisi 
delle Politiche Pubbliche

Ircres
Istituto di Ricerca sulla Crescita 
Economica Sostenibile

Fondazione  
Santagata 

per l’Economia della Cultura

FRdB
Fondazione Ing. Rodolfo 
Debenedetti 

Isnet
Associazione per lo sviluppo delle 
imprese sociali 

Prof. Bona
University of Turin

Santero, Poy, De Luca
University of Turin and University 
of Eastern Piedmont

FIGURE 4.1 BODIES APPOINTED TO CONDUCT EVALUATIONS

PRED
Planning, Research and 
Evaluation Department

CCA
Fondazione Collegio Carlo 

Alberto

Codici
Centro per i Diritti del 
Cittadino

ASVAPP 
+ CCA 

Department of Culture, 
Politics and Society

University of Turin

CCA 
+ Secondo Welfare 

   PRED 
+ Disarò

EXTERNAL 
EVALUATION BODIES

INTERNAL 
EVALUATION BODIES
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With the review of Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s 
organisational configuration and its alignment with the UN’s 
Agenda 2030 for sustainable development, the Operations 
Department started work in 2021 on reinforcing, streamlining, 
sharing and enhancing the sustainability of all the processes 
and activities it undertakes in support of institutional action. 
Within the broader strategy set down in the MYPD 2021-24, it 
embraced the values of well-being, equity, equality – including 
gender equality – and sustainable organisational and production 
systems, with a view to constantly improving Compagnia’s 
organisational quality.

On this basis, the Department channelled considerable effort in 
2021 into defining the optimum alignment between Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo’s strategic goals and its operational 
tooling, in terms of processes and controls, by taking the action 
set out below.

The acquisition of a document management application made 
it possible to create workflows modelled on the Foundation’s 
organisational processes. The Department thus enhanced the 
traceability of all documentation and facilitated the capitalisation 
of the knowledge generated and lessons learned At the time 
of writing, improvements are still being made to the use of the 
document management application and studies are in progress 
to determine whether to extend it to processes and documents 
that the Foundation considers particularly sensitive.

A project designed to guide Compagnia towards obtaining 
ISO 9001 quality system certification by the late spring of 
2022 got under way in the second half of 2021. This forms 
part of a broader effort that will also include obtaining Social 
Accountability certification (SA 8000), so as to equip the 
organisation with a management system that improves the 
effectiveness and efficiency of service delivery, increases the 
satisfaction of external and internal stakeholders and keeps 
Foundation’s corpus of processes and procedures up-to-date 
and effective.

Agile working arrangements have been put in place by upgrading 
the IT infrastructure, enhancing the organisation of work and 
providing specific training on goals-based work methods.

Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo has also set itself the goal 
of developing and implementing an in-house programme of 
cultural evolution on diversity and inclusion, so as to increase 
its alignment with Agenda 2030, the Sustainable Development 

Goals and the role played by the Foundation as an agent of 
local development in support of equity and inclusion initiatives. 
Compagnia started offering training to teams and individuals in 
2021 with a view to raising awareness of inclusion and diversity 
and involving organisers in delivering change. Staff took part in 
practical initiatives, the role of internal diversity and inclusion 
facilitator was created and work was done at the organisational 
level on context, rules and processes.

As part of the Diversity and Inclusion project, the Foundation 
took part, alongside other organisations, in a work group run 
by Fondazione SNAM in collaboration with Generazione Donna 
and Valore D, on care work and parenting, both of which play 
a major role in and have significant effects on both work and 
family life.

Compagnia also held discussions with its main software supplier 
on improving reporting processes and administrative monitoring 
procedures, in such a way as to make them less burdensome, 
without any loss of information or transparency. Closer collaboration 
with the institutional sector has been achieved in this area, with 
integrated actions for beneficiary bodies, providing them with 
more structured, effective and flexible development to help 
them respond promptly to the relevant challenges.

4.3 Operations Department

2021 marked the launch year of the MYPD 2021-24, which maps 
out the journey we intend to take over the next four years:  
“Compagnia di San Paolo for the common good since 1563. 
The choice for a sustainable future”.

The goal that the Communications Department set itself was 
therefore to communicate the strategic role of Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo in the local, national and international 
landscape, while explaining its continuities and innovations in 
relation to previous actions. The specific characteristics of this 
plan - a proactive approach, engagement and exchange with 
stakeholder communities, strategic communication - prompted 
a review of the way the Communication sector operates, which 
has now been completed.

Our alignment with the United Nations’ Agenda 2030, the 
European Next Generation EU Plan and Italy’s National Recovery 
and Resilience Plan has given us a responsibility to communicate 
effectively. Promoting cultural change and an integrated vision 
of sustainable development, while making certain topics on 
the European and Italian Agenda comprehensible, were the 
leitmotifs of our strategic action in addition to our everyday 
work on projects.
Using a combination of traditional communication tools and 
innovative media and languages, we have sent out the message 
that Compagnia has 500 years of history behind it but is 
changing pace and aligning with national and international 
recovery plans. By retaining two levels of planning – a strategic 
level, aimed at communication goals, and an operational level, 
focused on communication actions – we have been able to use 
the plan to guide our communication work, in terms of both 
perspective and everyday practice.

We have also set ourselves a social-media strategy. In terms of 
content, each subject has been covered using a specific tone 
of communication on the different communication channels, 
according to general, shared criteria. We have identified key 
concepts for each Mission, to help guide our storytelling and 
position the Foundation on the basis of the issues addressed 
in the Strategic Plan.

Obviously everyone made efforts in 2021 to align their communication 
with the ongoing pandemic crisis. We took two distinct approaches 
on this front, in accordance with the guidelines issued by top 
management. The first involved short-term action focusing on 
Compagnia’s emergency responses, which remained in place in 
the recovery phase. The second took a medium-term perspective, 
emphasising Compagnia’s system-oriented initiatives and its 
role as an agent of development, skilled in “unleashing the 
potential of organised civil society” with which we work, and 
collaborating with local public bodies according to a systemic 
approach and the principle of subsidiarity.
The Communication Department’s work in 2021 also involved a 
major campaign to align FCSP’s auxiliary bodies, both at brand 
level and in terms of coordination, so as to strengthen people’s 
perception of them as members of an integrated “Group”.

We have inaugurated a Newsletter to the outside world as 
a means of increasing the lead collection base and raising 
awareness of Compagnia among a wider and yet qualified 
audience.

In terms of internal communication, we continued our #mentrerestoacasa 
column (designed to foster a “professional community” and 
offer training for people working from home), we designed and 
delivered webinars of use to the Goals, Missions and Departments 
in conjunction with all the colleagues involved, and facilitated 
connection and synergy between the Goals and auxiliary bodies.

4.4 Communication
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The various tools of innovation in the tool-kit presented 
in the MYPD 2021-24 include Fondazione Compagnia di 
San Paolo’s role as a philanthropic intermediary. This type 
of function consists in setting up a technical structure to 
help private donors put their philanthropic intentions into 
practice by minimising the bureaucratic and administrative 
commitments that these choices entail. Even giving is not 
always straightforward, and not everyone is prepared to 
build legal entities, such as foundations, to systematically 
translate their generosity into action and ensure its 
longevity. Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s embrace 
of Philanthropy as a Service (PHaaS) turns the organisation 
into an open philanthropic platform. Just as it used to be in 
the early years following its formation in 1563, Compagnia is 
at the service – free of charge – of philanthropists who want 
to establish projects for the common good.

In recent years too, Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo has 
earned the trust of people who have donated substantial 
sums to it in order to achieve philanthropic purposes 
consistent with its sensitivity and vision of the world. In 2021, 
Compagnia gave this work a definitive but deliberately flexible 
structure, by setting up Philanthropic Funds that draw upon 
the expertise and efforts of Compagnia di San Paolo’s staff to 
carry out projects close to donors’ hearts, while adopting a 
shared communication policy with the person or family who 
set up the fund. Interestingly, donors tended to choose types 
of projects that Compagnia has already undertaken, and on 
which it therefore had considerable know-how to offer.

Over its two-year trial and officialisation period, the PHaaS 
project collected some 4 million euros to fund initiatives 
in Piedmont (VCO + Val della Torre), Valle d’Aosta (Aosta), 
Lombardia (Pavia) and Senegal. One representative 
example? A new “Spazio 0-6” will open in Pavia in February, 
dedicated to early-years education for all, financed entirely 
by a private donor and implemented by Compagnia Group’s 
specialist staff.

PHaaS - Compagnia as a philanthropic 
intermediary: first results
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On the basis of the guidance provided by the Presidency 
Committee of ACRI on 12 September 2012, the Financial 
Reporting and Tax Affairs Committee drew up a glossary 
of special financial statement captions at its meeting on 7 
November 2012, with a view to identifying consistent criteria 
for setting out the financial statement captions in the Notes 
to the Financial Statements so as to make them easier to 
understand.

The financial statements are therefore drawn up in accordance 
with article 9 of Italian legislative decree 153 of 17 May 1999, 
the requirements of the Italian civil code, as far as compatible, 
and the national accounting standards laid down by the 
Organismo Italiano di Contabilità (OIC).

As Supervisory Authority, the Italian Ministry of Finance and 
the Economy is responsible for regulating the procedures 
for preparing and evaluating the financial statements and 
the means of publishing them. Guidance on this is currently 
provided by the Measure of the Italian Ministry of the Treasury 
dated 19 April 2001, published in the Official Journal of 
the Republic of Italy No. 96 on 26 April of the same year.

As stated in the Notes to the Financial Statements, under 
Italian legislative decree 139/2015, with effect from 1 January 
2016, major changes have been made to the statutory 
provisions set down in articles 2421 to 2435 of the Italian 
civil code, which also concern Foundations, as established in 
article 9, paragraph 2 of Legislative Decree 153/99.

In the wake of these legislative changes, the Organismo 
Italiano di Contabilità has also revised its national accounting 
standards. These changes were examined by the ACRI 
Financial Reporting and Tax Affairs Committee, taking account 
of the Measure of the Ministry of the Treasury, the financial 
statements and the economic plan dated 19 April 2001 and 
the ACRI/MEF Protocol of Understanding dated 22 April 
2015, with a view to verifying its applicability to Foundations, 
in accordance with article 9, paragraph 2 of legislative 
decree 153/99, according to which the aforementioned 
statutory provisions are “observed as applicable”.

Annexes

The MEF measure is deemed to be a special rule, which makes 
a positive interpretation of the “as applicable” criterion, 
bearing in mind that the same ministry cites it and requires its 
application for the preparation of financial statements when 
the annual decree on capital provisions is issued.

Having established this, the financial statements consist of:
 	the Balance Sheet, which shows the assets and liabilities 

that constitute the Foundation’s net assets;
 	the Income Statement, showing income earned and 

expenses incurred in the year, as well as the results of 
the valuation activity carried out, with the subsequent 
allocation of the net resources generated;

 	the Cash Flow Statement, showing the effects of economic 
and financial factors on the Foundation’s liquidity and 
indebtedness, by reconstructing the flows of income and 
expenditure on the basis of movements in the financial 
statement captions over the course of the financial year, 
in order to highlight the contribution made by the typical 
areas of Foundation’s work (a) operating profit/loss for 
the year; b) institutional activity; (c) investment and asset 
management;

 	The Notes to the Financial Statements, which provide 
information about each caption in the financial statements.

The financial statements are accompanied by the Report on 
Operations, which contains the economic and financial report 
and the mission report.

As well as providing an overview of the Foundation’s economic 
situation, the economic and financial report provides 
information about financial management performance, the 
results achieved in the period and the investment strategy 
adopted, with particular reference to the time horizon, 
performance targets, portfolio composition and exposure to 
risk.

The mission report sets out the institutional work carried out 
by the Foundation, providing a range of information, including 
the resolutions passed during the year and the beneficiaries 
of the interventions.

The format of the income statement takes account of the 
peculiarities of Foundations as non-commercial entities 
dedicated to socially useful purposes. 

It can be divided into two parts:
 	the first provides a breakdown of the composition of the 

resources generated in the year, as measured by the surplus 
for the year;

 	the second shows the shares of the surplus allocated 
to capital reserves and to the pursuit of constitutional 
objectives, in accordance with the applicable legal 
requirements.

The “Tax” caption in the income statement does not indicate 
the total amount of tax paid by the Foundation and does not 
therefore show the full tax burden because, under ministerial 
provisions, financial revenues subject to withholding tax 
and substitute tax (e.g. interest and profit/loss from asset 
management) must be accounted for after tax. The total 
amount of tax paid by the Foundation is shown in the Notes 
to the Financial Statements.

For ease of understanding, the contents of the typical main 
captions is set out below.

1. 	Key to typical financial statement captions

2.	Performance indicators

3.	 Information about derivatives

4.	Breakdown of the Balance Sheet and Income Statement

5. 	Comparative analysis

6. 	Calculation of the quota payable to the Voluntary Work Fund

7. 	Statement of changes in the Voluntary Work Fund

8. 	Statement of changes in net assets

9. 	Statements of legacies and onerous donations
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BALANCE SHEET

Net assets
Endowment fund

Shows the Foundation’s endowments. It consists of the endowment fund accruing 
to the Foundation following the initial transfer of the banking company of the 
original Istituto Bancario San Paolo di Torino, plus the reserves set aside in the 
following years.

Net assets
Reserve arising from revaluations and capital 

gains

Shows revaluations and capital gains arising from the sale of shares in the transferee 
bank after the initial transfer.

Net assets
Mandatory reserve

This is funded annually with a share of the surplus for the year, for the purpose 
of safeguarding the value of assets. The mandatory share of the surplus to be 
allocated to the reserve is determined by the Supervisory Authority from one year 
to the next, and remains to date at 20% of the surplus.

Net assets
Asset replenishment reserve

This is funded with a share of the surplus for the year, for the purpose (like the 
mandatory reserve) of safeguarding the value of assets. The share of the surplus 
to be allocated to the reserve is determined annually by the Supervisory Authority, 
and remains to date at a maximum of 15% of the surplus. This provision is optional.

Funds for institutional activity
Funds for grant-making in key sectors and 

other constitutional sectors

These funds are for carrying out institutional activities. They are maintained with 
shares of the surplus for the year and are used to fund grant-making.

Funds for institutional activity
Grant stabilisation fund

The grant stabilisation fund is maintained with a share of the surplus for the year, 
with a view to ensuring stable flows of resources for institutional purposes over a 
multi-year time horizon.

Funds for institutional activity
Other funds

These funds receive provisions made in connection with investments in securities 
and real estate, channelled directly into the pursuit of institutional objectives.

Funds for institutional activity
Contributions from third parties for 

institutional purposes

This item includes, for example, contributions received in support of institutional 
projects carried out by the Foundation in partnership with third-party institutional 
bodies, and resources arising from legacies and onerous donations.

Funds for institutional activity
Fund for grant-making falling within the scope 

of article 1, paragraph 47 of Italian law 178 of 

2020

This newly introduced caption (MEF letter dated 30 July 2021, prot. DT 67077) 
shows the sums relating to tax relief pursuant to article 1, paragraphs 44 to 47 of 
Law 178 of 2020, as a balancing entry to caption 13-bis of the income statement, 
for the purpose of pursuing institutional objectives.

Grants awarded
On the liabilities side of the balance sheet, the caption represents the amount of 
funding awarded by the Foundation’s governing bodies that was not yet liquidated 
at the end of the financial year.

Voluntary work fund

This was established under article 15 of law 266 of 1991 for the purpose of funding 
Centri di Servizio per il Volontariato (service centres for voluntary organisations). 
The annual provision is one fifteenth of the surplus, net of the provision for the 
mandatory reserve and the minimum share to be allocated to key sectors.

INCOME STATEMENT

Surplus for the year

Shows the amount of resources to be allocated to institutional activity and 
safeguarding the assets. It represents the difference between income and operating 
costs plus tax. The allocations established by the law are determined on the basis 
of the surplus.

Grants awarded during the year

This is the sum of grants awarded during the year on the basis of the current 
operating surplus during the same period. The caption does not show all institutional 
activity carried out by the Foundation, because it does not include grants awarded 
from resources allocated to Funds for institutional activity.

Allocations to Funds for institutional activity These are funds for carrying out institutional activities and are maintained with 
shares of the surplus for the year.

Remaining surplus The unallocated part of the surplus, carried forward to future years.

   CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash generated (absorbed) by operations in 
the financial year

This shows the amount of cash generated (or absorbed) by operations undertaken 
in the financial year by reconstructing flows based on movements during the year 
in financial statement captions relating to the surplus, allocations to funds and 
changes in operating debit and credits items.

Cash absorbed (generated) by grant-making 
operations

This shows the amount of cash absorbed by grant-making operations, by 
reconstructing payment flows relating to grants, funds for institutional activities 
and the voluntary work fund.

Cash generated (absorbed) by changes in 
items

Shows the amount of cash generated (or absorbed) by changes in asset items 
(fixed assets, current financial instruments and loan credits/debits).
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Providing accurate information on operations is becoming 
increasingly important and topical in the world of 
Foundations, which have long seen the need to back up the 
information they provide about institutional activity with 
information about their performance.

In order to increase the availability of financial statement 
information, significant performance indicators identified 
by the ACRI Financial Reporting and Tax Affairs Committee 
have been annexed to the financial statements since financial 
year 2012. This helps show Foundations’ results more clearly 
and consistently.

The indicators in question relate to the most significant 
areas of Foundations’ performance and provide a concise 
overview, while also enabling comparisons to be made more 
easily by non-specialist readers than is possible with financial 
statement information, regardless of how clear it may be.

The indicators cover profitability, efficiency of management 
and the composition of investments.

The following values, around which the indicators have been 
developed, are believed to adequately represent the various 
situations of individual entities:

	 assets, as an indicator of the total amount of permanently 
available assets;

	 total net income, as an indicator of the value generated by 
the use of the available resources;

	 funding awarded, as an indicator of the resources allocated 
to institutional activity.

As far as balance sheet figures are concerned, the proposed 
indicators are calculated on the basis of current values, 
determined according to the criteria set down herein, with 
reference to the reporting of financial assets in the Notes to 
the Financial Statements.

Annexes
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2021 2020

Profitability indicators

Indicator 1 
Total net income / Assets 4.06% 2.68%

Indicator 2 
Total net income / Total assets 3.62% 2.48%

Indicator 3 
Surplus for the year / Assets 3.39% 2.37%

Efficiency indicators

Indicator 1 
Average operating costs / Average total net income 6.28% 6.24%

Indicator 2 
Average operating costs / Average funding awarded 8.41% 8.26%

Indicator 3 
Operating costs / Assets 0.21% 0.25%

Indicators of institutional activity

Indicator 1 
Funding awarded / Assets 2.14% 2.37%

Indicator 2 
Grant stabilisation fund / funding awarded 2.02* 2.23*

Investment composition indicator

Indicator 1
Equity investments in the transferee bank / Total assets at year’s end 32.39% 29.49%

* Indicator not expressed as a percentage.

1. 	Key to typical financial statement captions

2.	Performance indicators

3.	 Information about derivatives

4.	Breakdown of the Balance Sheet and Income Statement

5. 	Comparative analysis

6. 	Calculation of the quota payable to the Voluntary Work Fund

7. 	Statement of changes in the Voluntary Work Fund

8. 	Statement of changes in net assets

9. 	Statements of legacies and onerous donations
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Profitability

Indicator 1  
Total net income

=    
Assets

The indicator provides a measure of the return on the 
average assets invested by the Foundation in the year, 
valued at current values.

Note: The income is net of the costs incurred by the 
Foundation for the management of investments, such as fees 
paid to the investment manager, fees for trading securities, 
interest payable (if related to the investment), and expenses 
incurred for own staff assigned directly to the management 
of investments (for Foundations that manage their financial 
portfolio themselves rather than outsourcing it).

Indicator 2  
Total net income

=    
Total assets

The indicator provides a measure of the return on the 
average total assets invested by the Foundation in the year, 
valued at current values.

Note: This indicator has a different denominator from the 
previous indicator. Total assets also take into account 
investments made with liability captions other than assets. 
These are mainly resources allocated to the performance of 
institutional activity and which are invested, pending their 
use, with a view to optimising financial resources.

Methods for calculating the performance 
indicators

Efficiency

Indicator 1  
Operating costs (average [t0; t-5])

=    
Total net income (average [t0; t-5])

The indicator represents the share of income absorbed by 
the Foundation’s operating costs.

Note: Since income varies according to market performance, 
whereas operating costs are more stable, in order to make 
the ratio significant, it is preferable to calculate the indicator 
using average values, for both costs and income, for a 
significant multi-year time frame of 5 years.

Indicator 2  
Operating costs (average [t0; t-5]) 

=    
Funding awarded (average [t0; t-5])

This indicator measures the ratio of operating costs to the 
volume of institutional activity carried out, determined by 
the sums awarded.

Note: The ratio is calculated on the basis of the average 
values over 5 years, so that the variability of annual data 
does not affect its significance.

Indicator 3  
Operating costs  

=    
Assets

This indicator measures the ratio of operating costs to 
assets, thus correlating them to the size of the Foundation. 
Its value is more stable than indicators 1 and 2 because it is 
not affected by the cyclical nature of market performance.

Institutional activity

Indicator 1  
Funding awarded

=    
Assets

This indicator measures the economic intensity of institutional 
activity in relation to the Foundation’s own resources.

Indicator 2  
Grant stabilisation fund 

=    
Funding awarded

It provides an estimate of the Foundation’s ability to keep 
its grant-making at the same level as in the reference year, in 
the hypothetical event of an absence of income.

Composition of investments

Indicator 1  
Equity investments in the transferee bank 

=    
Total assets at year’s end

This indicator shows the ratio of investment in the transferee 
bank to total investments, both measured at current values.

Indicator 3  
Surplus for the year 

=    
Assets

This indicator summarises the result of the Foundation’s 
investment activity, net of charges and taxes, in relation to 
its assets.

Note: The surplus for the year is the difference between 
total net income and other costs incurred by the Foundation, 
including tax.
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DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS HELD FOR TRADING: END-OF-PERIOD AND AVERAGE NOTIONAL VALUES

UNDERLYING ASSETS /  
DERIVATIVE TYPES

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

OVER THE 
COUNTER

OFFICIAL  
MARKET

OVER THE 
COUNTER

OFFICIAL  
MARKET

Debt securities and interest rates

Options

Swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

Equities and stock indices

Options* 2,530,517 0

Swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

Currencies and gold

Options*

Swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

Commodities

Other underlying

TOTAL 2,530,517 - 0 N/A

AVERAGE VALUES** 2,583,818 872,124 N/A

Annexes

1. 	Key to typical financial statement captions

2.	Performance indicators

3.	Information about derivatives

4.	Breakdown of the Balance Sheet and Income Statement

5. 	Comparative analysis

6. 	Calculation of the quota payable to the Voluntary Work Fund

7. 	Statement of changes in the Voluntary Work Fund

8. 	Statement of changes in net assets

9. 	Statements of legacies and onerous donations

* Delta equivalent value of all non-hedging options
** Average values: calculated as a simple average of quarterly notional values
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HEDGING DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS: END-OF-PERIOD AND AVERAGE NOTIONAL VALUES

UNDERLYING ASSETS /  
DERIVATIVE TYPES

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

OVER THE 
COUNTER

OFFICIAL  
MARKET

OVER THE 
COUNTER

OFFICIAL  
MARKET

Debt securities and interest rates

Options

Swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

Equities and stock indices

Options*

Swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

Currencies and gold

Options*

Swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

Commodities

Other underlying

TOTAL - - - -

AVERAGE VALUES**

* Delta equivalent value of all non-hedging options
** Average values: calculated as a simple average of quarterly notional values

DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS: POSITIVE GROSS FAIR VALUE - BREAKDOWN BY PRODUCT

PORTFOLIOS / DERIVATIVE TYPES

POSITIVE FAIR VALUE

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

OVER THE  
COUNTER

OFFICIAL  
MARKET

OVER THE  
COUNTER

OFFICIAL  
MARKET

Trading book

Options 0 0

Interest rate swaps

Cross currency swaps

Equity swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

Hedging portfolio

Options

Interest rate swaps

Cross currency swaps

Equity swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

TOTAL - - 0 N/A
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DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS: NEGATIVE GROSS FAIR VALUE - BREAKDOWN BY PRODUCT

PORTFOLIOS / DERIVATIVE TYPES

POSITIVE FAIR VALUE

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

OVER 
THE COUNTER

OFFICIAL  
MARKET

OVER 
THE COUNTER

OFFICIAL  
MARKET

Trading book

Options -101,295 0

Interest rate swaps

Cross currency swaps

Equity swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

Hedging portfolio

Options

Interest rate swaps

Cross currency swaps

Equity swaps

Forward

Futures

Other

TOTAL -101,295 - 0 N/A
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OTC DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS: NOTIONAL VALUES, POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE GROSS FAIR VALUE BY COUNTERPART

OTC DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS GOVERNMENTS AND 
CENTRAL BANKS

OTHER PUBLIC 
BODIES BANKS FINANCIAL 

COMPANIES
INSURANCE 
COMPANIES

NON-FINANCIAL 
ENTERPRISES OTHER ENTITIES

1.	Debt securities and interest rates

Notional value

Positive fair value

Negative fair value

5.	Equities and stock indices

Notional value 2,530,517

Positive fair value 0

Negative fair value -101,295

6.	Currencies and gold

Notional value

Positive fair value

Negative fair value

7.	Other values

Notional value

Positive fair value

Negative fair value

REMAINING MATURITY OF OTC DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS: NOTIONAL VALUES

UNDERLYING / REMAINING MATURITY UP TO 1 YEAR OVER 1 YEAR AND  
UP TO 5 YEARS OVER 5 YEARS TOTAL

1.3 Financial derivatives on debt securities and interest rates

2.3Financial derivatives on equities and stock indices 2,530,517 2,530,517

3.3Financial derivatives on foreign exchange rates and gold

4.3Derivatives on other securities

TOTAL (T) 2,530,517 2,530,517

TOTAL (T-1) 0 N/A N/A N/A
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1. 	Key to typical financial statement captions

2.	Performance indicators

3.	 Information about derivatives

4.	Breakdown of the Balance Sheet and Income Statement

5. 	Comparative analysis

6. 	Calculation of the quota payable to the Voluntary Work Fund

7. 	Statement of changes in the Voluntary Work Fund

8. 	Statement of changes in net assets

9. 	Statements of legacies and onerous donations

BREAKDOWN OF BALANCE SHEET ASSETS

ASSETS
2021 2020

 € %  € %

Tangible and intangible fixed assets 48,017,969 0.67% 48,491,434 0.70%

Financial fixed assets 6,740,547,305 94.42% 6,592,317,809 94.76%

of which:

equity investments in Intesa Sanpaolo SpA 2,700,119,249 37.82% 2,700,119,249 38.81%

other fixed assets 4,040,428,056 56.60% 3,892,198,560 55.95%

Current financial instruments, cash and cash equivalents 256,071,605 3.59% 243,210,191 3.50%

Receivables, prepayments and accrued income 94,594,534 1.32% 73,095,808 1.04%

TOTAL ASSETS 7,139,231,413 100% 6,957,115,242 100%

BREAKDOWN OF BALANCE SHEET ASSETS

ASSETS 2021 2020
Foundations 
system as at 

31/12/2020 (*)

Large 
foundations as at 

31/12/2020 (*)

Tangible and intangible fixed assets 0.67% 0.70% 4.70% 3.00%

Financial assets 95.62% 96.05% 89.80% 92.10%

equity investments in the transferee bank 37.82% 38.81% 23.20% 25.80%

other equity investments 7.57% 7.46% 14.80% 13.10%

financial instruments 50.23% 49.78% 51.80% 53.20%

Receivables, prepayments and accrued income 0.93% 0.65% 0.80% 0.70%

Cash and cash equivalents 2.38% 2.21% 4.60% 4.10%

Other assets 0.40% 0.39% 0.10% 0.10%

TOTAL ASSETS 100% 100% 100% 100%

(*) Source: ACRI - “26th Report on Foundations of Banking Origin”
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BREAKDOWN OF THE INCOME STATEMENT

2021 2020

 € % of (A)  € % of (A)

Total income (A) 342,158,839 100.00% 174,885,042 100.00%

Current operating costs 17,987,728 5.26% 16,403,467 9.38%

Extraordinary charges 94,909 0.03% 919,908 0.53%

Tax 26,149,373 7.64% 1,201,865 0.69%

Advance under article 1, para. 44 of Law 178/2020 36,032,696 10.53% -

Surplus for the year (B) 261,894,133 76.54% 156,359,802 89.40%

Allocation of surplus for the year: % of (B) % of (B)

Coverage of past deficits - -

Allocations to assets 52,378,826 20.00% 31,271,961 20.00%

of which:

to the mandatory reserve 52,378,826 20.00% 31,271,961 20.00%

to the asset replenishment reserve - 0.00% - 0.00%

Institutional activity 209,515,307 80.00% 125,087,841 80.00%

of which:

grants awarded from current year’s resources - 0.00% 120,042,983 76.77%

allocation to the voluntary work fund 7,188,383 2.74% 4,169,595 2.67%

advance to funds for institutional activity 202,326,924 77.26% 875,263 0.56%

REMAINING SURPLUS - 0.0% - 0.0%

(*) Source: ACRI - “26th Report on Foundations of Banking Origin”

BREAKDOWN OF THE INCOME STATEMENT

2021 2020
Foundations 
system as at 

31/12/2020 (*)

Large 
foundations as at 

31/12/2020 (*)

Total income (A) 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Current operating costs 5.26% 9.38% 17.40% 14.10%

Extraordinary charges 0.03% 0.53% 0.50% 0.20%

Tax 7.64% 0.69% 8.20% 5.50%

Advance under article 1, para. 44 of Law 178/2020 10.53% - - -

Surplus for the year (B) 76.54% 89.40% 73.90% 80.20%

Allocation of surplus for the year: % of (B) % of (B) % of (B) % of (B)

Coverage of past deficits - 3.00% 1.70%

Allocations to assets 20.00% 20.00% 30.70% 30.40%

of which:

to the mandatory reserve 20.00% 20.00% 20.20% 19.70%

to the asset replenishment reserve 0.00% 0.00% 10.50% 10.70%

Institutional activity 80.00% 80.00% 70.50% 67.90%

of which:

grants awarded from current year’s resources - 76.77% 21.50% 23.40%

allocation to the voluntary work fund 2.74% 2.67% 2.70% 2.60%

advance to funds for institutional activity 77.26% 0.56% 46.30% 41.90%

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.0% 0.0% -4.2% 0.0%

BREAKDOWN OF BALANCE SHEET LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES
2021 2020

 € %  € %

Net assets 6,208,782,936 86.97% 6,156,404,110 88.50%

Payables attributable to grant-making 249,587,237 3.50% 242,215,686 3.48%

of which:

grants awarded - voluntary work fund 242,603,393 3.40% 238,046,091 3.42%

extraordinary interventions fund 6,983,844 0.10% 4,169,595 0.06%

other fixed assets - 0.00% - 0.00%

Funds for institutional activity 645,848,069 9.04% 546,472,017 7.85%

Other funds, other liabilities, other payables, accrued 
expenses and deferred income 35,013,171 0.49% 12,023,429 0.17%

TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,139,231,413 100% 6,957,115,242 100%

BREAKDOWN OF BALANCE SHEET LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES 2021 2020
Foundations 
system as at 

31/12/2020 (*)

Large 
foundations as at 

31/12/2020 (*)

Net assets 86.97% 88.50% 86.10% 85.70%

Funds for institutional activity 9.05% 7.85% 9.10% 9.20%

Funds for risks and charges 0.06% 0.06% 1.00% 1.00%

Grants awarded still to be paid 3.40% 3.42% 3.30% 3.70%

Fund for voluntary work, Law 266/91 0.10% 0.06% 0.10% 0.10%

Other liabilities 0.42% 0.11% 0.40% 0.30%

TOTAL LIABILITIES 100% 100% 100% 100%

(*) Source: ACRI - “26th Report on Foundations of Banking Origin”
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In line with our customary policy, a comparison of the 
results for the year and the corresponding annual planning 
document is provided below.

ORDINARY INCOME

+ 190.16 million euros 
(+ 125.23%)

The comparison between the income statement for 2021 and 
the annual planning document shows a substantial increase, 
which is mainly attributable to the distribution of dividends 
by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., which was not envisaged at the 
time of preparation of the planning document. In particular, 
the result takes account of the aforementioned distribution 
by Intesa (+ 205.1 million euros approximately), the profit 
on asset management (+ 37.5 million euros approximately), 
the lower distribution by the funds managed by Fondaco 
SGR S.p.A. (- 57.4 million euros approximately), the higher 
dividends received from equity investments in unlisted 
companies (+ 3 million euros approximately) and the 
increased “art bonus” tax credit shown under “Other income” 
(+ 2 million euros approximately).

ORDINARY EXPENSES

- 0.8 million euros  
(- 4.32%)

The final figures for 2021 showed a significant reduction 
in operating costs compared with the forecast costs (- 0.8 
million euros approximately), due to costs attributable to 
governing bodies, asset management services, consultants 
and external contractors and depreciation. The total 
of these decreases (- 1.2 million euros approximately) 
is partly offset by the increase in payroll costs.

TAX

+ 17.8 million euros   
(+ 215.05%)

The tax burden is higher than estimated in the annual 
planning document, largely as a result of the distribution 
of dividends by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. The increase is 
mitigated, however, by the reduction of the taxable amount 
to 50% of the dividends received, with effect from 1 January 
2021, as a result of provisions of the 2021 budget law (law 
178 of 2020).

EXTRAORDINARY OPERATING 
PROFIT/LOSS

+ 0.04 million euros   

The difference between the actual situation and the one 

envisaged in the annual planning document is mainly 
attributable:
 	 in terms of extraordinary charges, to differences in the 

“art bonus” credit and the regional production tax (IRAP) 
credit (from the pending advance under art. 24 of decree 
law 34/2020) for €84,742 and the removal of donated, 
scrapped or destroyed assets from the fixed asset register 
for a value of €10,158;

 	in terms of extraordinary income, to the reversal of the 
unused part of the fund for unforeseen and extraordinary 
charges to align it with the audit carried out by the Italian 
tax authorities for financial year 2016, which was defined in 
March 2022 (€34,637); the reversal of the unused fund for 
voluntary redundancy costs (€14,018) and the reversal of 
the unused social security technical deficit fund (€92,330).

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

+ 137.14 million euros 
  (+ 109.93%)

Due to the above differences - especially the differences in 
ordinary income - the final surplus for the year is significantly 
higher than forecast.

INSTITUTIONAL ACTIVITY

- 9.7 million euros  
  (- 5.76%)

The sums allocated to institutional activity are slightly lower 
than forecast.

By adding the allocations made with resources from previous 
years (€11,875,769) and the tax credit from allocations to 
the National Fund to Combat Juvenile Educational Poverty 
(€11,796,213) to the baseline figure of €134,998,953, we 
obtain the amount of resources awarded by Compagnia 
for 2021, namely €158,670,935, as shown in the attached 
mission report.

With the shift from funding institutional activity with the 
surplus from the same year, to funding institutional activity 
with the surplus from the previous year (under the realisation 
principle), the funds for grant-making in key sectors and the 
grant stabilisation fund were used to cover grant-making 
directly.

Annexes

1. 	Key to typical financial statement captions

2.	Performance indicators

3.	 Information about derivatives

4.	Breakdown of the Balance Sheet and Income Statement

5. 	Comparative analysis

6. 	Calculation of the quota payable to the Voluntary Work Fund

7. 	Statement of changes in the Voluntary Work Fund

8. 	Statement of changes in net assets

9. 	Statements of legacies and onerous donations
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document 2021
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INCOME STATEMENT 2021: COMPARISON WITH ANNUAL PLANNING DOCUMENT 2021 AND INCOME 
STATEMENT 2020

2021 APD 2021 2020

1 Individual asset management profit €37,587,686 - €3,134,605

2

Dividends and similar income: €299,583,595 €149,053,719 €158,290,515

from auxiliary bodies

from other financial fixed assets €299,568,920 €149,053,719 €158,257,095

from current financial instruments € 14,675 - € 33,420

3

Interest and similar income: €8,156 - -

from auxiliary bodies €8,156

from other financial fixed assets

from current financial instruments - - -

4 Net write-up (write-down) of current financial instruments - €65,462 - €75,282

5 Profit/loss from trading current financial instruments - - €8,365,394

9
Other income €4,900,000 €2,800,000 €2,717,794 

of which: contributions for the year

10

Charges €17,987,728 €18,800,000 €16,403,467 

remuneration and reimbursement of expenses of governing bodies € 981,988 €1,200,000 € 1,004,909

for personnel €9,267,459 €8,900,000 €8,063,161

of which: for asset management €961,174 - €784,533

for consultants and contractors €629,823 €900,000 €707,861

for asset management services €797,480 €1,200,000 €860,478

interest payable and other financial charges €940 - €2,794

trading commissions - - -

depreciation €1,389,939 €1,650,000 €1,248,721

provisions - - €10,000

other charges €4,920,099 €4,950,000 €4,505,543

11
Extraordinary income €144,864 - €2,301,452 

of which: capital gains from disposals of financial fixed 
assets

- - -

12
Extraordinary charges €94,909 - €919,908 

of which: capital losses from disposals of financial fixed 
assets

- - -

13 Tax €26,149,373 €8,300,000 €1,201,865 

13 bis Advance under article 1, para. 44 of Law 178/2020 €36,032,696 -

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR €261,894,133 €124,753,719 €156,359,802 

INCOME STATEMENT 2021: COMPARISON WITH ANNUAL PLANNING DOCUMENT 2021 AND INCOME 
STATEMENT 2020

2021 APD 2021 2020

14 Allocation to the mandatory reserve €52,378,826 €24,950,744 €31,271,961 

15

Grants awarded during the year: - €96,176,800 €120,042,983 

in key sectors - €96,176,800 €120,042,983

in other constitutional sectors

16
Allocation to the voluntary work fund €7,188,383 €3,326,766 €4,169,595 

of which: integration under the ACRI-Voluntary 
memorandum of understanding dated 25/7/2012

-

17

Allocations to funds for institutional activity: €202,326,924 €299,409 €875,263 

to the grant stabilisation fund € 3,929,712 - -

to funds for grant-making in key sectors € 196,568,666 - -

to funds for grant-making in other constitutional sectors - - -

to other funds € 1,828,546 €299,409 €875,263

18 Allocation to the asset replenishment reserve - - -

REMAINING SURPLUS (DEFICIT) - - -
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CALCULATION OF THE QUOTA PAYABLE TO THE VOLUNTARY WORK FUND FOR 2021
(9.7 OF THE MEASURE DATED 19 APRIL 2001)

Surplus for the year 261,894,132.84

minus: allocation to the mandatory reserve -52,378,826.57

DIFFERENCE 209,515,306.27

Minimum amount to be allocated to key sectors 209,515,306.27 :2 -104,757,653.14

Basis for calculating the provision 104,757,653.13

ALLOCATION TO THE VOLUNTARY WORK FUND FOR THE YEAR 1 / 15 
OF 104,757,653.13 (a) 6,983,843.54
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FUND FOR VOLUNTARY WORK AS AT 31/12/2021

TOTAL 
ALLOCATIONS 
FROM 1995 TO 

2017 (*)

TOTAL USAGE 
1995 TO 2017

ALLOCATION 
FROM BUDGET 

2018

USAGE FROM 
BUDGET

YEAR 2018

ALLOCATION 
FROM BUDGET 

2019

USAGE FROM 
ALLOCATION 

YEAR 2019

ALLOCATION 
FROM BUDGET 

2020

USAGE FROM 
ALLOCATION 
YEAR 2020

ALLOCATION 
FROM BUDGET 

2021

USAGE FROM 
ALLOCATION 

YEAR 2021
TOTAL

PIEDMONT 69,598,494 69,598,494 -

VALLE D'AOSTA 2,563,970 2,563,970 -

LIGURIA 9,578,979 9,578,979 -

LOMBARDY 77,593 77,593 -

VENETO 102,426 102,426 -

LAZIO 77,593 77,593 -

MARCHE 1,732,541 1,732,541 -

UMBRIA 341,020 341,020 -

MOLISE 8,300,845 8,300,845 -

CAMPANIA 12,605,510 12,605,510 -

BASILICATA 7,143,481 7,143,481 -

CALABRIA 2,731,210 2,731,210 -

PUGLIA 6,764,028 6,764,028 -

SICILIA 6,007,096 6,007,096 -

SARDINIA 6,321,734 6,321,734 -

To be distributed 
(***) 10,314,382 10,314,382 6,770,529 6,770,529 8,048,256 8,048,256 4,169,595 4,169,595 7,188,383 204,539 6,983,844

TOTALS 144,260,902 144,260,902 6,770,529 6,770,529 8,048,256 8,048,256 4,169,595 4,169,595 7,188,383 204,539 6,983,844

Increased prudential 
provisions allocated 
on the basis of 
agreements set out 
in the Protocol of 
Understanding dated 5 
October 2005 (**)

16,908,672 16,908,672 - - - - - -

TOTALS 161,169,574 161,169,574 6,770,529 6,770,529 8,048,256 8,048,256 4,169,595 4,169,595 7,188,383 204,539 6,983,844

(*)  Apart from the ones for Campania and Calabria, the allocations for 2003 and 2004 were assigned - as voluntary-sector contributions - to the endowment of 
Fondazione per il Sud (€11,626,883). (**) The prudential provisions for 2000-2004 were allocated to Fondazione per il Sud (€29,395,555).
(***) The 2016 allocations were assigned to other special regional funds for the voluntary sector, as specified by ACRI, with a view to rebalancing the geographical 
distribution of annual provisions, as set out in the agreement of 23 June 2010, in view of the foreseeable reduction in provisions for the entire foundation system. With 
the repeal of the ministerial decree of 8/10/1997 by legislative decree 117/2017 (the third-sector code), provisions made as of financial year 2017 must be paid by 31 
October of the year of approval of the Fondo Unico Nazionale.
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ENDOWMENT 
FUND

RESERVE 
ARISING FROM 
REVALUATIONS 
AND CAPITAL 

GAINS (*)

TRANSFEREE 
COMPANY 

LIQUIDATION 
RESERVE (*)

MANDATORY 
RESERVE

ASSET 
REPLENISHMENT 

RESERVE

SURPLUSES 
(DEFICITS) 
CARRIED 

FORWARD

REMAINING 
SURPLUS 
(DEFICIT)

TOTAL

BALANCE AT 31/12/2019 3,042,200 1,267,444 235,358 958,104 622,026 - - 6,125,132

Allocation to the mandatory reserve 31,272 31,272

Allocation to the asset replenishment reserve

Capital gains from the sale of the transferee company - - -

Surplus for 2019 - - -

BALANCE AT 31/12/2020 3,042,200 1,267,444 235,358 989,376 622,026 - - 6,156,404

Allocation to the mandatory reserve 52,379 52,379

Allocation to the asset replenishment reserve

Capital gains from the sale of the transferee company - - -

Surplus for 2020 - - -

BALANCE AT 31/12/2021 3,042,200 1,267,444 235,358 1,041,755 622,026 - - 6,208,783

(*) The two items fall under liabilities caption 1. (c) “Reserve arising from revaluations and capital gains”, which therefore amounts to €1,423,335,947.
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8. 	Statement of changes in net assets

9. 	Statements of legacies and onerous donations

BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS 2021 2020

1. FINANCIAL ASSETS 24,226,948 25,633,355

1.1 Financial instruments under individual asset management 24,220,078 25,510,321

1.2 Cash and cash equivalents 6,870 123,034

Total assets 24,226,948 25,633,355

LIABILITIES 2021 2020

1. ASSETS 24,226,948 25,633,355

endowment fund 23,571,734 23,571,734

endowment fund increases 286,716 286,716

profit/loss for prior years 1,774,905 2,550,689

profit/loss for the year -1,406,407 -775,784

Total liabilities 24,226,948 25,633,355

MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS AND COMMITMENTS 2021 2020

1. ASSETS WITH THIRD PARTIES 3,106,547 2,645,292

EurosLegacy of Prof. Alfredo Cornaglia
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INCOME STATEMENT

CHARGES 2021 2020

1. Asset management charges 848,867 381,706

Individual asset management profit - -

Tax 621,288 157,762

Management commissions 227,579 223,944

Total charges 4,004,971 1,868,985

Surplus - -

TOTAL BALANCE 4,004,971 1,868,985

INCOME 2021 2020

1. Financial income 2,598,564 1,093,201

Individual asset management profit 2,598,564 1,093,128

Interest and similar income - 73

Total income 2,598,564 1,093,201

Deficit 1,406,407 775,784

TOTAL BALANCE 4,004,971 1,868,985

MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS AND COMMITMENTS 2021 2020

1. ASSETS WITH THIRD PARTIES 427,240 102,264

Own securities deposited with third parties 427,240 102,264

LIABILITIES 2021 2020

1. ASSETS 1,090,837 1,005,678

endowment fund 1,000,000 1,000,000

endowment fund increases - 73

profit/loss for prior years 5,678

profit/loss for the year 85,159 5,678

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,090,837 1,005,678

EurosPeople philanthropic fund

BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS 2021 2020

1. FINANCIAL ASSETS 1,090,837 1,005,678

1.1 Financial instruments under individual asset management 1,090,837 1,005,678

1.2 Cash and cash equivalents 621,288 157,762

TOTAL ASSETS 1,090,837 1,005,678

Euros
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INCOME STATEMENT

CHARGES 2021 2020

1.   Asset management charges 22,470 596

Individual asset management profit - -

Tax 13,011 596

Management commissions 9,459 -

2.   Charges relating to onerous donations - -

Total charges 22,470 596

Surplus 85,159 5,678

TOTAL BALANCE 107,629 6,274

INCOME 2021 2020

1.   Financial income 107,629 6,274

Individual asset management profit 107,629 6,274

Interest and similar income - -

Total income 107,629 6,274

Deficit - -

TOTAL BALANCE 107,629 6,274

MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS AND COMMITMENTS 2021 2020

1. ASSETS WITH THIRD PARTIES 30,005,893 -

Own securities deposited with third parties 30,005,893 -

Euros
A dedicated philanthropic fund supporting initiatives relating to employment and 
educational poverty, with a special focus on the 0-6 age group

BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS 2021 2020

1. FINANCIAL ASSETS 1,148,838 1,250,000

1.1 Financial instruments under individual asset management 262,888 -

1.2 Cash and cash equivalents 885,950 1,250,000.00

TOTAL ASSETS 1,148,838 1,250,000

LIABILITIES 2021 2020

1. ASSETS 1,051,023 1,250,000

endowment fund 1,250,000 1,250,000

endowment fund increases - -

profit/loss for prior years - -

profit/loss for the year -198,977 -

1. OTHER LIABILITIES 97,815 -

items to be settled 97,815 -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,148,838 1,250,000

Euros
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INCOME STATEMENT

CHARGES 2021 2020

1. Asset management charges 5,866 -

Individual asset management profit - -

Tax 4,373 -

Management commissions 1,493 -

2. Charges relating to onerous donations 211,815 -

Total charges 217,681 -

Surplus - -

TOTAL BALANCE 217,681 -

INCOME 2021 2020

1.  Financial income 18,704 -

Individual asset management profit 18,704 -

Interest and similar income - -

Total income 18,704 -

Deficit 198,977 -

TOTAL BALANCE 217,681 -

Euros

BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS 2021 2020

1. FINANCIAL ASSETS 1,026,661 -

1.1 Financial instruments under individual asset management 1,026,661 -

1.2 Cash and cash equivalents - -

TOTAL ASSETS 1,026,661 -

MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS AND COMMITMENTS 2021 2020

1. ASSETS WITH THIRD PARTIES 175,730 -

Own securities deposited with third parties 175,730 -

LIABILITIES 2021 2020

1. ASSETS 1,026,661 -

endowment fund 1,000,000 -

endowment fund increases - -

profit/loss for prior years - -

profit/loss for the year 26,661 -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,026,661 -

Manuela Noelli Ziviani philanthropic fundEuros
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INCOME STATEMENT

CHARGES 2021 2020

1. Asset management charges 11,378 -

Individual asset management profit - -

Tax 9,131 -

Management commissions 2,247 -

2. Charges relating to onerous donations - -

Total charges 11,378 -

Surplus 26,661 -

TOTAL BALANCE 38,039 -

INCOME 2021 2020

1.  Financial income 38,039 -

Individual asset management profit 38,039 -

Interest and similar income - -

Total income 38,039 -

Deficit - -

TOTAL BALANCE 38,039 -

Euros

BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS 2021 2020

1. FINANCIAL ASSETS 925,000 -

1.1 Financial instruments under individual asset management - -

1.2 Cash and cash equivalents - -

TOTAL ASSETS 925,000 -

MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS AND COMMITMENTS 2021 2020

1. ASSETS WITH THIRD PARTIES 0 -

Own securities deposited with third parties - -

LIABILITIES 2021 2020

1. ASSETS 925,000 -

endowment fund 925,000 -

endowment fund increases - -

profit/loss for prior years - -

profit/loss for the year - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 925,000 -

A philanthropic fund supporting activities for young people in Val Casternone
Euros
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INCOME STATEMENT

CHARGES 2021 2020

1. Asset management charges - -

Individual asset management profit - -

Tax - -

Management commissions - -

2. Charges relating to onerous donations - -

Total charges - -

Surplus - -

TOTAL BALANCE - -

INCOME 2021 2020

1.  Financial income - -

Individual asset management profit - -

Interest and similar income - -

Total income - -

Deficit - -

TOTAL BALANCE - -

INTERVENTIONS, 2012 - 2021

50,000

0

100,000

150,000

200,000

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Interventions

Voluntary work

5,686 6,314 6,736 7,1884,693 7,132 8,0486,378 6,748 4,169

127,554 143,639 179,715 158,671123,941 165,400 172,296125,992 177,438 168,364

Euros
Euros
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APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

University of Turin

Call for proposals concerning the acquisition of small and medium-sized research equipment 0.00 1,000,000.00 TURIN

Final Report 2020 0.00 114,010.06 TURIN

Final Report 2018 0.00 87,242.26 TURIN

Doctoral scholarships, 37th cycle (financial year 2021) 0.00 87,242.26 TURIN

Students in custody hub (financial yr. 2021 - AY 2021/2022) 0.00 26,767.80 TURIN

'Gianni Merlini’ European section: development of a library section covering EU-related topics 0.00 6,936.00 TURIN

Total for Body 1,322,198.38 

Federico II University of Naples

Final Report 2020 0.00 465,000.00 NAPLES

Support for enhancing the Technology Transfer Department 0.00 255,000.00 NAPLES

Study in Naples - internationalisation of study courses 2021 0.00 60,000.00 NAPLES

Final Report 2018 0.00 8,500.00 NAPLES

STAR 2018 call for research proposals 0.00 8,500.00 NAPLES

Total for Body 797,000.00

“Amedeo Avogadro” University of Eastern Piedmont

Final Report 2020 0.00 84,753.87 VERCELLI

redirections from reintegrated cases 0.00 84,753.87 VERCELLI

Support for research: new organisational model 0.00 84,753.87 VERCELLI

Final Report 2015
Agreement between 
University of Eastern 
Piedmont and CSP

0.00 72,685.63 VERCELLI

Final Report 2018 0.00 12,068.24 VERCELLI

Total for Body 339,015.48 

Polytechnic of Turin

2021 strategic communication costs of the Planet Goal 0.00 21,517.29 TURIN

Establishment of an Advisory Board for the project to enhance the Technology Transfer 
Department at Federico II University of Naples 0.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Call for research proposals: Artificial Intelligence, mankind and society 0.00 2,500.00 TURIN

Artificial Intelligence call for proposals - second edition in collaboration with Fondazione CDP 0.00 2,500.00 TURIN

Total for Body 46,517.29 

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

2021 strategic communication costs of the Planet Goal 0.00 21,517.29 TURIN

Establishment of an Advisory Board for the project to enhance the Technology Transfer 
Department at Federico II University of Naples 0.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Call for research proposals: Artificial Intelligence, mankind and society 0.00 2,500.00 TURIN

Artificial Intelligence call for proposals - second edition in collaboration with Fondazione CDP 0.00 2,500.00 TURIN

Total for Body 46,517.29 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 2,790,817.15 

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Fondazione Teatro Regio, Turin Support for institutional activities/membership fee 2021 0.00 1,100,000.00 TURIN

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 1,100,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Research and higher education.

Projects, 2021. Art, cultural heritage and cultural activities
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APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Fondazione Contrada Torino Onlus Spazio Portici, creative space for video art 0.00 25,000.00 TURIN

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 25,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Philanthropy and Local Communities.

Projects, 2021. Social policy.

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Turin Municipal Council

Framework agreement between Turin Municipal Council and Compagnia di San Paolo, 2017-
2019

Protocol of understanding - 
Municipal Council, CSP, Ufficio Pio 0.00 87,832.77 TURIN

Torino learning city 0.00 87,832.77 TURIN

Total for Body 175,665.54 

Cooperativa Sociale Progetto Emmaus Soc. Coop. A R.L. “La valigia di arlo”: pathways to networked living “Salute, effetto comune” call for 
proposals 0.00 170,000.00 ALBA (province of Cuneo)

Archdiocese of Genoa Caritas Diocesana TOBIA project - economic and relational support for people and families facing hardship as a 
result of the Covid 19 emergency - so that poverty does not become destiny

Framework protocol between CSP 
and Genoa Municipal Council 0.00 150,000.00 GENOA

Archdiocese of Turin - Office for the Pastoral Care of 
Migrants MOI project - help with housing and assistance towards independence 0.00 141,620.00 TURIN

Consorzio Servizi Sociali IN.RE.TE. Livingbetter “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 140,000.00 IVREA (province of Turin)

Associazione di Promozione Sociale 'Cambalache' “Fermento”: shared routes to the inclusion of foreign citizens in the province of Alessandria “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 140,000.00 ALESSANDRIA

Commissione Sinodale per la Diaconia “P(r)onti per l'autonomia” “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 135,000.00 TORRE PELLICE (province 

of Turin)

Avigliana Municipal Council P.o.l.i. - poli per l'orientamento, la legalità e l'inclusione “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 130,000.00 AVIGLIANA (province of 

Turin)

Associazione Internazionale Volontari Laici (LVIA) “Comunità e inclusione: femminili plurali.” Local generative pathways spanning food, 
interculture and migrant women’s rights

“Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 130,000.00 CUNEO

Il Biscione SCS - Il Biscione Società Cooperativa Sociale In c.o.p.i. (In Centro Ovest Peer Inclusive) “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 127,000.00 GENOA

Cooperativa Sociale a r.l. Marypoppins Saperi - strategie attive per l'inclusione “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 120,000.00 IVREA (province of Turin)

Saluzzo Municipal Council - Compatible Land Development 
Sector Land Governance Sector Ubuntu (in the Bantu language) - 'I am because we are' “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 

proposals 0.00 120,000.00 SALUZZO (province of 
Cuneo)

Cooperativa Sociale Raggio Verde Onlus S.t.e.p.s. -  Scoperta di Tradizioni e Potenzialità in Sperimentazione “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 120,000.00 VIGLIANO BIELLESE 

(province of Biella)

Associazione Nessuno Civic welfare network “Salute, effetto comune” call for 
proposals 0.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Liberitutti - Società Cooperativa Sociale

Noe una comunità che educa - half i/year i 0.00 86,400.00 TURIN

Nega so: valle myra è casa mia “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 12,664.00 TURIN

Total for Body 99,064.00 

Compagnia di San Paolo - Agreement with the Municipality 
of Turin

Framework agreement between Turin Municipal Council and Fondazione Compagnia di San 
Paolo for the implementation of social, educational and cultural development programmes 
within the municipality of Turin for 2021 - 2022

0.00 87,832.77 TURIN

Lindbergh Cooperativa Sociale Abitare la casa “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 85,000.00 LA SPEZIA

Fondazione diocesana Comunità Servizi onlus L’accoglienza che cura “Territorio Inclusivi” call for 
proposals 0.00 80,000.00 SAVONA

Associazione PIAM - Progetto Integrazione Accoglienza 
Migranti Onlus Cosi': comuni solidali e inclusivi “Territorio Inclusivi” call for proposals 0.00 50,000.00 ASTI
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> SOCIAL POLICY

Opera Barolo E. M. Barolo food centre - neighbourly support centre 0.00 47,000.00 TURIN

Paìs - Percorsi di Accompagnamento e Inclusione Sociale A.P.S. Ets Olmo 2 0.00 33,200.00 TURIN

Articolo 10 Onlus Well done Torino for the MOI project 0.00 22,700.00 TURIN

Coop Soc Babel Alloggio palestra 0.00 19,400.00 TURIN

Consorzio Sociale N.A.O.S. Se.giova “Salute, effetto comune” call for 
proposals 0.00 17,438.46 TURIN

Johar scs Progetto palestra johar – Via Denza 0.00 13,700.00 TURIN

Associazione Educadora Onlus Sam non va in vacanza 2021 0.00 13,552.21 TURIN

Oratorio Salesiano San Paolo Sam non va in vacanza - 2021 0.00 13,224.00 TURIN

Associazione dB2 Mondoenne APS Sam non va in vacanza 2021 0.00 10,820.00 TURIN

Opera Salesiana Rebaudengo Sam non va in vacanza - 2021 0.00 10,032.00 TURIN

APS YEPP Albenga yepp albenga operational plan 2020 - 2021 0.00 10,000.00 ALBENGA (province of Savona)

Associazione 'b612 Lab' Associazione artistico/culturale “Generazioni monviso” - operational cultural animation plan 2021 0.00 7,000.00 MORETTA (province of Cuneo)

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

“Territori Inclusivi” call for proposals.  Result of evaluation and provision for capacity building 
activities for bodies, and operating costs 0.00 335,000.00 TURIN

2021. Un’estate insieme.... e non solo!  Allocations for Famiglie ZeroSei and La Bella Stagione 
project activities 0.00 58,517.93 TURIN

Evolution of Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s methodological mentoring for the winners of calls 
for proposals funded by the National Fund to Combat Juvenile Educational Poverty in a permanent 
educational site in North-West Italy, in collaboration with the social enterprise “Con I Bambini”

0.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Update on the 'Provaci ancora, Sam!’ project, provision for Fondazione per la Scuola and 
allocation for carrying out activities in school year 2017/2018 0.00 16,000.00 TURIN

Active employment policy action aimed at young people (Articolo +1 - second edition) 
Update on the initiative and proposal for its continuation in 2021 Articolo +1 call for proposals 0.00 15,000.00 TURIN

'Provaci ancora Sam' project - provision, recovery of contribution and protocol of 
understanding between the project promoters 0.00 3,030.00 TURIN

Mutual solidarity and related work. Update on the project and allocation for the 
implementation of activities in 2017. Crisi Occupazionale 0.00 82.00 TURIN

Total for Body 477,629.93 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 2,996,878.91 

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

ECF European Cultural Foundation Initiative for European Public Space 2021 0.00 100,000.00 NETHERLANDS

Generazione Ponte “Ritorno al futuro”: places of culture to put contemporary collective identities to good use    
Re-allocation from case 2020.78 0.00 29,500.00 TURIN

Fondazione Camera - Centro Italiano per la Fotografia Exhibitions and cultural activities 2021 0.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Space II call for proposals - update, start of second year and allocation of operating costs 0.00 50,000.00 TURIN

CivICa call for proposals. Culture and Civic Innovation Projects. Second edition, approval and allocation 0.00 41,499.70 TURIN

Open Community call for proposals: results of first selection and admission to the project 
development stage 0.00 12,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 103,499.70 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 252,999.70  

Projects, 2021. Cultural innovation.
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APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

CivICa call for proposals. Culture and Civic Innovation Projects. Second edition 
Approval and allocation 0.00 12,147.72 TURIN

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 12,147.72 

Projects, 2021. “Polo del ‘900” Programme.

Projects, 2021. ZeroSei programme.

Projects, 2021. Housing programme.

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Associazione Gruppo Abele O.N.L.U.S. Famiglie ZeroSei 0.00 23,000.00 TURIN

Società Cooperativa Sociale Alce Rosso Re-allocation Nuovi Orizzonti - il cielo è sempre più blu 0.00 17,373.00 IVREA (province of Turin)

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Provision for internal call for proposals for Zerosei dissemination actions to bodies taking part 
in Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s methodological and scientific mentoring 0.00 104,870.37 TURIN

2021. Un’estate insieme.... e non solo!  Allocations for Famiglie ZeroSei and La Bella Stagione 
project activities 0.00 33,216.79 TURIN

ZeroSei Nuovi Orizzonti call for proposals - Results of the preliminary examination and use of 
the provision 0.00 17,373.00 TURIN

Total for Body 155,460.16 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 195,833.16  

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Settimo Torinese Municipal Council Borgonuovoventitrenta “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 50,000.00 SETTIMO TORINESE 

(province of Turin)

Asti Municipal Council Urban regeneration of the complex known as 'il casermone' in Asti “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 50,000.00 ASTI

Venaria Reale Municipal Council “Riabitare Venaria”. A real strategy for improved dwelling systems “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 50,000.00 VENARIA (province of 

Turin)

Vercelli Municipal Council - Social policy sector, social care 
provider Concordia verde a Vercelli “Prospettive Urbane” call for 

proposals 0.00 50,000.00 VERCELLI

Verbania Municipal Council, Biblioteca Civica Pietro Ceretti Legami di fiducia “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 50,000.00 VERBANIA (province of 

Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Collegno Municipal Council Casa comune 4.0 “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 50,000.00 COLLEGNO (province of 

Turin)

Cuneo Municipal Council Benessere intergenerazionale al centro “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 50,000.00 CUNEO

Moncalieri Municipal Council H2ousing - rive vive per una resilienza corrente “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 50,000.00 MONCALIERI (province of 

Turin)

PINEROLO MUNICIPAL COUNCIL Crocevie_ 3e: empowerement, educazione, energie urbane a servizio della comunità “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 50,000.00 PINEROLO (province of 

Turin)

Turin City Council - Outer City Regeneration and Common 
Goods Section Abitare Mirafiori “Prospettive Urbane” call for 

proposals 0.00 50,000.00 TURIN
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Genoa Municipal Council “Genova: rigenerazione integrata di Sampierdarena e Cornigliano”. Mending, transforming 
and reconnecting through housing, infrastructure, natural resources and new local economies

“Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 50,000.00 GENOA

Istituto Nazionale di Urbanistica Urbanpromo Progetti per il Paese - 2021 edition 0.00 40,000.00 BOLOGNA

Il Ce.Sto Cooperativa Sociale “QUIC_quartiere in cantiere”: community social support around the Vico del Teatro Nazionale 
social housing project 0.00 38,250.00 GENOA

Casale Monferrato Municipal Council Oltreponte in centro “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 30,000.00 CASALE MONFERRATO 

(province of Alessandria)

Luserna San Giovanni Municipal Council 'Un po' di sole' project to improve housing opportunities for people facing social vulnerability Housing 2010 call for 
proposals 0.00 30,000.00 LUSERNA SAN GIOVANNI 

(province of Turin)

Associazione ACMOS Cultura, orti e socialità - le coabitazioni ripartono da qui! 0.00 19,000.00 TURIN

Bra Municipal Council Dal movi-centro al movi-mento dei quartieri “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 15,000.00 BRA (province of Cuneo)

Nichelino Municipal Council La rigenerazione scende in piazza “Prospettive Urbane” call for 
proposals 0.00 15,000.00 NICHELINO (province of 

Turin)

Synergica s.c.s. “Casasol 2021”: structural activity and adaptation 0.00 12,000.00 MONCALIERI (province of 
Turin)

Il Punto - Società Cooperativa Sociale condivivere' 0.00 11,000.00 TURIN

OrtiAlti, social promotion association Green co-housing Via Fossata 0.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Liberitutti - Società Cooperativa Sociale Casa barriera 2021 0.00 5,500.00 TURIN

Un Sogno per Tutti società cooperativa sociale “Con i piedi per terra” - social co-housing for young people 0.00 4,275.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Scientific events and materials for the dissemination and promotion of social housing and 
innovative dwelling cultures 0.00 15,000.00 TURIN

“Coabitazioni Giovanili Solidali”  Provision for the launch of two new social co-housing units 
for young people in Via Fossata and Via Cigna in Turin 0.00 14,275.00 TURIN

“Abitare il cambiamento” call for proposals 0.00 3,780.80 TURIN

Total for Body 33,055.80 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 813,080.80 

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

“Applicare la strategia”: road-testing enhancement initiatives 42,000.00 42,000.00 TURIN

Continuation of the partnership with a consultant 32,000.00 32,000.00 TURIN

Initiatives to boost the supply of books for libraries in Piedmont, Liguria and Valle d'Aosta 22,864.89 22,864.89 TURIN

Total for Body 96,864.89  

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 96,864.89   

Projects, 2021. Implementation of the Strategic Plan
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CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Turin Municipal Council - Turin City Council - Social, Health, 
Housing and Employment Services Division

Initiatives and interventions to combat poverty and support social and housing-related 
inclusion  2021 500,000.00 500,000.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Agreement with the Municipality 
of Turin

Framework agreement between Turin Municipal Council and Fondazione Compagnia di San 
Paolo for the implementation of social, educational and cultural development programmes 
within the municipality of Turin for 2021 - 2022

400,000.00 400,000.00 TURIN

LAB.IN.S Società Cooperativa Impresa Sociale Support for the Cooperative’s strategic plan for 2021 110,000.00 110,000.00 TURIN

D.O.C. s.c.s. - Cooperativa Sociale 'StessoPiano' project: ordinary management 2021 and trial collaboration with Coabitazioni 
Giovanili on the basis of neighbourhood solidarity models 69,000.00 88,200.00 TURIN

AGS per il Territorio - Associazione Giovanile Salesiana A casa di zia Jessy - 2021 85,000.00 85,000.00 TURIN

Cooperativa sociale L'Altra Idea scs Temporary emergency housing spaces in the complex at Via Onorato Vigliani 104 - 2021/2022 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Arteria Onlus

“Abito Giusto”: extension of the project in connection with Turin City Council’s support 
measures 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Abito giusto 2021 0.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 70,000.00 

Cooperativa Sociale Puzzle Società Cooperativa per Azioni Social inclusion - Residenza Gli Ulivi, Via Cimabue 2 Torino 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Cilla Liguria Support for updating and upgrading the management of the accommodation for children 
receiving treatment at the Gaslini Hospital and their families 50,000.00 50,000.00 GENOA

Archdiocese of Turin - Caritas Diocesana Night acommodation for homeless women - major maintenance and structural adaptation 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Gruppi di Volontariato Vincenziano Homes combat marginalisation 2021 45,000.00 45,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Agape dello Spirito Santo Onlus Living spaces - hospitality of family groups in difficulty 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Articolo 10 Onlus Change to be ready Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Altrimodi s.r.l. impresa sociale ets “Altracasa garibaldi” - independence pathways for young people 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione ACMOS Opening of the social co-housing units for young people at Via Cigna 94 a-b 11,000.00 11,000.00 TURIN

Associazione di Volontariato Contact “Prendersi cura della persona per vivere meglio il territorio” 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Emmanuel - Don Francesco Tarantini per le 
Migrazioni e il Sud del Mondo Afghanistan 2030. “Next leaders” scholarships for Afghan women 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Esserci - Società Cooperativa Sociale Casa delle opportunità 2021 9,575.00 9,575.00 TURIN

Un Sogno per Tutti società cooperativa sociale “Con i piedi per terra” - social co-housing for young people 6,725.00 6,725.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Provision for enhancing the energy efficiency of social housing units and spaces for social use 250,000.00 505,000.00 TURIN

Support for the 2021 initiatives of the 'Reinventing dwelling systems and regenerating 
neighbourhoods’ Mission 295,000.00 295,000.00 TURIN

Updating and provision for urban regeneration initiatives 291,700.00 291,700.00 TURIN

“Abitare migranti” initiative 122,000.00 122,000.00 TURIN

Experimental initiative for social-impact energy communities 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

2021 strategic communication costs of the People Goal 10,000.00 11,002.50 TURIN

Total for Body 1,324,702.50 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 2,970,202.50  

Projects, 2021. Dwelling.
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APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Associazione Compagnia delle Opere del Piemonte

F.m.p. “Formazione per la mobilità professionale” - ed.10 1,640,000.00 1,640,000.00 TURIN

Organised, sustainable growth for more inclusive and dignified employment for all Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 1,655,000.00 

Associazione Piazza del Lavoro di Torino L.i.f.e. 4 youth - Lavoro, Innovazione, Formazione, Educazione per i giovani (2021-22) Articolo +1 call for proposals 0.00 960,000.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Agreement with the Municipality 
of Turin

Framework agreement between Turin Municipal Council and Fondazione Compagnia di San 
Paolo for the implementation of social, educational and cultural development programmes 
within the municipality of Turin for 2021 - 2022

800,000.00 800,000.00 TURIN

Associazione CNOS-FAP Regione Piemonte Spazio fratto tempo - luoghi di lavoro, percorsi di crescita Articolo +1 call for proposals 0.00 680,000.00 TURIN

Turin Municipal Council - Social Services and Employment 
Division - Employment Service 2021 - employability support services 500,000.00 500,000.00 TURIN

Exar social value solutions Impresa sociale srl Yes!employment Articolo +1 call for proposals 0.00 420,000.00 TURIN

Cooperativa Sociale Patchanka

Net - cerchiamo lavoro. Insieme (iii edition) Articolo +1 call for proposals 0.00 350,000.00 CHIERI (province of Turin)

Lavoro emancipazione inclusione L.E.I. - year 5 20,000.00 20,000.00 CHIERI (province of Turin)

Essere patchanka Next Generation You call for 
proposals 13,840.00 13,840.00 CHIERI (province of Turin)

Total for Body 383,840.00 

Fondazione Don Mario Operti, non-profit

Institutional activity focusing on getting people in difficulty back into work and social 
relations and finding housing solutions for them 250,000.00 250,000.00 TURIN

So.rri.so aperto 37,500.00 37,500.00 TURIN

Migliorare per crescere...crescere per migliorare Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 302,500.00 

Synergies applied to the social cooperative enterprise 
system #aqualunquetitolo Articolo +1 call for proposals 110,000.00 290,000.00 TURIN

Engim Piemonte

Lavori spaziali Articolo +1 call for proposals 0.00 260,000.00 TURIN

Lessico del nuovo engim Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 275,000.00 

Fondazione Piazza dei Mestieri Marco Andreoni Institutional activity focusing on training and employment support programmes for young 
people at risk of social exclusion 270,000.00 270,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Comunitaria del Verbano Cusio Ossola VCO Active employment policy initiative for young people in VCO who are not in employment, 
education or training (NEET). 230,000.00 230,000.00 VERBANIA (province of 

Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Gruppi di Volontariato Vincenziano Institutional activity focusing on assisting people in difficulty and getting them back into 
social relations 180,000.00 180,000.00 TURIN

Associazione San Marcellino, non-profit Institutional activity focusing on training and employment support programmes for young 
people at risk of social exclusion 135,000.00 135,000.00 GENOA

Centro di Solidarietà di Genova Coop. Soc. 
ONLUS CEIS Genova

Institutional activity focusing on prevention, rehabilitation and reintegration in relation to 
substance abusers and marginalised young people. 100,000.00 100,000.00 GENOA

Un abbraccio Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Total for Body 115,000.00 

Gruppo Aziendale di Solidarietà Umana Intesa Sanpaolo, 
non-profit

Institutional activity focusing on the allocation of training/employment grants and assistance 
for families and individuals in difficulty 100,000.00 100,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Aliseo, non-profit Institutional activity focusing on accommodation, training and prevention for alcoholics 90,000.00 90,000.00 TURIN

Magazzini - Società Cooperativa Sociale - non-profit Magazzinioz e oltre 58,000.00 58,000.00 TURIN

Casa Generalizia della Pia Società Torinese di San Giuseppe 
- Centro Polifunzionale Artigianelli Giovani fucine di cittadinanza attiva 35,000.00 35,000.00 TURIN

Essereumani Onlus L.e.i. project - lavoro emancipazione inclusione (year 5) 34,000.00 34,000.00 TURIN

Projects, 2021. Work.
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Fondazione Casa di Carità Arti e Mestieri, non-profit L.e.i. project - year 5 26,000.00 26,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Accademia Maurizio Maggiora Road-testing the use of Open Badges to certify skills acquired in the third sector, in 
conjunction with Promoting Decent Work Mission 0.00 24,700.00 CHIERI (province of Turin)

Opera Diocesana Madonna dei Bambini - 
Villaggio Del Ragazzo Nuovi assetti per nuovi scenari Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CHIAVARI (province of 

Genoa)

Società Cooperativa La Cruna La cruna 4.0 Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Cooperativa Sociale Progetto Tenda, non-profit Enhancing economic and financial management and diversifying income streams to boost the 
cooperative’s competitiveness Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione A Pieno Titolo, non-profit Consolidation and ramification of “A Pieno Titolo” Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Co.Ser.Co ONLUS Futuro in azioni Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

CIOFS-FP LIGURIA Associazione riconosciuta Sos-teniamoci Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Exeat S.c.s. Nexeat - strengthening sustainable and social food supply chains Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CHIERI (province of Turin)

Cooperativa Sociale Raggio Verde Onlus Coraggio, si riparte! Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 VIGLIANO BIELLESE 
(province of Biella)

Associazione MicroLab Ngml- next generation microlab Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Cooperativa Sogni & Bisogni Employment of disadvantaged people in the agri-food supply chain Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 MONTA' (province of 
Cuneo)

LIBERITUTTI FACTORY S.R.L. - IMPRESA SOCIALE Orli Organizzarsi per L'Impatto Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

La Bottega Solidale scs arl Sustainable development, for the world and for Bottega Solidale Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Il Ricino s.c.s. Il ricino 2.0 Next Generation You call for proposals 14,500.00 14,500.00 MONCALIERI (province of 
Turin)

Cooperativa Sociale Villa Perla Service Arl Onlus “Alimentare evoluzioni”:  building the future on principles of cooperation Next Generation You call for proposals 14,000.00 14,000.00 GENOA

Cooperativa Sociale Impatto Zero, non-profit LEI project - year 5 13,000.00 13,000.00 SAN MAURIZIO CANAVESE 
(province of Turin)

Pausa Cafè Società Cooperativa Sociale We together 4 the next generation Next Generation You call for proposals 12,500.00 12,500.00 TURIN

IL SOGNO SOCIETÀ COOPERATIVA SOCIALE ONLUS Next generation sogno Next Generation You call for 
proposals 12,500.00 12,500.00 DOMODOSSOLA (province 

of Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Società per gli Asili Notturni Umberto I La cittadella dei mestieri di eccellenza Next Generation You call for 
proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

I Filari di Nabot impresa sociale srl La bottega di nabot 10,000.00 10,000.00 GENOA

Extraliberi Società Cooperativa Sociale Lei - lavoro emancipazione inclusione, year 5 7,000.00 7,000.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Active employment policy interventions for young people     
Provision for reprogramming Articolo+1 - Torino and road-testing new initiatives to promote 
young people’s employability and get them into employment

1,680,000.00 1,680,000.00 TURIN

EQUILIBRI - A new active employment policy intervention for disadvantaged women or 
women at risk of vulnerability with care burdens, and for initiatives to promote educational 
pathways for their children - Approval of the text of the call for action, pooling resources to 
carry out the initiative and strategic communication

560,000.00 560,000.00 TURIN

Active employment policy intervention for young people in the Genoa Metropolitan area 
(Articolo +1 - Genoa) under the framework agreement between Genoa Municipal Council and 
Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo, 2019-2020

Esercizio di delega SG 380,000.00 380,000.00 GENOA

New initiative to help people from migrant backgrounds into employment, with particular 
reference to refugees - Blueprint for intervention and provision of resources 285,670.00 285,670.00 TURIN

“Equilibri” operating costs, provision for evaluation, communication, project management, 
remuneration for the evaluation committee and other ancillary costs. 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

Road-testing micro-credit to support training initiatives on coding and active employment 
policy for young people and adults. 105,830.00 105,830.00 TURIN

Initiatives aimed at strengthening programmes to help people serving custodial sentences into work 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

“Formazione per la Mobilità Professionale 10”  Provision of the resources needed to 
implement the vocational mobility training initiative for the two-year period 2022-2023 and 
use of funds for the first year of the project.

20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

2021 strategic communication costs of the People Goal 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Progetto LEI - Lavoro Emancipazione Inclusione, year 5 - 2022 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Articolo +1  Evaluation and communication Articolo +1 call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Coding: road-testing remote ICT upskilling services 8,000.00 8,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 3,394,500.00 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 11,232,040.00 
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Associazione Comp Comune di Torino 
Educational Services Area, Educational Services 
Department

Municipal pre-schools 2,000,000.00 2,000,000.00 TURIN

School transport and accompaniment service for disabled students 1,100,000.00 1,100,000.00 TURIN

Inclusion of disabled children in municipal pre-schools and infant schools 800,000.00 800,000.00 TURIN

Educational play centres - local play groups 250,000.00 250,000.00 TURIN

Torino learning city 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 4,210,000.00 

Fondazione per la Scuola della Compagnia di San Paolo

Support for institutional activity 2021 3,000,000.00 3,000,000.00 TURIN

Completion of the redesign of the Foundation’s organisational model started in 2020 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 3,015,000.00 

Ufficio Pio della Compagnia di San Paolo Onlus “Estate Ragazzi” by Turin City Council’- 2021 edition 665,000.00 665,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Piazza dei Mestieri Marco Andreoni

Provision for actions to support middle school students and foreign middle and high schools students 
- 2021/22 130,500.00 130,500.00 TURIN

Homework House 2021/2022 118,000.00 118,000.00 TURIN

Capable and deserving students at work 2021 - scholarships 62,000.00 62,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 310,500.00 

Fondazione LINKS 
Leading Innovation & Knowledge for Society

Personnel costs for the “Riconnessioni” and “Riconnessioni 2.0” projects in 2021-2022, originally under 
Fondazione per la Scuola, and for the start-up phase of the Ed-Tech 4.0 initiative in 2021 and 2022 304,089.00 304,089.00 TURIN

Genoa Municipal Council Educare in natura 250,000.00 250,000.00 GENOA

Associazione SERMIG Youth Mission Service Institutional activity focusing on initiatives aimed at supporting families with children and teenagers in 
difficulty 225,000.00 225,000.00 TURIN

Associazione CasaOz, non-profit

Institutional activity focusing on the reception of children undergoing treatment at Turin hospitals and 
their families 102,000.00 102,000.00 TURIN

“Un ponte tra ospedale e territorio” project for the social reintegration of adolescents living with 
mental illness and/or other severe crises (2021/2022) 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Development plan for CasaOz Next Generation You call 
for proposals 5,000.00 5,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 147,000.00 

Fondazione Paideia onlus

Support for institutional activities/membership fee 2021 130,000.00 130,000.00 TURIN

Development plan 2021-2025 for Fondazione Paideia Next Generation You call 
for proposals 14,200.00 14,200.00 TURIN

Total for Body 144,200.00 

AREA ONLUS Associazione Regionale 
Amici degli Handicappati

Institutional activity focused on supporting the social and psychological development of children with 
disabilities 129,000.00 129,000.00 TURIN

NOI TORINO APS Kids’ Summer 2021 124,000.00 124,000.00 TURIN

ASAI - Associazione di Animazione Interculturale

institutional activity focusing on intercultural educational activities 81,000.00 81,000.00 TURIN

Il sam non va in vacanza - 2021 0.00 16,872.00 TURIN

Pas-per-tutti - stepping up the 'Provaci ancora, Sam!' project activities at Istituto Comprensivo Regio 
Parco (preparatory phase first half of 2021) 0.00 5,100.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza (phase 2) 850.00 850.00 TURIN

Total for Body 103,822.00 

IL MARGINE s.c.s. - Società Cooperativa Sociale Kids’ summer 2021 at CESM 95,000.00 95,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Intercultura per il dialogo tra le culture e gli 
scambi giovanili internazionali onlus

Foreign study scholarships for deserving, low-means, secondary-school students resident in Piedmont 
and the Genoa metropolitan area for academic year 2022/2023 75,000.00 75,000.00 COLLE DI VAL D'ELSA 

(province of Siena)

Archdiocese of Turin - Office for the Pastoral Care of 
Migrants Genitori Zerosei 2022_parenting workshop 75,000.00 75,000.00 TURIN

Projects, 2021. Education.
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Associazione Altresì APS

Provaci ancora, Sam! 2020-2021 0.00 34,250.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 26,904.00 26,904.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 - additional activities 10,450.00 10,450.00 TURIN

Total for Body 310,500.00 

Teach For Italy Supporting innovation and leadership development to drive change 70,000.00 70,000.00 ROME

Fondazione per la Sussidiarietà Research project on non-cognitive skills in secondary school - second year 60,000.00 60,000.00 MILAN

King Baudouin Foundation CoNNect - Partnership proposal from King Baudouin Fondation for an alliance for vulnerable families 
and early childhood services 50,000.00 50,000.00 BELGIUM

Collegio del Mondo Unito dell'Adriatico, non-profit Scholarships for second-generation students and “Gente come noi, cittadini 
del mondo” initiative for the mentoring programme for students with particular vulnerabilities 45,000.00 45,000.00 Duino Aurisina (province 

of Trieste)

Ass. Minollo Cooperazione Sociale nella Città

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 36,024.00 36,024.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 phase 2 8,920.00 8,920.00 TURIN

Total for Body 44,944.00 

Associazione un sogno per tutti

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 0.00 24,852.00 TURIN

Pas-per-tutti - stepping up the 'Provaci ancora, Sam!' project activities at Istituto Comprensivo Padre 
Gemelli (preparatory phase first half of 2021) 0.00 16,600.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza (phase 2) 1,425.00 1,425.00 TURIN

Total for Body 42,877.00 

Associazione Educadora Onlus

'Sentirsi a casa 2021' project for the management of Centro Aggregativo Minori (CAM) at the Casa del 
Quartiere Cecchi Point in Turin 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza 2 2021 10,405.00 10,405.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 0.00 10,216.79 TURIN

Total for Body 40,621.79 

Marco Berry Onlus Iron mind - senza limiti 35,000.00 35,000.00 RIVOLI (province of Turin)

Associazione Gruppo Abele O.N.L.U.S. Famiglie ZeroSei 30,460.00 30,460.00 TURIN

Associazione Il Melo Care and support initiatives relating to the adoption crisis _10 (2021/2022) 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Oratorio Salesiano San Paolo

Pas-per-tutti - stepping up the 'Provaci ancora, Sam!’ project activity 
(first half of 2021) 0.00 14,000.00 TURIN

“Sam isn’t going on holiday” - phase 2 12,715.00 12,715.00 TURIN

Total for Body 26,715.00 

Associazione DISKOLE' Associazione di promozione sociale

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 0.00 18,240.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 budget remodulation + digital badges 3,050.00 3,050.00 TURIN

Total for Body 21,290.00 

Casa Generalizia della Pia Società Torinese di San Giuseppe 
- Centro Polifunzionale Artigianelli Otm futura Next Generation You call 

for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Giuliano Accomazzi s.c.s. Onlus # ri/generazioni Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

A.L.P.I.M. - Associazione Ligure per i Minori Proposte per il nostro lavoro Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Vedogiovane Società Cooperativa Sociale Riorganizzarsi per contribuire al cambiamento Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ARONA (province of 

Novara)

Associazione ACMOS Verso i prossimi vent'anni ed oltre! Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Un Sogno per Tutti società cooperativa sociale We change Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN
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ASD O.A.S.I. Laura Vicuna Involving the new generation Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 RIVALTA DI TORINO 

(province of Turin)

Collegio Carlo Alberto - Centro di Ricerca e Alta 
Formazione

Una comunità che educa. Involvement of Collegio Carlo Alberto in the preparation of administrative 
data sets on early childhood and adolescence (ADMIN-018) 0.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Centro Come Noi S. Pertini - Organizzazione 
Sermig di Volontariato Onlus Organismo SERMIG di 
Volontariato Onlus

Fare bene il bene Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Oasi Giovani onlus Dove siamo, dove vogliamo andare e come possiamo arrivarci Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 SAVIGLIANO (province of 

Cuneo)

Associazione Rondine Cittadella della Pace Onlus Annual scholarship for the participation of one deserving student from the Piedmont region in the 
fourth year of excellence high school (academic year 2021/2022) 15,000.00 15,000.00 AREZZO

Coopsse Società Coopeartiva Sociale Onlus Coopsse 2028 Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Azimut Cooperativa Sociale Azimut per nuovi orizzonti Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ALESSANDRIA

Jobel società cooperativa sociale N.g.j. Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 SAN REMO (province of 

Imperia)

Fondazione Uniti per Crescere Insieme Ets “Revisioniamuci” - organisational review of Fondazione Uniti per Crescere Insieme Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 MILAN

Il Laboratorio Società Cooperativa Sociale Crescendo Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Terremondo Società Cooperativa Sociale a r.l. Rigenerazioni Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Dedalo Società Cooperativa Sociale Dedalo impresa sociale Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 NOVARA

NEXT-LEVEL Associazione di Promozione Sociale Next-future Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

C.F.L.C. Cooperativa Formazione Lavoro e Cooperazione 
Impresa Sociale Nrg4you Next Generation You call 

for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

ECIPA GENOVA New skills for the development of micro-enterprises Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Helpcode Italia ONLUS Transformation: innovating to maximise impact Next Generation You call 
for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

AGS per il Territorio - Associazione Giovanile Salesiana Next step. Development prospects Next Generation You call 
for proposals 14,000.00 14,000.00 TURIN

Circolo Vega E' tempo di crescere insieme. Next Generation You call 
for proposals 14,000.00 14,000.00 GENOA

Cisef Cooperativa sociale a r.l. Onlus Come un albero Next Generation You call 
for proposals 13,000.00 13,000.00 RONCO SCRIVIA 

(province of Genoa)

Ass. Doposcuola di Quartiere `Contardo Ferrini`

Provaci sam preventivo 2020/21 0.00 10,675.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza 0.00 2,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 12,675.00 

Cooperativa Sociale Mirafiori SCS Digital transition Next Generation You call 
for proposals 12,500.00 12,500.00 TURIN

Associazione Agenzia per lo Sviluppo di Pietra Alta

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 514.72 5,016.00 TURIN

'Provaci ancora Sam' project, AY 2020/21 0.00 4,450.00 TURIN

“Sam non va in vacanza” project, remodulation September 2,925.00 2,925.00 TURIN

Total for Body 12,391.00 

Cooperativa Sociale Puzzle Società Cooperativa per Azioni Puzzle for all - assistance for all categories of vulnerable people Next Generation You call for 
proposals 11,500.00 11,500.00 TURIN
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Oratorio Salesiano Michele Rua

Sam non va in vacanza - 2021 0.00 9,576.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza (phase 2) 575.00 575.00 TURIN

Total for Body 10,151.00 

CISV Solidarietà Società Cooperativa Sociale Educhiamoci a nuovi ambienti Next Generation You call for 
proposals 9,500.00 9,500.00 TURIN

Fondazione Carlo Molo, non-profit Progetto gasa 8,000.00 8,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Felicita Gallesio, non-profit Academic excellence and integration - 9th year, school year 2021/2022 8,000.00 8,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Benvenuti in Italia 5th school safety day 7,500.00 7,500.00 TURIN

Comitato per lo Sviluppo della Falchera Associazione di 
promozione sociale

Il sam non va in vacanza 2021 6,384.00 6,384.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza (phase 2) 275.00 275.00 TURIN

Total for Body 6,659.00 

AFeVA Associazione Famigliari Vittime Amianto 2nd asbestos/environment 5,000.00 5,000.00 CASALE MONFERRATO 
(province of Alessandria)

Carano 4 Children Leonardo 4 children 2021: climate action & gender equality 4,000.00 4,000.00 

Istituto Internazionale Don Bosco - Oratorio Salesiano 
Crocetta

Sam non va in vacanza - 2021 0.00 2,280.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza (phase 2) 200.00 200.00 TURIN

Total for Body 2,480.00 

Gruppo Volontariato ANC 
(Associazione Nazionale Carabinieri) di Torino O.D.V. Volunteer group activities 2,300.00 2,300.00 TURIN

Associazione EDU-CARE Sam non va in vacanza 2021 0.00 2,280.00 TURIN

Associazione Don Bosco 2000 ODV Sam non va in vacanza 2021 1,539.00 1,539.00 TURIN

Opera Salesiana Rebaudengo Sam non va in vacanza (phase 2) 1,210.00 1,210.00 TURIN

Associazione dB2 Mondoenne APS Sam non va in vacanza (phase 2) 750.00 750.00 TURIN

Essereumani Onlus Sam non va in vacanza (phase 2) 425.00 425.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s subscription to the National Fund to Combat Juvenile 
Educational Poverty, 2021 15,995,649.70 15,995,649.70 TURIN

“Provaci ancora, Sam!” project - Update on the project and allocation for the implementation of 
activities for AY 2021/2022 980,000.00 980,000.00 TURIN

Call for proposals to complement the NRRP calls for proposals in the educational arena 900,000.00 900,000.00 TURIN

Calling a General Meeting of Members of Consorzio Xkè? ZeroTredici 365,000.00 365,000.00 TURIN

activities for the second year of the “Riconnessioni 2.0” project 
(August 2021 - July 2022) 297,875.00 297,875.00 TURIN

2021. Un’estate insieme.... e non solo!  Allocations for Famiglie ZeroSei and La Bella Stagione project activities 175,999.28 275,481.35 TURIN

2021-2022 allocations for “Riconnessioni”, “Riconnessioni 2.0” and the start-up phase of Ed-Tech 4.0 256,590.00 256,590.00 TURIN

EQUILIBRI - A new active employment policy intervention for disadvantaged women or women at risk 
of vulnerability with care burdens, and for initiatives to promote educational pathways for their children 220,000.00 220,000.00 TURIN

Support for the innovation and experimentation work carried out by Impresa sociale Xkè? in 2021 and 2022 220,000.00 220,000.00 TURIN

Provision for the design and road-testing of two pilot initiatives aimed at developing citizenship skills 
for young people 220,000.00 220,000.00 TURIN

NOE Una comunità che educa 117,000.00 117,000.00 TURIN

Estate Ragazzi 2021  (grant awarded under the agreement with Turin Municipal Council, 2020-2021) 76,000.00 76,000.00 TURIN

Provision for internal call for proposals for Zerosei dissemination actions to bodies taking part in 
Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo’s methodological and scientific mentoring 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

“Sam non va in vacanza” - coordination and training 22,000.00 22,000.00 TURIN

2021 strategic communication costs of the People Goal 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Sam non va in vacanza 2021 0.00 8,664.00 TURIN

Framework agreement between Turin Municipal Council and Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo 
for the implementation of social, educational and cultural development programmes within the 
municipality of Turin for 2020 - 2021

0.00 7,390.66 TURIN

Total for Body 20,021,650.71 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 30,952,633.50 
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Fondazione con il Sud Share of Compagnia di San Paolo’s 2021 contribution to Fondazione con il Sud 4,064,650.00 4,064,650.00 NAPLES

Compagnia di San Paolo - Agreement with the Municipality 
of Turin

Framework agreement between Turin Municipal Council and Fondazione Compagnia di San 
Paolo for the implementation of social, educational and cultural development programmes 
within the municipality of Turin for 2021 - 2022

324,500.00 324,500.00 TURIN

Associazione Frantz Fanon

Plurality of treatments: network of clinical and psycho-social interventions for migrants, 2022 260,000.00 260,000.00 TURIN

Institutional activity focusing on psychological support, psychotherapy and ethnopsychiatry 
for socially marginalised migrants 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 310,000.00 

Piccola Casa della Divina Provvidenza Institutional activity focusing on assistance, reception, listening and support for people in 
difficulty 270,000.00 270,000.00 TURIN

Genoa Municipal Council h24' – Asilo Massoero co-design and inclusion services 64,040.00 270,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione della Comunità di Mirafiori, non-profit Support for institutional activity 2021 - Fondazione Mirafiori 230,000.00 230,000.00 TURIN

ARCHDIOCESE OF TURIN - CARITAS DIOCESANA Risollev@rsi a primavera 220,000.00 220,000.00 TURIN

Promoting community mental health “Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals “Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals 120,000.00 208,438.46 TURIN

Camminare Insieme ODV

Institutional activity focusing on healthcare for immigrants and other people in difficulty 190,000.00 190,000.00 TURIN

Next camminare insieme Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 205,000.00 

Associazione Il Bandolo Onlus Institutional activity focusing on promoting mental health and supporting people with 
experience of mental suffering 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

Turin Municipal Council - Social Services and Employment 
Division - Employment Service

“Non solo 2021/2022” project:  opportunities for homeless people and families facing severe 
housing hardship 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

Gruppo Arco Società Cooperativa Sociale

Institutional activity focusing on the reception, rehabilitation and social reintegration of 
people facing marginalisation and social hardship 150,000.00 150,000.00 TURIN

Ritorno al futuro Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 165,000.00 

Fondazione F.A.R.O. non-profit - Fondazione Assistenza 
Ricerca Oncologica Piemonte

Institutional activity focusing on free home care for cancer patients in advanced stages of the 
disease 150,000.00 150,000.00 TURIN

Comunità di Sant'Egidio Liguria Odv “Viva gli Anziani” project for active monitoring of people over 80 150,000.00 150,000.00 GENOA

ASSOCIAZIONE ARCOBALENO “Le r/e.t.i. che curano”: psychosis support “Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals 0.00 150,000.00 TURIN

Proposta80 Società Cooperativa Sociale Restart and recovery. A mental health community network “Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals 0.00 140,000.00 CUNEO

Associazione Luce per la Vita, non-profit Institutional activity focusing on a home care service for advanced cancer patients and their 
families in the Val Sangone and Val di Susa area 135,000.00 135,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Insieme, non-profit “ESP Generation” - an inclusive, participatory welfare journey - “Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals 0.00 130,000.00 TURIN

Cooperazione Odontoiatrica Internazionale Coordination of social dentistry in Turin 2022 120,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN

Azienda Sanitaria Locale ASL AL A.l.i. Abitare, lavorare, includere - tempi, luoghi e persone “Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals 0.00 120,000.00 CASALE MONFERRATO 
(province of Alessandria)

Associazione di Promozione Sociale `La Bottega del 
Possibile`

Institutional activity focusing on promoting and developing the culture of enabling at-risk 
people to carry on living in their homes 100,000.00 100,000.00 TORRE PELLICE (province 

of Turin)

Rigenerare il presente per abitare il futuro Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TORRE PELLICE (province 
of Turin)

Total for Body 115,000.00 

Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio di Volterra “Per aspera ad astra” project coordinated by ACRI - How to reconfigure prison through 
culture and beauty - 4th edition 110,000.00 110,000.00 VOLTERRA (province of 

Pisa)

Fondazione Mamre Onlus

Institutional activity focusing on psychological support, psychotherapy and ethnopsychiatry 
for socially marginalised migrants 90,000.00 90,000.00 TURIN

Organisational analysis  of Fondazione Mamre Onlus and consequent development plan Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 105,000.00 

Fondazione Comunitaria della Valle d'Aosta, non-profit Support for institutional activities 2021 100,000.00 100,000.00 AOSTA

Projects, 2021. Community.
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Provincia Piemontese dell'Ordine dei Chierici Regolari 
Ministri degli Infermi Institutional activity focusing on accommodation and assistance for foreign patients 90,000.00 90,000.00 TURIN

Consulta per le Persone in Difficoltà-ODV-ETS

Institutional activity focusing on the integration of people with disabilities 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

New growth scenarios for CPD Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 85,000.00 

Associazione Culturale Eufemia A.P.S.

Spaziar(i)e “Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals 0.00 59,000.00 TURIN

Casa Eufemia Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 74,000.00 

Banco Alimentare del Piemonte ODV

Institutional activity focusing on food collection and distribution for people facing hardship 50,000.00 50,000.00 MONCALIERI (province of 
Turin)

Crescere per far crescere Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 MONCALIERI (province of 
Turin)

Total for Body 65,000.00 

Associazione VITAS Volontari Italiani Assistenza Sofferenti 
- non-profit Institutional activity focusing on home care for patients in advanced stages of disease 65,000.00 65,000.00 CASALE MONFERRATO 

(province of Alessandria)

Fondazione di Comunità Porta Palazzo Fondazione di Comunità Porta Palazzo #year 1 65,000.00 65,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione ADAS - Assistenza Domiciliare ai Sofferenti 
Onlus

Institutional activity focusing on a home care service for advanced cancer patients and their 
families in the catchment area of local health unit CN1 60,000.00 60,000.00 CUNEO

Fondazione Opera Pia 'Avv. Lorenzo Cavalli' 2021 grant application, Carmagnola community foundation 60,000.00 60,000.00 CARMAGNOLA (province 
of Turin)

Fondazione Valsesia Onlus Support for institutional activities 60,000.00 60,000.00 BORGOSESIA (province 
of Vercelli)

Antigone onlus Support for 2021 institutional activity focusing on research and awareness-raising regarding 
rights and guarantees in the criminal justice system 55,000.00 55,000.00 ROME

Consorzio Sociale N.A.O.S. Se.giova “Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals 0.00 52,561.54 TURIN

Associazione Giobbe, non-profit Institutional activity focusing on home care for AIDS patients and their families 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Comunitaria del Verbano Cusio Ossola VCO “Segni vitali” in Verbano-Cusio-Ossola 50,000.00 50,000.00 VERBANIA (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Fondazione di Comunità del Canavese Onlus Support for institutional activities 50,000.00 50,000.00 IVREA (province of Turin)

Associazione S.A.M.C.O. Onlus Institutional activity focusing on a home-based and hospice-based care service for patients with 
advanced cancer and chronic degenerative diseases in local health authority area TO4 (Turin) 50,000.00 50,000.00 CHIVASSO (province of 

Turin)

Banco Farmaceutico Torino OVD Institutional activity focusing on the collection of in-date prescription drugs for people facing 
poverty in Piedmont 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione della Comunità Chierese Support for activities 50,000.00 50,000.00 CHIERI (province of Turin)

University of Turin Students in custody hub (financial yr. 2021 - AY 2021/2022) 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Istituto Italiano della Donazione IID - disseminating good practices among NPOs and promoting an informed gift culture 45,000.00 45,000.00 MILAN

Associazione ISPAM ODV Iniziative e studi psicosociali 
Amelia Monastra Giovani in società “Salute, effetto comune” call for proposals 0.00 40,000.00 BOLZANO NOVARESE 

(province of Novara)

Coordinamento Provinciale Volontari Protezione Civile Upgrading the province’s mobile civil protection response capability 30,000.00 30,000.00 CUNEO

Un Sogno per Tutti società cooperativa sociale Civediamo - a neighbourhood made-to-measure for elderly people 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Banco delle Opere di Carità del Piemonte Onlus BOC “Uniti insieme per ricominciare”: support for overcoming a prolonged period of difficulty
‘Fatto per Bene’ call for proposals on 
community cooperation for the redistribution 
of essential goods

0.00 30,000.00 CASELLE TORINESE 
(province of Turin)

Associazione Teatro Società “Game over - cambiare rotta?” Dialoghi sul futuro 28,000.00 28,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Aurora, non-profit Tutti per una comunità che cresce 25,000.00 25,000.00 ACQUI TERME (province 
of Alessandria)

Associazione di volontariato Damamar Falchera food emergency - supraterritorial management service 2021 22,000.00 22,000.00 TURIN

Associazione 'b612 Lab' Associazione artistico/culturale Thesaurus monviso 20,000.00 20,000.00 MORETTA (province of 
Cuneo)

University of Genoa Polo Universitario Penitenziario Regionale - PUP 20,000.00 20,000.00 GENOA

Cooperativa Sociale P.G. Frassati s.c.s. Onlus Innox (innovation for development) Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Comunità San Benedetto al Porto Reloaded Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA
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Cooperativa Sociale Alice Onlus e = m x c2 project (evolution of “alice = mission x competenze x cambiamento) Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ALBA (province of Cuneo)

Cooperativa Sociale Progetto Emmaus Soc. Coop. a r.l. Vogliamo stare su una zolla, ma guardare il cielo Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ALBA (province of Cuneo)

Il Ce.Sto Cooperativa Sociale Transformation projects for a community hub Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Cooperativa Paradigma s.c.s. Innovation and resilience Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Comunitaria della Riviera dei Fiori Onlus Support for community foundations: Fondazione Comunitaria della Riviera dei Fiori onlus 15,000.00 15,000.00 TAGGIA (province of 
Imperia)

Cooperativa sociale il sogno di una cosa Il sogno reload Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 SUSA (province of Turin)

Rete Italiana di Cultura Popolare APS Building a community concierge network Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Lindbergh Cooperativa Sociale Work in progess Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 LA SPEZIA

ACLI Città Metropolitana di Torino APS Innovation for communities Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale I Buffoni di Corte Onlus “La corte”: new independence and training hub Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione di Promozione Sociale CentroX100 Essere anziani a mirafiori sud 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Banco Alimentare della Liguria ODV Migliorare per crescere Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

FONDAZIONE SERMIG ONLUS Organizzarsi per crescere Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 PECETTO TORINESE 
(province of Turin)

Agorà Soc. Coop. Sociale Ex Consorzio Agorà 4.0 Next Generation You call for proposals 14,000.00 14,000.00 GENOA

Maria Cecilia Società Cooperativa Sociale Onlus Mission possible Next Generation You call for proposals 12,500.00 12,500.00 BIELLA

Ufficio Pio della Compagnia di San Paolo Onlus Contribution to supplement the Musy Fund to support traineeships for university students in 
custody in the 'Lorusso e Cotugno’ detention facility in Turin 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

AUSER VOLONTARIATO PIEMONTE ODV ASSOCIAZIONE 
PER L'INVECCHIAMENTO ATTIVO ETS Digital literacy 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Symbola Fondazione per le Qualità Italiane 1000 azioni per una nuova Italia 10,000.00 10,000.00 ROME

Consorzio Sociale `Il Filo da Tessere` Oremo giovani Next Generation You call for proposals 9,500.00 9,500.00 BIELLA

Fondazione Casa dell'Ospitalità ONLUS Recovery college Ivrea 9,500.00 9,500.00 IVREA (province of Turin)

Casa Circondariale 'Lorusso e Cutugno' (formerly Le Vallette) Hosting, web development and updating the website and family interview booking 
management system. 8,900.00 8,900.00 TURIN

Associazione + Cultura Accessibile “Cinema accessibile 2021” - training course 6,000.00 6,000.00 TURIN

Impasse Awareness-raising initiatives to promote community mental health in Piedmont 0.00 5,000.00 TURIN

MinD Mad in Design Awareness-raising initiatives to promote community mental health in Piedmont 0.00 4,000.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - “Insieme andrà tutto bene” call 
for proposals

“Insieme andrà tutto bene” call for proposals call for activities and proposals to promote support 
for vulnerable people, children and families in difficulty in Piedmont and Liguria (residual)

“Insieme andrà tutto bene” call for 
proposals 0.00 3,427.03 TURIN

LABORATORIO ZANZARA SCRL ONLUS Awareness-raising initiatives to promote community mental health in Piedmont 0.00 3,000.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Allocation options for 2021 and meeting with the organisation’s governing bodies 10,521,000.00 11,521,000.00 TURIN
Provision for the implementation of an initiative to promote community health 700,000.00 700,000.00 TURIN

B2= Il bene x bene call for proposals  Update on the initiative, provision for the new 2022 
edition and strategic communication initiatives

‘Fatto per Bene’ call for proposals on 
community cooperation for the redistribution 
of essential goods

400,000.00 400,000.00 TURIN

“Rete Ricibo”: a citizens’ network project for the recovery and redistribution of food surpluses 
in the Municipality of Genoa    Information pack and provision for 2022-23 120,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN

Transform - Transnational Forum on Integrated Community Care (2) 100,000.00 100,000.00 BELGIUM
“Tavole allegre”  Update on the initiative, options for continuing the activities and further 
provision 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

2021 guidelines for Community Foundations - Approval of provision, text of guidelines and 
initial prospects for a multi-year strategy 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

2021 strategic communication costs of the People Goal 10,000.00 10,350.00 TURIN

Total for Body 12,941,350.00 

Total for sector 22,836,327.03 
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Associazione di Fondazioni e di Casse di Risparmio Spa 
ACRI

Allocation for a joint initiative for ACRI Migrants Fund 300,000.00 300,000.00 ROME

Provision for joint initiative for ACRI Migrants Fund 0.00 200,000.00 ROME

Total for Body 500,000.00 

Associazione Gruppo Abele O.N.L.U.S.

Institutional activity focusing on listening, reception and social and employment rehabilitation 
of people in difficulty 270,000.00 270,000.00 TURIN

Young people and families - nomis 2022 87,300.00 87,300.00 TURIN

Identita' e' cambiamento Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 372,300.00 

Esserci - Società Cooperativa Sociale

Educativa di strada nomis - paradero 2021 146,500.00 146,500.00 TURIN

Casa nomis 2022 130,000.00 130,000.00 TURIN

Palestra abitativa 0.00 23,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 299,500.00 

Archdiocese of Turin - Caritas Diocesana Institutional activity focusing on listening, accommodation, training and employment for 
immigrants 240,000.00 240,000.00 TURIN

Slow Food

Institutional activity focusing on promoting sustainable models of food production and 
distribution 180,000.00 180,000.00 BRA (province of Cuneo)

Slow food network: global, active and digital Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 BRA (province of Cuneo)

Total for Body 195,000.00 

Associazione A Pieno Titolo, non-profit

Fatti riconoscere 2 150,000.00 150,000.00 TURIN

‘Extra-titoli’ 2021/2022, a help-desk for people seeking recognition of foreign qualifications 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 190,000.00 

YEPP Falchera - social promotion association Yepp Italia operational plan 2022 149,500.00 149,500.00 TURIN

Associazione Rete Dafne, non-profit Rete dafne onlus: accommodation, listening and support for victims of crime - metropolitan 
and regional network - 2022 140,000.00 140,000.00 TURIN

Opera Diocesana Madonna dei Bambini - Villaggio Del 
Ragazzo

Institutional activity focusing on reception, training and employment pathways for young 
people facing hardship 135,000.00 135,000.00 CHIAVARI (province of 

Genoa)

Associazione delle Fondazioni di Origine Bancaria del 
Piemonte Allocation to Projects Fund for 2021 120,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN

Associazione per gli Studi Giuridici sull'Immigrazione, ASGI 
APS

Protections. Legal support service for vulnerable foreign citizens 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Legal advice, information, legal training and advocacy service for the rights of foreign minors 
under the Nomis project 18,900.00 18,900.00 TURIN

Total for Body 118,900.00 

Associazione AlmaTerra Institutional activity focusing on reception, mentoring, training and social and employment 
reintegration of migrant women 105,000.00 105,000.00 TURIN

A.L.P.I.M. - Associazione Ligure per i Minori Institutional activity focusing on the reception and rehabilitation of under-18s facing criminal 
charges or at high risk of delinquency 100,000.00 100,000.00 GENOA

Synergica s.c.s. N.O.MI.S. project (new opportunities for foreign minors) 92,700.00 92,700.00 MONCALIERI (province of 
Turin)

CISV Comunità Impegno Servizio Volontariato 
Una Comunità per il mondo

Institutional activity focusing on promoting sustainable models of food production and 
distribution 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Radici nel futuro: dal locale al globale Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 75,000.00 

Paìs - Percorsi di Accompagnamento e Inclusione Sociale 
A.P.S. Ets Olmo 3 0.00 70,725.00 TURIN

Associazione Volontarie del Telefono Rosa Piemonte di 
Torino ODV

Institutional activity focusing on accommodation, listening and support for female victims of 
violence or maltreatment 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Generazione Ponte “Luoghi e memorie comuni 3”: active participation for the inclusion of new citizens 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Projects, 2021. Inclusion.
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Mosaico - Azioni per i Rifugiati Oasi - on the street. Social mediation on the street. 2021-2022 55,000.00 55,000.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Agreement with the Municipality 
of Turin

Framework agreement between Turin Municipal Council and Fondazione Compagnia di San 
Paolo for the implementation of social, educational and cultural development programmes 
within the municipality of Turin for 2021 - 2022

50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Articolo 10 Onlus A home to live 45,000.00 45,000.00 TURIN

Istituto San Giovanni Evangelista Oratorio Salesiano San 
Luigi Nomis street education project - ‘Spazio anch’io 2022’ 43,200.00 43,200.00 TURIN

Associazione Frantz Fanon Activities of the Frantz Fanon association within the Nomis 2022 project 31,500.00 31,500.00 TURIN

A.P.S.P. Casa Benefica Approdo 2021 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Tedacà Festival of Migration 2021 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Liberitutti - Società Cooperativa Sociale Nega so: valle myra è casa mia “Territorio Inclusivi” call for proposals 29,836.00 29,836.00 TURIN

associazione comitato3ottobre accoglienza onlus Siamo sulla stessa barca 28,000.00 28,000.00 ROME

ASVAPP - Associazione per lo Sviluppo della Valutazione e 
l'Analisi delle Politiche Pubbliche Monitoring and evaluation of Nomis 2022 27,000.00 27,000.00 TURIN

ASAI - Associazione di Animazione Interculturale The art of growing up, 2022 26,000.00 26,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale Il Nostro Pianeta Inp/nomis 2022 - educational inclusion actions 25,000.00 25,000.00 TURIN

Federazione Regionale Solidarietà e Lavoro Scholastic and employment guidance for immigrant families aimed at independence and 
social inclusion 20,000.00 20,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione di Comunità Porta Palazzo Sostieni aurora 0.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Aliseo, non-profit Provare per crescere! Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Pro Retinopatici ed Ipovedenti Onlus Occhio all'organizzazione! Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CASELLE TORINESE 
(province of Turin)

Fondazione Istituto Sacra Famiglia - Onlus Day Centre 3.0. Innovation at the service of people with disabilities and their families Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CESANO BOSCONE 
(province of Milan)

Antigone onlus Generative alliances for rights in the criminal justice system Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ROME

Cooperativa Sociale Atypica a r.l. Un'atypica impresa Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 COLLEGNO (province of 
Turin)

Centro di Solidarietà della Compagnia delle Opere della 
Liguria Associazione di Volontariato ONLUS Let's go! Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

MADIBA Società Cooperativa Sociale Madiba - next level Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 BEINASCO (province of 
Turin)

Associazione Interculturale Karmadonne a.p.s. Next generation karmadonne Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CARMAGNOLA (province 
of Turin)

Uisp - Comitato Territoriale di Torino APS Forward Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Consorzio Tassano Servizi Territoriali TST social lab Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CASARZA LIGURE 
(province of Genoa)

Compagnia di Iniziative Sociali - Consorzio Società 
Cooperativa Sociale (CIS) Rigenerazione Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ALBA (province of Cuneo)

Associazione di Promozione Sociale 'Cambalache' Cambalache next Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ALESSANDRIA

Associazione Culturale Filippina del Piemonte (ACFIL) Acfil cares: 'we constantly give assistance with respect and endures amidst obstacles just to 
offer service' 0.00 15,000.00 TURIN

GE.S.A.C. Società cooperativa sociale Chambra d'oc (system building) Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CUNEO

RE.TE ONG Associazione di Tecnici per la Solidarietà e la 
Cooperazione Internazionale Guardando al mondo Next Generation You call for proposals 14,650.00 14,650.00 TURIN

Cifa Onlus Our bright future Next Generation You call for proposals 11,710.00 11,710.00 TURIN

Centro Universitario Sportivo Cus Torino Sport: entrepreneurship at the service of people Next Generation You call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Italiana Vittime del Terrorismo e dell'Eversione 
contro l'Ordinamento Costituzionale Terrorism: tragedies and fears of yesterday and today 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Associazione 'b612 Lab' Associazione artistico/culturale Thesaurus monviso 10,000.00 10,000.00 MORETTA (province of Cuneo)

Mondi in Città, non-profit “Torino la mia citta”: Italian language and citizenship courses for immigrant women, ed. 2021-22 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

LAB.IN.S Società Cooperativa Impresa Sociale Labins 2030 Next Generation You call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN
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Associazione CO.C.IMA Yes woman yes try!: independence pathways for active participation 10,000.00 10,000.00 GENOA

APS CONNGI “Protagonisti! le nuove generazioni italiane si raccontano” – sport and social inclusion 10,000.00 10,000.00 ROME

Ashoka Italia Ashoka changemaker summit 9,500.00 9,500.00 MILAN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Innovation for Development Initiative: follow-up phase 500,000.00 500,000.00 TURIN

EPIM - European Programme for Integration and Migration 300,000.00 300,000.00 BELGIUM
‘Prima le Mamme e i Bambini-Nutriamoli’ nutrition project aimed at women and children in Africa 200,000.00 200,000.00 PINEROLO (province of Turin)
New initiative to help people from migrant backgrounds into employment, with particular 
reference to refugees 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

MOI Project - Migranti, un’Opportunità di Inclusione. 0.00 150,000.00 TURIN
Expenses for personnel, consulting and management for the MOI project (from Sept 2019) 0.00 150,000.00 TURIN
N.O.MI.S. -Nuove Opportunità per Minori Stranieri Youth Delinquency Project 128,400.00 128,400.00 TURIN
“Abitare migranti” initiative 122,000.00 122,000.00 TURIN
YEPP Project - Youth Empowerment Partnership Programme YEPP Project 110,500.00 110,500.00 TURIN
Young People’s Advisory Board for Compagnia di San Paolo.   Establishment of the Board 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN
“Territori inclusivi” - communities of practice 75,000.00 75,000.00 TURIN
“Territori Inclusivi” call for proposals.  Result of evaluation and provision for capacity building 
activities for bodies, and operating costs 48,664.00 48,664.00 TURIN

2021 strategic communication costs of the People Goal 20,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN
“Fatti riconoscere 2” - operating costs 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN
Evaluation of proposals under the “Territori Inclusivi” call for proposals 3,500.00 3,500.00 TURIN
Total for Body 2,128,064.00 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 5,928,085.00 

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Fondazione Museo Nazionale del Cinema 'Maria Adriana 
Prolo'

Strategic development actions under the agreement between Piedmont Regional Council and 
Compagnia di San Paolo 2020-2022 Esercizi di delega SG 700,000.00 700,000.00 TURIN

2021 support 2021 as a co-governed body 650,000.00 650,000.00 TURIN

InTO Cinema Switch call for proposals - phase 2 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

39th Torino Film Festival 190,000.00 190,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 1,740,000.00 

Turin Municipal Council

Eurovision song contest 2022 500,000.00 500,000.00 TURIN

Contemporary art 2021/2023 0.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 560,000.00 

Fondazione del Teatro Stabile, Turin TorinoDanza 2021 400,000.00 400,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Teatro Piemonte Europa Support for institutional activity 2021 340,000.00 340,000.00 TURIN

Castello di Rivoli Museo d'Arte Contemporanea

CRRI and digital upgrade - part 3 Esercizi di delega SG 250,000.00 250,000.00 RIVOLI (province of Turin)

Castello di Rivoli: local and global Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 RIVOLI (province of Turin)

Total for Body 265,000.00 

Fondazione Luzzati - Teatro della Tosse, non-profit

Support for institutional activity 2021 230,000.00 230,000.00 GENOA

Tosse + Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Total for Body 245,000.00 

Fondazione Film Commission Torino Piemonte

Piemonte Film TV Development Fund Esercizi di delega SG 160,000.00 160,000.00 TURIN

Torino Film Industry - Production Days 2021 Esercizi di delega SG 80,000.00 80,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 240,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Capacity to Attract.
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Fondazione Teatro Regio, Turin Luci d'Artista 2021 220,000.00 220,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Sandretto Re Rebaudengo

Support for institutional activity 2021 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

Contemporary landscape. Nature, art and tourism in Roero, Langhe and Monferrato Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 215,000.00 

Fondazione Teatro Coccia di Novara Three-year strategic development plan – second year Esercizi di delega SG 200,000.00 200,000.00 NOVARA

Palazzo Reale di Genova Hbim/pr: Historical building information modelling for Palazzo Reale di Genova. Archiving, 
conservation, planning, enhancement and showcasing of historical and artistic heritage Switch call for proposals - phase 2 199,000.00 199,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione Castello Visconteo Sforzesco di Novara The digital transformation of Novara Castle for a new way of creating and experiencing 
culture Switch call for proposals - phase 1 197,000.00 197,000.00 NOVARA

Associazione Print Club Torino

Fast forward: Print Club Torino innovation plan – Executive project Switch call for proposals - phase 2 140,000.00 140,000.00 TURIN

Print Club Torino 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Looking forward to Europe Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 195,000.00 

Associazione Culturale VIEW Conference View conference 2021 - 22nd international computer graphics conference, and Viewfest 2021 
- digital movie festival 180,000.00 180,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Lingotto Musica Support for institutional activity 2021 175,000.00 175,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Piemonte dal Vivo Lavanderia a Vapore 4.0 - 2021/2022 activities of the Centro Regionale di Residenza per la 
Danza e la Creazione Contemporanea 130,000.00 130,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Piera Pietro e Giovanni Ferrero Onlus Exhibition: 'Burri. La poesia della materia' 130,000.00 130,000.00 ALBA (province of Cuneo)

Compagnia di San Paolo - Technical implementation costs

“In luce” call for proposals to showcase and generate value from local cultural identiities: 
result of the first phase of the call “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

Communication costs for “Valorizzazione” call for proposals 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Communication costs “ART~WAVES” call for proposals. 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

VIVA call for proposals: selection results VIVA call for proposals 5,000.00 5,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 125,000.00 

A.C.T.I. Associazione Culturale Teatro Indipendente “Fertili terreni” theatre season 2021 2022 Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 120,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN

Asti Municipal Council Patric next Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 110,000.00 110,000.00 ASTI

Associazione Culturale `Gli Scarti` “Fuori luogo” 11th edition Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 110,000.00 110,000.00 PADIVARMA di BEVERINO 
(province of La Spezia)

Fondazione Filatoio Rosso di Caraglio

Support for institutional activity 2021 90,000.00 90,000.00 CARAGLIO (province of 
Cuneo)

Una tradizione che si rinnova Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CARAGLIO (province of 
Cuneo)

Total for Body 105,000.00 

Associazione Culturale Parco Arte Vivente

Support for institutional activity 2021 90,000.00 90,000.00 TURIN

Greening value. A pathway to fulfilling the local impact potential of the PAV Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 105,000.00 

Istituto civico musicale Città di Rivoli G. Balmas Scene dal vivo 2021 2022 Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 100,000.00 100,000.00 RIVOLI (province of Turin)

Teatro Instabile di Aosta soc. coop. “Tracce” network project Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 100,000.00 100,000.00 VILLENEUVE (province of 
Aosta)

Associazione Circolo del Design

Circolo del design 2021 - Design is a multitude 85,000.00 85,000.00 TURIN

Next team CDD. Development, value and growth Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 100,000.00 

Teatro degli Acerbi Società Cooperativa

Landscape storymovers. Plan to enhance, showcase and tell the story of the vineyard 
landscape of the Asti area and the UNESCO heritage of Langhe Monferrato and Roero “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 75,000.00 75,000.00 ASTI

Landscape storymovers - integrated system to tell the story of the UNESCO territory of 
Langhe Roero and Monferrato VIVA call for proposals 23,000.00 23,000.00 ASTI

Total for Body 98,000.00 

> CAPACITY TO ATTRACT

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION
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Musicaround APS

FestivAlContrario. Vivere la Val Neva “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 73,000.00 73,000.00 GENOA

Festivalcontrario VIVA call for proposals 22,000.00 22,000.00 GENOA

Total for Body 95,000.00 

Cervo Municipal Council

Lento - Cervo, a village of sustainable culture “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 72,000.00 72,000.00 CERVO (province of 
Imperia)

Festival internazionale di musica da camera di Cervo - 58th edition, 2021 VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 CERVO (province of 
Imperia)

Total for Body 92,000.00 

Regione Liguria

Travel over Liguria: food, green & art 50,000.00 50,000.00 GENOA

Project 21 - 21 40,000.00 40,000.00 GENOA

Total for Body 90,000.00 

Associazione Culturale IdeAgorà

Mirabilia international circus & performing arts festival 2022, 16th edition. Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 60,000.00 60,000.00 FOSSANO (province of 
Cuneo)

Mirabilia international circus & performing arts festival 2021, 15th edition. VIVA call for proposals 25,000.00 25,000.00 FOSSANO (province of 
Cuneo)

Total for Body 85,000.00 

Fondazione Museo Francesco Borgogna Support for institutional activity 2021 80,000.00 80,000.00 VERCELLI

Associazione Culturale Rest-Art Open music Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 80,000.00 80,000.00 NOVARA

Fondazione Camera - Centro Italiano per la Fotografia Exhibitions and cultural activities 2021 0.00 80,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Settimane Musicali di Stresa - International 
Festival Stresa Festival 2021 75,000.00 75,000.00 STRESA (province of 

Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Istituto per l'Ambiente e l'Educazione Scholé Futuro Onlus “Habitat - i sentieri di casa”. Itineraries for a Val Sesia cultural park “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 75,000.00 75,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Forte di Bard Exhibition work 2021 75,000.00 75,000.00 BARD (province of Aosta)

Barge Municipal Council Cave.a – Monte Bracco, Barge “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 75,000.00 75,000.00 BARGE (province of 
Cuneo)

Framura Municipal Council

“Nuove Terre” - scattered-site performing arts widespread for the Levante Ligure Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 55,000.00 55,000.00 FRAMURA (province of La 
Spezia)

‘Nuove Terre - Le arti della scena’ theatre festival VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 FRAMURA (province of La 
Spezia)

Total for Body 75,000.00 

Unione Montana Alta Val Tanaro “D'acqua e di ferro”: new development perspectives for the Tanaro railway “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 75,000.00 75,000.00 GARESSIO (province of 
Cuneo)

Pinerolo Municipal Council “Paesaggio fortificato”: evolution of the historical relationship between Piedmont and France “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 75,000.00 75,000.00 PINEROLO (province of 
Turin)

Associazione Parco Culturale Alta Langa Bormida Gotica “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 75,000.00 75,000.00 MONESIGLIO (province of 
Cuneo)

Associazione Culturale Walser Riva Valdobbia - 
Valle Vogna Onlus The “Walserwege” as a means of showcasing the cultural identity of their setting “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 75,000.00 75,000.00 ALAGNA VALSESIA 

(province of Vercelli)

Ente Laicale di Culto Nostra Signora di Oropa “Itinerari dello spirito”: the “Cammino Oropa” between Biella and Canavese “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 74,000.00 74,000.00 BIELLA

Nizza Monferrato Municipal Council Gipsoteche in luce “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 73,000.00 73,000.00 NIZZA MONFERRATO 
(province of Asti)

Centro Documentazione Tutela della Cultura Biellese Woolscape “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 72,000.00 72,000.00 BIELLA

Associazione Centro Culturale Diocesano “La Via Francigena in Valle di Susa”: voices and places for experiential tourism “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 72,000.00 72,000.00 SUSA (province of Turin)

Associazione Culturale To Locals Morena stories “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 72,000.00 72,000.00 TURIN

OFFICE REGIONAL DU TOURISME Notes from the “Cammino Balteo” “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 72,000.00 72,000.00 AOSTA

Fondazione Museo della Ceramica Vecchia Mondovì

Support for institutional activity 2021 55,000.00 55,000.00 MONDOVI (province of 
Cuneo)

Next MOMUC Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 MONDOVI (province of 
Cuneo)

Total for Body 70,000.00 
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Fondazione Torino Musei Artissima digital 2021 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Amici di Palazzo della Meridiana Cultural and exhibition work 2021 70,000.00 70,000.00 GENOA

Centro Studi Beppe Fenoglio Associazione Centro Studi di 
Letteratura, Storia, Arte e Cultura Beppe Fenoglio onlus “Atlas Fenoglio”. A literary identity for a new century “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

Tones on The stones

The first season of Tones Nature Theatre Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 50,000.00 50,000.00 VERBANIA (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Tones on the stones - 2021 season VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 VERBANIA (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Total for Body 70,000.00 

FONDAZIONE SCUOLA DI BELLE ARTI ROSSETTI 
VALENTINI Val Vigezzo. The Valley of Painters. “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 70,000.00 70,000.00 

SANTA MARIA 
MAGGIORE (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Associazione LIS LAB Performing Arts

Cross project - cross festival 2022 Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 50,000.00 50,000.00 NEBBIUNO (province of 
Novara)

Cross festival 2021 VIVA call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 NEBBIUNO (province of 
Novara)

Total for Body 68,000.00 

Associazione Teatro della Caduta

Concentrica - 9th edition Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 45,000.00 45,000.00 TURIN

Concentrica 8 1/2 VIVA call for proposals 22,000.00 22,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 67,000.00 

Dolceacqua Municipal Council AntropoScene “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 65,000.00 65,000.00 DOLCEACQUA (province 
of Imperia)

Caraglio Municipal Council “Beica ben!” Showcasing the Occitan identity of the Grana and Maira valleys “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 65,000.00 65,000.00 CARAGLIO (province of 
Cuneo)

Associazione Amici di Casa Jorn APS “Avanguardie a Ponente”. Artisti di ieri, cittadini di oggi, pubblici di domani “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 65,000.00 65,000.00 ALBISOLA MARINA 
(province of Savona)

Fondazione Nuovo Teatro Faraggiana Costruire citta' Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 65,000.00 65,000.00 NOVARA

Compagnia Teatro Akropolis

“Testimonianze ricerca azioni” cultural festival - 12th edition Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 50,000.00 50,000.00 GENOA

“Progetto Orione” - strategies for the development of Teatro Akropolis Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Total for Body 65,000.00 

Fondazione Centro di Studio della Danza 'Jolanda e 
Susanna Egri'

“Eartheart”: the power and fragility of the earth’s heart Art Waves call for proposals - Production 48,000.00 48,000.00 TURIN

“Prospettive di rilancio”: decent work and project sustainability Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 63,000.00 

Associazione di Promozione Sociale The Sharing

Cristallo di luce Art Waves call for proposals - Production 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Share project/festival 16th edizione 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 60,000.00 

Associazione Culturale Situazione Xplosiva Club to club 2021 - C0C 'the festival as a performance' 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Mulino ad Arte - Associazione Culturale Live show piossasco - arts &green Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 60,000.00 60,000.00 CUMIANA (province of 
Turin)

APS Strada del Riso Vercellese di qualità “Riflessi.” Percorsi d'acqua tra natura, arte, cultura “In Luce - Valorizzazione” call for proposals 60,000.00 60,000.00 VERCELLI

Fondazione ARTEA

Feasibility study for the creation of an integrated system to showcase and promote tourism 
to Piedmont’s fortifications and related technical, economic, financial and managerial 
sustainability plan

Performing Arts call for proposals 2020. 30,000.00 30,000.00 SALUZZO (province of 
Cuneo)

Tesori del Marchesato VIVA call for proposals 25,000.00 25,000.00 SALUZZO (province of 
Cuneo)

Total for Body 55,000.00 

Associazione Culturale il Mulino di Amleto Birds of a kind Art Waves call for proposals - Production 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Balletto Teatro di Torino Soc Coop a rl Tiny uppercase. Il nostro 'senso' nascosto Art Waves call for proposals - Production 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

CORDATA F.O.R. Bello! Art Waves call for proposals - Production 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN
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Zona K Non siamo niente, saremo tutto Art Waves call for proposals - Production 50,000.00 50,000.00 MILAN

Sineglossa Fdd | food data digestion Art Waves call for proposals - Production 50,000.00 50,000.00 ANCONA

Associazione Amici dei Musei Reali Torino Initiatives to enhance and showcase the Musei Reali 0.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale MULTIETNICA Paralo(o)p - open sound Art Waves call for proposals - Production 50,000.00 50,000.00 TITO (province of 
Potenza)

Associazione Culturale Italian Music Festivals Settima estinzione Art Waves call for proposals - Production 50,000.00 50,000.00 VERCELLI

Genoa Municipal Council Genova Jeans 50,000.00 50,000.00 GENOA

La Corte Ospitale Casa mondo Art Waves call for proposals - Production 49,000.00 49,000.00 RUBIERA (province of 
Reggio Emilia)

Società Ginnastica di Torino “Spazio Flic” season Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 45,000.00 45,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Accademia di Alta Formazione Artistica e 
Musicale Lorenzo Perosi 'i concerti dell'accademia’ 45th concert season Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 45,000.00 45,000.00 BIELLA

Associazione culturale musicale Forevergreen FM Electropark 2021/22 Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 45,000.00 45,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione Merz Development programme for contemporary cultural production and offering 45,000.00 45,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale Mosaico Danza Interplay Festival 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale 'Teatro Necessario Onlus' “Voci dall'arca” 2021-2022 music and theatre festival Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 40,000.00 40,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Torinostratosferica Torinostratosferica 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Prs Srl Impresa Sociale - Paratissima Produzioni & Servizi 
Srl Impresa sociale Paratissima 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

APS GELSOMINA Vague Art Waves call for proposals - Production 40,000.00 40,000.00 GENOA

Società Cooperativa Faber Teater Andante Art Waves call for proposals - Production 40,000.00 40,000.00 CHIVASSO (province of 
Turin)

Associazione Culturale AlbumArte Dust of dreams Art Waves call for proposals - Production 40,000.00 40,000.00 ROME

Associazione Cranpi Vita amore morte e rivoluzione Art Waves call for proposals - Production 40,000.00 40,000.00 ROME

Club Futuro Expand - #danceforchange Art Waves call for proposals - Production 33,000.00 33,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Sarabanda Impresa Sociale ‘Circumnavigando’ // international theatre circus festival #corpioggettispazio. 
New interpretations of juggling. 21st edition Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 30,000.00 30,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Socio-Musico-Culturale 'Rapallo Musica' 24th “Armonie sacre percorrendo le terre di Liguria” international organ music festival Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 30,000.00 30,000.00 RAPALLO (province of 
Genoa)

Associazione The Others The Others 2021 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale Camerata Ducale Music Tandem VIVA call for proposals 25,000.00 25,000.00 VERCELLI

Associazione Culturale Revejo Valsusa dal vivo - la montagna è spettacolo VIVA call for proposals 25,000.00 25,000.00 BUSSOLENO (province of 
Turin)

Associazione Torino Fringe, social promotion association Torino fringe festival 10th edition Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 25,000.00 25,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Italiana Amici Cinema d'Essai Nazionale Torino short film market 22,000.00 22,000.00 TURIN

Compagnia di Musica Teatro Accademia dei Folli Tourtheater VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale Artexe Ossola guitar festival - 25the edition 2021 VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 SETTIMO TORINESE 
(province of Turin)

Associazione per l'Ecomuseo Valle Elvo e Serra ODV Attaccafili VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 OCCHIEPPO SUPERIORE 
(province of Biella)

Perinaldo Municipal Council “Terre di confine”, Perinaldo Festival and the Ponente Ligure concerts, 25th edition VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 PERINALDO (province of 
Imperia)

Associazione Culturale Casanoego Jazz:re:found presenta moonferrato VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 VERCELLI

Cuochilab associazione di promozione sociale Play with food Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Associazione CRAFT - Associazione Centro Ricerca Arte 
Formazione Teatro Centro Ricerca Arte Formazione Teatro Festival astiteatro 43 VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 TIGLIOLE (province of 

Asti)
Associazione sportiva dilettantistica ricreativo culturale 
'L'Albero del Macramè' “Piazza di circo.” Street theatre, circus and performing arts festival VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 MONDOVI (province of 

Cuneo)

Better Places APS “Fluviale.” Art, environment & social research VIVA call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 BIELLA

Associazione Culturale Hiroshima Mon Amour Attraverso festival 2021 VIVA call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Turismo in Langa Walking art. Emotional intineraries through Langhe and Roero VIVA call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 ALBA (province of Cuneo)
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LUCAS - Libera Unione di Cultura Arte e Spettacolo Scenario Montagna VIVA call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Sul Filo Della Seta “La via verde della seta.” Summer festival of spinning mills, silk factories and archives VIVA call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 RACCONIGI (province of Cuneo)

Associazione Phanes Art site fest - closeness VIVA call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 TURIN

Teatro Nazionale di Genova Organisational analysis and development prospects for the Teatro Nazionale di Genova Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione Cesare Pavese Vivere è cominciare Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 SANTO STEFANO BELBO 
(province of Cuneo)

Associazione Culturale Kronoteatro Moto armonico Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ALBENGA (province of 
Savona)

Fondazione Cosso Siamo aperti! VIVA call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 PINEROLO (province of Turin)

Saluzzo Municipal Council - Compatible Land Development 
Sector Land Governance Sector Occit’amo. Guardare. Sentire. Gustare - 2021 edition VIVA call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 SALUZZO (province of 

Cuneo)

Associazione Flashback Flashback 2021 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Casa degli Alfieri Società Cooperativa Alfieri 50+ Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CASTAGNOLE MONFERRATO 
(province of Asti)

Associazione di promozione sociale Fools Futura Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Musei Reali di Torino New skills for new cultural products Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Kalatà S.r.l. impresa sociale Novara è viva! VIVA call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 MONDOVI (province of Cuneo)

Officine Papage Visioni papage: piccoli teatri a levante Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 DEIVA MARINA (province 
of La Spezia)

Collegium Pro Musica APS “Festival internazionale musicale le vie del barocco 2021” - 28th edition “Armonia delle sfere” 10,000.00 10,000.00 GENOA

Palazzo Lomellino di Strada Nuova, non-profit Exhibition: “5 famiglie, 5 storie, 1 affascinante dimora.” Palazzo Lomellino di Strada Nuova' 10,000.00 10,000.00 GENOA

Polytechnic University of Milan Observatory of Digital Innovation in Cultural Activities and Cultural Heritage of the School of 
Management at Polytechnic University of Milan– 2021-22 edition 10,000.00 10,000.00 MILAN

Associazione CO2 Dama 2021 – aperto 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Exar social value solutions Impresa sociale srl Development of a museum cluster in the Vercelli area - third year 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale Archivio Simondo Exhibition: “Piero Simondo. Laboratorio situazione esperimento” 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Agliè Municipal Council Olivetti - macchina da scrivere lettera22 10,000.00 10,000.00 AGLIE' (province of Turin)

Associazione Amici della Musica 'Vittorio Cocito' Festival cusiano di musica antica e festa della musica a Orta - 2021 VIVA call for proposals 8,000.00 8,000.00 NOVARA

Associazione Torino per la Finanza e l'Innovazione Sociale Torino social impact art award - zoom in/zoom out 8,000.00 8,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale Echo Art 30th Festival musicale del mediterraneo 7,000.00 7,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Torinese Tram Storici From Piazza d’Armi to Palazzo Arsenale: a journey through the military districts of 18th and 
19th century Turin 5,100.00 5,100.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

“Design e Innovazione Sociale” call for proposals 120,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN
Strategic communication costs of the Culture Goal 80,000.00 80,000.00 TURIN
“ART~WAVES” call for proposals  - Planning line: results of the call Art Waves call for proposals - Planning 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN
Gallerie d'Italia Piazza San Carlo: feasibility study and development of a model for the 
forthcoming Photography Centre 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Festival della fotografia 2022 35,000.00 35,000.00 TURIN

Switch call for proposals: second session and evaluation plan 13,000.00 13,000.00 TURIN
Places of Culture 2020 call for proposals: results Places of Culture 2020 call for proposals 0.00 5,000.00 TURIN
Total for Body 343,000.00 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 11,749,100.00 

110



Annual Report
2021

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Fondazione Circolo dei Lettori

Turin International Book Fair, 2021 500,000.00 500,000.00 TURIN

33rd Turin International Book Fair, 2020 0.00 250,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 750,000.00 

Unione Musicale, non-profit

Support for institutional activity 2021 360,000.00 360,000.00 TURIN

Organisational development proposal Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 375,000.00 

Fondazione Teatro Ragazzi e Giovani Onlus

Support for institutional activity 2021 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

“Il teatro on air” - three-year innovation plan for teaching 90,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN

Analysis of the organisation and work processes aimed at renovating organisational models Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 335,000.00 

Associazione Mus-e Torino, non-profit Mus-e Torino 2021-22 235,000.00 235,000.00 TURIN

GOG - Giovine Orchestra Genovese, non-profit Support for institutional activity 2021 200,000.00 200,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Orchestra Filarmonica di Torino

Support for institutional activity 2021 175,000.00 175,000.00 TURIN

Smart assessment oft Next Generation You call for proposals 5,000.00 5,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 180,000.00 

Fondazione Camera - Centro Italiano per la Fotografia

“Imaginarium” - three-year innovation plan for teaching 0.00 120,000.00 TURIN

Camera - international centre of photography / masterclass in visual storytelling 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 160,000.00 

Associazione Accademia di Musica, non-profit

Support for institutional activities/membership fee 2021 140,000.00 140,000.00 PINEROLO (province of 
Turin)

Accademia 2030 Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 PINEROLO (province of 
Turin)

Total for Body 155,000.00 

Fondazione Piemonte dal Vivo

Hangar 2022 - Hangar Piemonte and Hangar+ 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Hangar Piemonte 2021 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 150,000.00 

Fondazione Cirko Vertigo Nice platform: Accademia di Circo Contemporaneo - 2021 125,000.00 125,000.00 GRUGLIASCO (province 
of Turin)

Associazione Mus-e Italia ETS Mus-e Genova 2021/22 90,000.00 90,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione Esperienze di Cultura Metropolitana

“Sapere digitale” - Digital civic education in libraries - 2nd cycle 60,000.00 60,000.00 SETTIMO TORINESE 
(province of Turin)

Born to Read 2022 Nati per leggere 28,000.00 28,000.00 SETTIMO TORINESE 
(province of Turin)

Total for Body 88,000.00 

Centro di Musica Antica Pietà de' Turchini, private 
foundation

Pietà de' Turchini Academy - establishment of a residential creative and music academy in 
Melizzano (BN) 0.00 80,000.00 NAPLES

De Sono Associazione per la Musica Advanced music tuition for talented young people 75,000.00 75,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Pistoletto, non-profit

Unidee residency programmes - Learning and training environments - 2021/2022 60,000.00 60,000.00 BIELLA

Code-green: community development for growing resilient ecosystems in network Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 BIELLA

Total for Body 75,000.00 

Centro di studi storico-letterari Natalino Sapegno - non-profit

Support for institutional activity 2021 60,000.00 60,000.00 MORGEX (province of 
Aosta)

Uno sguardo esterno e nuove competenze per continuare a crescere Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 MORGEX (province of 
Aosta)

Total for Body 75,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Skills.
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Cuneo Municipal Council Cultura 0-6: crescere con cura 60,000.00 60,000.00 CUNEO

Aiace Torino - Associazione Italiana Amici Cinema d'Essai Sotto18 Film Festival & Campus - 22nd edition 55,000.00 55,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Scuola di Alto Perfezionamento Musicale Digital audio production technical specialisation course 50,000.00 50,000.00 SALUZZO (province of 
Cuneo)

Associazione culturale We Love Moms In viaggio con Gulliver: la cultura per la cura delle famiglie 0-6 a Genova 50,000.00 50,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione Scuola dei Beni e delle Attività culturali Academy di Gallerie d'Italia - provision for 2022 and 2023 50,000.00 50,000.00 ROME

Fondazione Academia Montis Regalis, non-profit

28th Baroque and Classical Orchestral Training Course 30,000.00 30,000.00 MONDOVI (province of 
Cuneo)

L'Academia:dalla tradizione all'innovazione Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 MONDOVI (province of 
Cuneo)

Total for Body 45,000.00 

Turin City Council - Decentralisation, cultural and 
administrative services, youth and equal opportunities 
division-Culture Area-Library Service

Nati per leggere Torino 2022 Nati per leggere 43,000.00 43,000.00 TURIN

Associazione In Residence Design In residence design 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Verbania Municipal Council, Biblioteca Civica Pietro Ceretti Nati per leggere Piemonte vco Nati per leggere 39,000.00 39,000.00 VERBANIA (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Biblioteca Civica 'E. Julitta' Oleggio Municipal Council Progetto nati per leggere ovest ticino - 2022 Nati per leggere 33,000.00 33,000.00 OLEGGIO (province of 
Novara)

Fondazione Centro Sperimentale di Cinematografia Sede 
del Piemonte - Scuola di cinema d'animazione, Ivrea - Dip.
to Animazione, Torino

Training project 2021-2022 25,000.00 25,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale IdeAgorà Skillbox - live performance skills around the Mirabilia Festival 2021 25,000.00 25,000.00 FOSSANO (province of 
Cuneo)

Bra Municipal Council, Civic Library Oltre la biblioteca. “Nati per leggere-Piemonte” project 2022 Nati per leggere 22,000.00 22,000.00 BRA (province of Cuneo)

Fossano Municipal Council “Nati per leggere Piemonte” project 2022 Nati per leggere 22,000.00 22,000.00 FOSSANO (province of 
Cuneo)

Associazione Culturale TAAC CRIPTA747 Cripta747 residency programme. Fellowship 2021. 22,000.00 22,000.00 TURIN

Ivrea Municipal Council Nati per leggere Piemonte. Ivrea and Canavese Library System project 2022 Nati per leggere 20,000.00 20,000.00 IVREA (province of Turin)

Accademia Corale Stefano Tempia, non-profit Consort Tempia – professional training project for young musicians 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Moncalieri Municipal Council Civic Library 'A. Arduino' Nati per leggere Piemonte sbam sud ovest 2022 Nati per leggere 20,000.00 20,000.00 MONCALIERI (province of 
Turin)

Associazione Culturale Verve _rehub musical accelerator 2021 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Teatro Piemonte Europa Management processes: optimisation and implementation Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Almanac Inn Associazione “Reimmaginare il presente” - collective bodies and shared spaces: an almanac for 2021 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Via Maestra Fvm  - 2021 / 2024 Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 VENARIA (province of 
Turin)

Fondazione Museo Arti e Industria di Omegna Ri-parco: il parco della fantasia gianni rodari ri-parte Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 OMEGNA (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Associazione Cultura e Sviluppo Cultura e sviluppo 2.0 -  tra identità e impatto Next Generation You call for proposals 14,997.00 14,997.00 ALESSANDRIA

Chieri Municipal Council Nati per leggere Piemonte - sbam area sud-est Nati per leggere 14,500.00 14,500.00 CHIERI (province of Turin)

Novara Municipal Council Progetto nati per leggere Piemonte - Novara 2022 Nati per leggere 14,000.00 14,000.00 NOVARA

Fondazione Biblioteca Astense Giorgio Faletti Leggere insieme per tessere legami Nati per leggere 14,000.00 14,000.00 ASTI

Alba Municipal Council social, educational and cultural 
services department - Civic library Nati per leggere Piemonte 2022 Nati per leggere 13,000.00 13,000.00 ALBA (province of Cuneo)

Beinasco Municipal Council Favole e pappe: io cresco con un libro Nati per leggere 10,000.00 10,000.00 BEINASCO (province of 
Turin)

Collegno Municipal Council Nati per leggere Piemonte: libri e coccole nelle biblioteche sbam Nati per leggere 10,000.00 10,000.00 COLLEGNO (province of Turin)

Biella City Council - Civic Library Nati per leggere sistema bibliotecario biellese Nati per leggere 10,000.00 10,000.00 BIELLA

Fondazione Santagata per l'economia della Cultura Academy on UNESCO Designations and Sustainable Development 2021 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN
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Chivasso Municipal Council “Una rete di biblioteche in un mare di libri”  “Nati per leggere sbam est” project 2022 Nati per leggere 9,500.00 9,500.00 CHIVASSO (province of Turin)

Fondazione Achille Marazza - Biblioteca Pubblica 
e Casa di Cultura “Nati per leggere Piemonte 2022” - mid-Novara area library system project Nati per leggere 8,000.00 8,000.00 BORGOMANERO 

(province of Novara)

Associazione Culturale Musicale Carlo U. Rossi Carlo U. Rossi scholarship 2021/2022 7,500.00 7,500.00 TURIN

Fondazione Fitzcarraldo Artlab 21. Local communities, culture, innovation 5,000.00 5,000.00 BERGAMO

Fondazione Bottari Lattes www.vivolibro.it - the platform that links schools to reading 5,000.00 5,000.00 MONFORTE D'ALBA 
(province of Cuneo)

Associazione non riconosciuta denominata 'Associazione 
Italiana Esperti Scientifici-Beni Culturali A

'+fundraising +cultura' 2nd edition: tackling the latest challenges in the cultural sector. 
Fundraising as an immune response 5,000.00 5,000.00 PORTICI (province of 

Naples)

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Multi-year research-action project on music education in collaboration with Fondazione per la Scuola 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN
La Bella Stagione 2021: a programe of actions in the city: provision for enhancing the 
programme and developing actions targeting the 0-6 age group in collaboration with the 
Educating for Collective Development Mission

100,000.00 151,466.26 TURIN

La Bella Stagione 2022 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN
Mapping emerging cultural professions and training pathways 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN
“Nati per Leggere Piemonte” guidelines - results of the evaluation of 2022 projects and 
strategic framework for the four-year period Nati per leggere 32,500.00 32,500.00 TURIN

Total for Body 543,966.26 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 4,563,463.26 

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Fondazione Torino Musei Galleria d'Arte Moderna: re-purposing works, general opinion 800,000.00 800,000.00 TURIN

Azienda Servizi alla Persona Emanuele Brignole Albergo dei Poveri: restoration and re-purposing of the Oratorio degli Uomini Esercizi di delega SG 800,000.00 800,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione Centro per la Conservazione ed il Restauro dei 
Beni Culturali ‘La Venaria Reale’ Co-governed body - 2021 support Co-governed bodies 500,000.00 500,000.00 VENARIA (province of 

Turin)

Congregazione dell'Oratorio di San Filippo Neri Church of San Filippo Neri, presbytery: restoration of the walls 350,000.00 350,000.00 TURIN

Finale Ligure Municipal Council

Santa Caterina in Finalborgo cultural centre: a historical monumental complex for contemporary use PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 153,300.00 245,000.00 FINALE LIGURE (province 
of Savona)

Santa Caterina in Finalborgo cultural centre: a historical monumental complex for contemporary use PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 25,000.00 FINALE LIGURE (province 
of Savona)

Total for Body 270,000.00 

PARISH OF SAN LORENZO

Rodello cultura PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 245,000.00 RODELLO (province of Cuneo)

Rodello cultura PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 25,000.00 RODELLO (province of Cuneo)

Total for Body 270,000.00 

University of Milan Traces of mobility, violence and solidarity: reconceptualizing cultural heritage through the lens of 
migration 250,000.00 250,000.00 MILAN

Musei Reali di Torino

Take care PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 220,000.00 220,000.00 TURIN

Take care PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 24,500.00 TURIN

Total for Body 244,500.00 

Tortona Municipal Council

Tortona. Scheduled maintenance for preventive conservation in the quadrilateral of culture PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 217,000.00 217,000.00 TORTONA (province of 
Alessandria)

Tortona. Scheduled maintenance for preventive conservation in the quadrilateral of culture PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 25,000.00 TORTONA (province of 
Alessandria)

Total for Body 242,000.00 

Parish of Santa Barbara Church of Santa Barbara: restoration of the decor in the presbytery 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

Chiesa Metropolitana di San Lorenzo Cathedral of San Lorenzo: restoration of the facade 196,000.00 196,000.00 GENOA

Bosco Marengo Municipal Council

Scheduled maintenance and preventive conservation of the Santa Croce monumental complex in 
Bosco Marengo PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 155,000.00 170,000.00 BOSCO MARENGO 

(province of Alessandria)
Scheduled maintenance and preventive conservation of the Santa Croce monumental complex in 
Bosco Marengo PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 20,000.00 BOSCO MARENGO 

(province of Alessandria)

Total for Body 190,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Preservation.
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L'arco di Giano coop. soc.

Tramandare un sogno PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 175,000.00 GENOA

Tramandare un sogno PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 8,000.00 GENOA

Total for Body 183,000.00 

Bosco Marengo Municipal Council

Scheduled maintenance and preventive conservation of the Santa Croce monumental complex in 
Bosco Marengo PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 155,000.00 170,000.00 BOSCO MARENGO 

(province of Alessandria)
Scheduled maintenance and preventive conservation of the Santa Croce monumental complex in 
Bosco Marengo PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 20,000.00 BOSCO MARENGO 

(province of Alessandria)

Total for Body 190,000.00 

L'arco di Giano coop. soc.

Tramandare un sogno PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 175,000.00 GENOA

Tramandare un sogno PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 8,000.00 GENOA

Total for Body 183,000.00 

Consulta Valorizzazione Beni Artistici e Culturali di Torino

Royal Church of San Lorenzo, high altar: restoration 150,000.00 150,000.00 TURIN

Co-governed body - 2021 support Co-governed bodies 27,300.00 27,300.00 TURIN

Total for Body 177,300.00 

Monastero Bormida Municipal Council

Castello 'della Rovere' in Monastero Bormida: innovative process for preventive and scheduled 
conservation – phase II. PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 145,000.00 MONASTERO BORMIDA 

(province of Asti)
Castello 'della Rovere' in Monastero Bormida: innovative process for preventive and scheduled 
conservation PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 18,500.00 MONASTERO BORMIDA 

(province of Asti)

Total for Body 163,500.00 

Imperia Municipal Council Villa Grock: upgrade of the historical park, lot II. 150,000.00 150,000.00 IMPERIA

Associazione Amici dell'Archivio di Stato di Torino ODV Preserving local memory 150,000.00 150,000.00 TURIN

Abbazia dei S.S. Pietro e Andrea

The painted plasterwork of Novalese abbey, from restoration to preventive conservation PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 120,000.00 120,000.00 NOVALESA (province of 
Turin)

The painted plasterwork of Novalese abbey, from restoration to preventive conservation PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 25,000.00 NOVALESA (province of 
Turin)

Total for Body 145,000.00 

Varallo Sesia Municipal Council

Maintenance in the digital age PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 115,000.00 VARALLO (province of 
Vercelli)

Maintenance in the digital age PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 25,000.00 VARALLO (province of 
Vercelli)

Total for Body 140,000.00 

Conservatorio Statale di Musica 'Giuseppe Verdi' di Torino Conservatorio di Torino: executive design of restoration and redevelopment works 120,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN

Accademia Albertina delle Belle Arti di Torino Accademia Albertina: restoration of the engravings 110,000.00 110,000.00 TURIN

Parrocchia Cattedrale di N.S. dell'Orto Cathedral of Nostra Signora dell'Orto: restoration of the roof of the north transept 110,000.00 110,000.00 CHIAVARI (province of 
Genoa)

Confraternita San Rocco Morte Orazione di Torino Church of San Rocco, nave: conservative restoration of the two wooden altars 108,000.00 108,000.00 TURIN

Arciconfraternita dei ss.Prospero e Caterina Oratorio dei SS. Prospero e Caterina: consolidation of the vault 100,000.00 100,000.00 CAMOGLI (province of 
Genoa)

Arciconfraternita S.M.Assunta, Genova Prà Oratorio di Santa Maria Assunta: restoration of the interior, lot II 95,000.00 95,000.00 GENOA

Unione Alagnese

La cura, come impegno e opportunità PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 70,000.00 ALAGNA VALSESIA 
(province of Vercelli)

La cura, come impegno e opportunità PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 25,000.00 ALAGNA VALSESIA 
(province of Vercelli)

Total for Body 95,000.00 

Parish of Santa Maria di Castello - Genoa Church of the Santa Maria di Castello complex: restoration of the third chapel of the left-hand nave 90,000.00 90,000.00 GENOA

Istituto Ligure per la storia della Resistenza e dell'età contemporanea ILSREC online archive (phase III) 85,000.00 85,000.00 GENOA

Collegiata e Basilica di Santa Maria delle Vigne Church of Santa Marta: restoration and re-purposing of the Chapter Room 80,000.00 80,000.00 GENOA

Consorzio delle Residenze Reali Sabaude Training course for art gardeners for historical parks and gardens 80,000.00 80,000.00 VENARIA (province of 
Turin)

Ente Laicale di Culto Nostra Signora di Oropa Basilica Superiore del Santuario di Oropa: urgent restoration and safety works: third and final, 4th 
and final lot Esercizi di delega SG 78,000.00 78,000.00 BIELLA

Fondazione Contrada Torino Onlus

Support for annual activity 2021 65,000.00 65,000.00 TURIN

Murarte street art project 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 75,000.00 
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Diocese of Savona-Noli Cathedral of Nostra Signora Assunta: restoration and static consolidation of the main prospect in marble 72,762.00 72,762.00 SAVONA

Associazione Abbadia di Stura. I Templari, non-profit Abbadia di Stura complex: restoration of the wall surfaces in the apse chapel of the Church of San Giacomo 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

Parish of San Bartolomeo Apostolo Church of San Bartolomeo Apostolo: restoration of the cloister floor 60,000.00 60,000.00 GENOA

Burolo Municipal Council Church of Santi Pietro e Paolo: structural intervention to assure the safety of the bell tower 60,000.00 60,000.00 BUROLO (province of 
Turin)

Centro Studi Piemontesi - Ca dë Studi Piemontèis

Support for institutional activity 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Preserving and sharing memory Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 55,000.00 

Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei Biblioteca Galasso: outfitting project 50,000.00 50,000.00 ROME

Regione Liguria Completion of the design of the 'Casa dei cantautori' 50,000.00 50,000.00 GENOA

Parish of San Pancrazio Church of San Pancrazio: restoration of the interior 50,000.00 50,000.00 GENOA

Parish of S. Ambrogio di Cornia Church of Sant'Ambrogio di Cornia: restoration of the roof 50,000.00 50,000.00 MOCONESI (province of 
Genova)

CIF - Centro Italiano Femminile Restoration of the Barchile in Piazza Campetto in Genoa 38,000.00 38,000.00 GENOA

Parish of S. Siro Basilica of San Siro: restoration of the Last Supper by Orazio De Ferrari 35,000.00 35,000.00 GENOA

APS Amici della Lanterna Lanterna 4.0 Esercizi di delega SG 35,000.00 35,000.00 GENOA

Parish of S. Maria Assunta Church of SS. Eusebio ed Elena: restoration of the facade 32,723.00 32,723.00 VILLAFRANCA D'ASTI 
(province of Asti)

Comitato Progetto Porta Palazzo - The Gate Support for the Committee’s activity 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Parish of San Matteo - Laigueglia Church of San Matteo: restoration of the vestry 30,000.00 30,000.00 LAIGUEGLIA (province of 
Savona)

Fondazione Ordine Mauriziano Parish Church of Visitazione di Maria Vergine in Stupinigi: restoration of the portico and the 
north-east and south-east facades 22,300.00 22,300.00 TURIN

Parish of San Giusto Cathedral of San Giusto: restoration of the wooden choir and lectern 20,000.00 20,000.00 SUSA (province of Turin)

Parish of San Siro di Struppa Parish of San Siro di Struppa: restoration of the facade of the parsonage 20,000.00 20,000.00 GENOA

Società incoraggiamento allo studio del disegno e di 
conservazione delle opere d'Arte in Valsesia Maintenance in the digital age PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 20,000.00 VARALLO (province of 

Vercelli)

Genoa Municipal Council - Social Services Department DDSmart_HBIM_Superba PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 20,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Archivio Storico Olivetti Associazione Archivio Storico Olivetti. Bellezza e innovazione per il futuro dei territori Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 IVREA (province of Turin)

Consulta per la valorizzazione dei beni artistici e culturali di 
Fossano Co-governed body - 2021 support Co-governed bodies 12,000.00 12,000.00 FOSSANO (province of 

Cuneo)

Circoscrizione Maria Ausiliatrice Piemonte e Valle d'Aosta Inventory of the Fondo Librario Durazzo 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Parish of S. Giacomo Maggiore Church of San Giacomo Maggiore: restoration of the processional standard of the Santissimo 
Sacramento 10,000.00 10,000.00 CAMPERTOGNO 

(province of Vercelli)

Società Storica delle Valli di Lanzo Orizzonti diversi: Valli di Lanzo in movimento 10,000.00 10,000.00 LANZO TORINESE 
(province of Turin)

Comunità Ebraica di Vercelli - Biella - Novara - V.C.O. Preserving beauty: Vercelli Jewish cultural heritage system PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 9,000.00 VERCELLI

Associazione Culturale La Massocca di Framura Parish Church of San Lorenzo: restoration of the Deposizione by Luca Cambiaso 8,000.00 8,000.00 FRAMURA (province of La 
Spezia)

Parish of SS. Giacomo e Filippo Apostoli Church of the Battuti Neri of Sommariva del Bosco: restoration of two altar pieces 5,000.00 5,000.00 SOMMARIVA DEL BOSCO 
(province of Cuneo)

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

'Humanities' programme: support for the second year 500,000.00 500,000.00 TURIN
Provision for an additional contribution for 2021 and annual support for 2022 as a co-governed 
body of Fondazione Compagnia Co-governed bodies 500,000.00 500,000.00 VENARIA (province of 

Turin)
PRIMA call for proposals. “Prevenzione Ricerca Indagine Manutenzione Ascolto”: results of the 
second phase of the cultural heritage call for proposals PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 331,700.00 331,700.00 TURIN

Plans for the maintenance of heritage assets owned by Turin Municipal Council - agreement with 
Turin Municipal Council 2021 150,000.00 150,000.00 TURIN

Project to coordinate and develop work in support of archives in line with the MYPD 2021-2024 120,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN
Renovation works benefiting from the “Facades Bonus” tax incentive 6,215.00 6,215.00 TURIN
Palazzo Ex Arsenale di Torino: designing an information leaflet to enhance knowledge about the 
complex 5,000.00 5,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 1,612,915.00 

Total for sector 9,160,000.00 
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Fondazione Polo del '900

Co-governed body. Support for institutional activity 2021 and evaluation 620,000.00 620,000.00 TURIN

Next gen u | How much impact does the European union have on the development of your 
local area? A close-up of the EU’s economic policies, programmes and projects 0.00 170,000.00 TURIN

G20 global games. What is the G20 and what role does it play in relation to our planet? 0.00 54,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 844,000.00 

Compagnia di San Paolo - Agreement with the Municipality 
of Turin

Actions to develop collaborative practices 400,000.00 400,000.00 TURIN

Framework agreement with Turin Municipal Council   Overview of neighbourhood houses: 
analysis, impact, development  Provision for development actions to be established in 
conjunction with Turin Municipal Council

49,000.00 49,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 449,000.00 

Fondazione per la Cultura Torino - formerly Fondazione per 
le Attività Musicali (FAM)

Mito settembremusica 2021 250,000.00 250,000.00 TURIN

Todays 2021 80,000.00 80,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 330,000.00 

Associazione Festival della Scienza Science Festival 2021 300,000.00 300,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Culturale CentroScienza, non-profit

Three-year plan for upgrading/transforming the body - year I “We’ll meet again” call for 
proposals. 250,000.00 250,000.00 TURIN

Strategic allies - development plan - consultants 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 265,000.00 

Fondazione Circolo dei Lettori Activities in 2021 240,000.00 240,000.00 TURIN

Accademia delle Scienze di Torino 2019-2021 Agreement between the Accademia delle Scienze di Torino and Fondazione 
Compagnia di San Paolo - Third year 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

LABSUS - Laboratorio per la sussidiarietà

Three-year plan for upgrading/transforming the body - year I Upgrading/transformation 
plan, phase I 30,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Pacts. For the shared administration of common goods in the Turin metropolitan area - 3rd 
year 0.00 70,000.00 TURIN

Organisational analysis and development plan - three-year plan for transforming/upgrading 
the body - 2021 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 185,000.00 

Genoa Municipal Council

“Oltre il ponte” (neighbourhood house) - 2022 0.00 100,000.00 GENOA

Ducale prossima generazione Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

g20 global games project. 0.00 10,000.00 GENOA

Total for Body 125,000.00 

NEF - Network of European Foundations For Innovative 
Cooperation Civitates 2022 100,000.00 100,000.00 BELGIUM

ECF European Cultural Foundation Provision for collaboration 2022 100,000.00 100,000.00 NETHERLANDS

Associazione ApritiCielo Infini.to - Planetario di Torino, 
Museo dell'Astronomia e dello Spazio Scientific teaching project 2021-2022 100,000.00 100,000.00 PINO TORINESE (province 

of Turin)

Centro Internazionale di Studi Primo Levi Project 2021: The work of Primo Levi for participatory citizenship, whether face-to-face or 
remote 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Il Campanile, non-profit Aurora Neighbourhood House - Cecchi point 2021 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Associazione FRAME Three-year plan for upgrading/transforming the body - year I Upgrading/transformation 
plan, phase I 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Cascina Roccafranca

Mirafiori Nord Neighbourhood House - Cascina Roccafranca 2021 80,000.00 80,000.00 TURIN

Roccafranca 2.0 Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 95,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Participation.
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Rete delle Case del Quartiere aps

Three-year plan for upgrading/transforming the body - year I Upgrading/transformation 
plan, phase I 35,000.00 35,000.00 TURIN

Neighbourhood houses network 2021 35,000.00 35,000.00 TURIN

Neighbourhood houses network - three-year upgrading/transformation plan 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

g20 global games project. 0.00 5,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 90,000.00 

‘Visionary’ social promotion association

Three-year plan for upgrading/transforming the body - year I Upgrading/transformation 
plan, phase I 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

g20 global games project. 0.00 26,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 76,000.00 

Arci Torino Aps Three-year plan for upgrading/transforming the body - year I Upgrading/transformation 
plan, phase I 75,000.00 75,000.00 TURIN

Centro Studi Sereno Regis, non-profit

Support for institutional activity 2021 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

“Studiare il presente per progettare il futuro” by Centro Studi Sereno Regis Next Generation You call for 
proposals 13,500.00 13,500.00 TURIN

Total for Body 73,500.00 

Agenzia per lo sviluppo locale S. Salvario, non-profit

San Salvario neighbourhood house 2021 55,000.00 55,000.00 TURIN

Agenzia 2030 Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 70,000.00 

Associazione CCW – Cultural Welfare Center

Three-year plan for upgrading/transforming the body - year I Upgrading/transformation 
plan, phase I 55,000.00 55,000.00 TURIN

Support for drawing up a development plan for CCW-Cultural Welfare Center 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 70,000.00 

Libera. Associazioni, nomi e numeri contro le mafie APS Network for the beneficial use of confiscated assets 40,000.00 65,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Nessuno

Mapping of Civic Happiness in Turin 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Lombroso16 cultural centre SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 65,000.00 

Fondazione Mondo Digitale Coding Girls in Turin - third year 65,000.00 65,000.00 ROME

MinD Mad in Design

Workshop mind 2021-2022 45,000.00 45,000.00 TURIN

“Luoghi comuni” - cultural pathways for mental health 0.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 65,000.00 

Torino Youth Centre Three-year plan for upgrading/transforming the body - year I Upgrading/transformation 
plan, phase I 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Club Silencio

G20 global games - inaugural events 0.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Club silencio hub 0.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 60,000.00 

COREP - Consorzio per la Ricerca e l'Educazione 
Permanente

9th 'Giorgio Bocca' Masters in Journalism - year II 45,000.00 45,000.00 TURIN

Spazio bac SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 55,000.00 

Associazione Subalpina Mathesis Math 2021: Mathematics Internship 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Museo Diffuso della Resistenza, della 
Deportazione, della Guerra, dei diritti e della Libertà Plan for upgrading the Museo Diffuso della Resistenza 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Kallipolis A.P.S. Urrà Torino _ Il tempo dell'Immaginazione Civica 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Donna Professione Stem Io scelgoSTEM - Second year 2021/2022 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Prime Minister Prime Minister - School of politics for young women, North-West edition 0.00 50,000.00 NAPLES
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CENTER FOR ETHICS IN SCIENCE AND SCIENCE 
JOURNALISM FOCS. Un format per la cittadinanza scientifica 50,000.00 50,000.00 MILAN

La Casa delle Rane, non-profit Casa del quartiere San Donato - Più SpazioQuattro 2021 47,000.00 47,000.00 TURIN

Biancaneve Società Cooperativa

Hiroshima mon amour SPACE call for proposals 27,000.00 27,000.00 TURIN

Hiroshima Mon Amour independent cultural centre Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 42,000.00 

Liberitutti - Società Cooperativa Sociale Casa del quartiere Barriera di Milano 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

DEAR Onlus Robo&bobo 2021-2022 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Italia che Cambia Associazione di promozione sociale Piemonte che cambia e Liguria che cambia 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione per l'architettura / Torino “Bottom up 2”. Spaces and contexts 35,000.00 35,000.00 TURIN

Banda Larga Associazione Culturale Imbarchino SPACE call for proposals 35,000.00 35,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Nexto Masterplan 35,000.00 35,000.00 TURIN

Orti Generali APS formerly Associazione culturale 
Coefficiente Clorofilla

Orti generali SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 TURIN

Orti generali Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 33,000.00 

Associazione Teatrale Orfeo Cap10100 SPACE call for proposals 32,000.00 32,000.00 TURIN

Lancillotto Società Cooperativa Sociale Casa del quartiere Nizza Millefonti - Barrito 2021 32,000.00 32,000.00 TURIN

Cooperativa Sociale Coompany & Social canteen service SPACE call for proposals 32,000.00 32,000.00 ALESSANDRIA

Società Cooperativa a r.l. Stalker Teatro Casa di quartiere Vallette 2021 32,000.00 32,000.00 TURIN

Accademia Ligure di Scienze e Lettere Integration and enhancement of cultural activities and social services of the Accademia 
Ligure di Scienze e Lettere - Third and final year 30,000.00 30,000.00 GENOA

Suq Genova Festival e Teatro Associazione culturale 
Impresa sociale ETS Suq Festival 2021 30,000.00 30,000.00 GENOA

Cuneo Municipal Council Scrittorincittà 2021 literature festival 30,000.00 30,000.00 CUNEO

Fondazione della Comunità di Mirafiori, non-profit Casa del quartiere Mirafiori sud - La Casa nel Parco 2021 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Esperienze di Cultura Metropolitana

Incipit Offresi 15,000.00 15,000.00 SETTIMO TORINESE 
(province of Turin)

Festival of Science and Innovation 2021 15,000.00 15,000.00 SETTIMO TORINESE 
(province of Turin)

Total for Body 30,000.00 

Università Popolare Biellese per l'educazione continua Palazzo Ferrero - Cultural blends SPACE call for proposals 30,000.00 30,000.00 BIELLA

Exeat S.c.s. Ex-Mattatoio ristorante sociale - Cittadella del volontariato di Chieri SPACE call for proposals 30,000.00 30,000.00 CHIERI (province of Turin)

Associazione Culturale Comala Comala - ex Caserma la Marmora SPACE call for proposals 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Marco Berry Onlus Space Festival 30,000.00 30,000.00 RIVOLI (province of Turin)

European Network of Cultural Centres (ENCC) Upscale 2021-22 and European meeting 30,000.00 30,000.00 

Polytechnic of Turin European researchers night 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Jobel società cooperativa sociale

Spazio Parco Peter Pan SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ALBENGA (province of 
Savona)

Spazio a Palazzo Durante SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 ALASSIO (province of 
Savona)

Total for Body 27,000.00 

Associazione di promozione sociale Sumisura Via Baltea | laboratori di Barriera (community hub) SPACE call for proposals 27,000.00 27,000.00 TURIN

AICS Associazione Italiana Cultura Sport Comitato 
Provinciale di Torino Creative connection spaces SPACE call for proposals 27,000.00 27,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Spazi Musicali Spazio211 SPACE call for proposals 25,000.00 25,000.00 TURIN
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Il Ce.Sto Cooperativa Sociale Giardini Luzzati SPACE call for proposals 25,000.00 25,000.00 GENOA

Il Laboratorio Società Cooperativa Sociale g20 global games project. 0.00 25,000.00 GENOA

Altroche' Società Cooperativa Sociale Cascina Govean - Parco Bellagarda - Bosco del Ghiaro SPACE call for proposals 25,000.00 25,000.00 ALPIGNANO (province of 
Turin)

Associazione CRAFT - Associazione Centro Ricerca Arte 
Formazione Teatro Centro Ricerca Arte Formazione Teatro

Re-kor-very plan Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TIGLIOLE (province of 

Asti)

Spazio Kor SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TIGLIOLE (province of 
Asti)

Total for Body 25,000.00 

Associazione Culturale Archivissima Archivissima 2021 - the festival of archives 25,000.00 25,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale Liberi di Scegliere La Grande Invasione 2021 25,000.00 25,000.00 IVREA (province of Turin)

OLTRE LE QUINTE A.P.S. Spazio Nòva SPACE call for proposals 25,000.00 25,000.00 NOVARA

Mogoa Book2book 25,000.00 25,000.00 TURIN

Rifai - Associazione di promozione sociale Rifai, a network of young facilitators of indoor areas 25,000.00 25,000.00 CAMASTRA (AG)

Associazione Comunità San Benedetto al Porto Casa di quartiere Borgo Rovereto, Alessandria SPACE call for proposals 23,000.00 23,000.00 ALESSANDRIA

Casa del Quartiere Donatello A.P.S. Casa del quartiere Donatello SPACE call for proposals 23,000.00 23,000.00 CUNEO

Rifugio Paraloup Impresa Sociale Srl Borgata paraloup SPACE call for proposals 23,000.00 23,000.00 RITTANA (province of 
Cuneo)

Magazzino sul Po Magazzino sul Po SPACE call for proposals 23,000.00 23,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Tedacà

Bellarte SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 TURIN

Festival of Migration 2021 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 22,000.00 

Associazione Culturale Immagina Mufant – museolab of fantasy and science fiction SPACE call for proposals 21,000.00 21,000.00 TURIN

Centro Culturale di promozione sociale Italo-Arabo Dar Al 
Hikma Dar al Hikma Italo-Arabic cultural centre SPACE call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale Lingua Doc 14th National Luigi Pirandello and the 1900s Festival - 2021 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Soluzioni Artistiche - Associazione culturale L'arteficio | showroom & art factory SPACE call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Rete Italiana di Cultura Popolare APS “Lo spaccio di cultura” - Community concierge SPACE call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale e Ricreativa Fuoriluogo Fuoriluogo (ri)parte SPACE call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 ASTI

Associazione Poliedri No Woman No Panel 20,000.00 20,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Culturale Variante Bunker Bunker SPACE call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

ASSOCIAZIONE CULTURALE DAI Centro giovani dai! SPACE call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 SANTENA (province of 
Turin)

Associazione Territoriale Dopolavoro Ferroviario di Genova Impianto polifunzionale dopolavoro ferroviario – Genova Rivarolo SPACE call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 GENOA

Franco Centro Società Cooperativa Sociale Social café SPACE call for proposals 19,000.00 19,000.00 MONDOVI (province of 
Cuneo)

Fondazione Museo Arti e Industria di Omegna Parco della fantasia Gianni Rodari SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 OMEGNA (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

ZAC! Zone Attive di Cittadinanza scs ETS Zac! active citizenship zones SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 IVREA (province of Turin)

Gruppo Pensionati Vanchiglietta APS Bocciofila Vanchiglietta (formerly Circolo Pensionati Vanchiglietta, formerly Rami Secchi) SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 TURIN

Associazione di Promozione Sociale Cascina Granbego L Sciverna refuge SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 SASSELLO (province of 
Savona)

Better Places APS Spazio Hydro SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 BIELLA

Consorzio Link Cooperativa Sociale Spazio Sant'Anna SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 VERBANIA (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Associazione di Promozione Sociale Zenzero Associazione di Promozione Sociale Zenzero SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 GENOA

Il Pane e le Rose APS Anatra zoppa SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 TURIN
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Associazione Beeozanam Beeozanam community hub SPACE call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 TURIN

Il Mutamento Zona Castalia Associazione di Cultura Globale 
Associazione di Cultura Globale Costruire il futuro, oggi. Next Generation You call for 

proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione 'Il Laboratorio C.T.M.' CPG Torino SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 COLLEGNO (province of 
Turin)

Associazione U-BOOT Lab Zones portuaires 2021 15,000.00 15,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione Nuovo Teatro Faraggiana Continuum Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 NOVARA

Fondazione Amleto Bertoni - Città di Saluzzo “Il quartiere”, the new cultural hub in Saluzzo Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 SALUZZO (province of 

Cuneo)

UR-CA Casa Laboratorio Antico Palazzo Comunale Taste' SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 SALUZZO (province of 
Cuneo)

ISES Istituto Europeo per lo Sviluppo Socio Economico Spazio liberi incontri - Libertà in bottega SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 ALESSANDRIA

Associazione Culturale Reverse Open Factory SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale 'Amici di Roberto Morrione' Roberto Morrione Prize 2021 15,000.00 15,000.00 ROME

Associazione di Promozione Sociale '21 Marzo APS' 'Il kantiere’ youth space SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 VERBANIA (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Casseta Popular Aps Circolo Risorgimento SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Circolo Antonio Banfo Circolo Antonio Banfo SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

COMITATO TERRITORIALE ARCIGAY DI TORINO 'OTTAVIO 
MAI' Casarcobaleno Torino (abbreviated to CA) SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

ASD Autonomi Fossano Sede ASD Autonomi Fossano SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 FOSSANO (province of 
Cuneo)

Viso A Viso Soc. Coop. “Lou pourtoun”, cultural infrastructure SPACE call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 OSTANA (province of 
Cuneo)

Società Mutua. Associazione Generale Operaia Arti e 
Mestieri di Mutuo Soccorso. “Festival del mutualismo 2021.” Mutual aid: an opportunity for the local area 15,000.00 15,000.00 PINEROLO (province of 

Turin)

Fondazione Benvenuti in Italia Lobbying in the collective interest Next Generation You call for 
proposals 14,500.00 14,500.00 TURIN

Fondazione Giovanni Goria “Disegnare il futuro” - empowerment of Fondazione Giovanni Goria Next Generation You call for 
proposals 14,000.00 14,000.00 ASTI

Circolo Terracorta a.p.s. Circolo Terracorta A.P.S. SPACE call for proposals 13,000.00 13,000.00 COLLEGNO (province of 
Turin)

Cooperativa Sociale Mirafiori SCS Centro Mirafleming SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 TURIN

Istituto per l'Ambiente e l'Educazione Scholé Futuro Onlus La casa dell'ambiente - cultural and environmental activism centre SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 TURIN

Valpiana Società Cooperativa Sociale Cartiera centro del protagonismo giovanile SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 TURIN

Associazione 'Consorzio Sportivo Pianacci' - APS Area Pianacci SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 GENOA

Ratatoj APS Cinema Teatro Magda Olivero SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 SALUZZO (province of 
Cuneo)

Cafè Neruda APS Cafè Neruda SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 TURIN

IMPRESA & TERRITORIO ASSOCIAZIONE DI PROMOZIONE 
SOCIALE Galleria della spina SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 TURIN

associazione Arci il campo delle fragole aps Il Puerto SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 IMPERIA

ISFORCOOP “Il Dialma” - urban creative construction site SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 LA SPEZIA

A.P.S. Laboratorio Ri-percussioni sociali Laboratorio ri-percussioni sociali SPACE call for proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 GENOA

Associzione Culturale WSF Collective Varco (visual audio recording community) & auditorium Foro Boario SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 CUNEO

AnimaGiovane s.c.i.s. Laghetto dei camosci SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Camogli Municipal Council Communication festival 2021 10,000.00 10,000.00 CAMOGLI (province of 
Genoa)

Cooperativa Paradigma s.c.s. La Fabbrica del chinino SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN
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Associazione Interculturale Karmadonne a.p.s. Casa frisco SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 CARMAGNOLA (province 
of Turin)

Consorzio sociale Abele Lavoro s.c.s. Verso la BIennale della prossimità - Brescia 2022 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Aurea Signa Scrivi il tuo quartiere  (#serrandeaperteperlascrittura) 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Pop Economix Sound Report Lab 'Voci da Torino' 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Lab121 Porto Idee SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 ALESSANDRIA

Trait d'Union società cooperativa sociale Cittadella dei giovani SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 AOSTA

Associazione A Sinistra Casa del popolo - Santa Libera SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 ASTI

Associazione di promozione sociale Fools Casa fools SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Arcigay Genova - Approdo Lilia Mulas A.P.S. Centro culturale polifunzionale Arcigay Genova SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 GENOA

Raggio Società Cooperativa Sociale “Raffinerie Sociali” - New urban spaces SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Festival dello Spazio Festival dello spazio 2021 10,000.00 10,000.00 BUSALLA (province of 
Genoa)

Associazione di Promozione Sociale Misto 22 Circolo arci cane SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 GENOA

BINARIA SOCIETA COOPERATIVA SOCIALE IMPRESA 
SOCIALE Binaria - soc.coop.sociale impresa sociale SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Al Cicapui a.s.d. e a.p.s Area Beppe Ferrando SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 GROSCAVALLO (province 
of Turin)

ARCI Pepita Ramone Aps Arci Pepita Ramone SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 GENOA

circolo US San Bernardo APS U.S. San bernardo APS SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 GENOA

Ziggy APS Ziggy aps SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

La Casa nel parco ETS Casa Gavoglio, a neighbourhood house in Lagaccio SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 GENOA

Casa di Paglia 2.0 Casa di Paglia 2.0 SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 FONTANETO D'AGOGNA 
(province of Novara)

Cinema Teatro Maffei Aps Cinema Teatro Maffei SPACE call for proposals 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Nuovo Millennio - Scuola Politica 'Vivere nella 
Comunità' Scuola politica 'vivere nella comunità' 10,000.00 10,000.00 ROME

Hòferlab - Associazione culturale “Lalàgeatelier - dispositivi vestimentari 2021 - 2023” - the new challenge from Oglianico to 
new forms of networking 0.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Associazione di promozione sociale Nuovi Profili Lab.Med - Laboratorio Mediterraneo SPACE call for proposals 8,000.00 8,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Sviluppo Pomaretto Salone luminoso SPACE call for proposals 8,000.00 8,000.00 POMARETTO (province 
of Turin)

Uisp - Comitato Territoriale di Torino APS Cumiana15 SPACE call for proposals 8,000.00 8,000.00 TURIN

Cooperativa Sociale Educazione Progetto Società 
Cooperativa ONLUS Polifunzionale don Pier Giorgio Ferrero_Polipo’  le persone al centro! SPACE call for proposals 8,000.00 8,000.00 TURIN

FUORILUOGO ETS #fuoriluogo. “Città e cultura” - seventh edition 8,000.00 8,000.00 BIELLA

A.S.D. FORTINO Il Fortino multi-purpose sports facility SPACE call for proposals 8,000.00 8,000.00 TURIN

ARCI BRA UNI-TRE Circolo culturale ricreativo arci bra uni-tre SPACE call for proposals 8,000.00 8,000.00 BRA (province of Cuneo)

Noi Di Valle Sport SDS a RL non lucrativa Verticalblu' SPACE call for proposals 8,000.00 8,000.00 VIU' (province of Turin)

Per Inciso APS Laboratorio perinciso SPACE call for proposals 8,000.00 8,000.00 GENOA

Associazione 'Il Filo d'Erba Comunità Famiglie' Filo d'erba Comunità Famiglie SPACE call for proposals 7,000.00 7,000.00 RIVALTA DI TORINO 
(province of Turin)

Associazione Culturale 'Stranamore' Stranamore SPACE call for proposals 7,000.00 7,000.00 PINEROLO (province of Turin)

Associazione Culturale Mastronauta Mastronauta SPACE call for proposals 7,000.00 7,000.00 OMEGNA (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

ARCI Cinema Vekkio APS Cinema vekkio SPACE call for proposals 7,000.00 7,000.00 CORNELIANO D'ALBA 
(province of Cuneo)

Centro Incontri Anziani di Chiusa di Pesio Centro incontri/anziani di Chiusa di Pesio SPACE call for proposals 7,000.00 7,000.00 CHIUSA DI PESIO 
(province of Cuneo)
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Associazione culturale AMICI DI HORTUS Hc | hortus conclusus SPACE call for proposals 7,000.00 7,000.00 NOVI LIGURE (province of 
Alessandria)

Società Operaia di Mutuo Soccorso e Istruzione Società operaia di mutuo soccorso e istruzione di Gozzano SPACE call for proposals 7,000.00 7,000.00 GOZZANO (province of Novara)

Soce Circolo Arci APS La soce SPACE call for proposals 7,000.00 7,000.00 CIRIÈ (province of Turin)

Consorzio Associativo Officine Solimano Solimano workshops SPACE call for proposals 6,000.00 6,000.00 SAVONA

Accademia del Chiostro “Musica insieme” - a journey through music in memory tempo 5,000.00 5,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Culturale Isaiah Berlin #santaincontra. Art, culture and science events 5,000.00 5,000.00 GENOA

FONDAZIONE ENRICO BERLINGUER Docufilm about Luigi Berlinguer 5,000.00 5,000.00 CAGLIARI

Associazione Culturale UOVO Uovo_uno spazio condiviso SPACE call for proposals 5,000.00 5,000.00 VERCELLI

Ponti di parole Stories Project 5,000.00 5,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Piero Dardanello A scuola di Giornalismo 3,000.00 3,000.00 MONDOVI (province of Cuneo)

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Cultural participation initiatives aimed at combating inequality. 205,000.00 205,000.00 TURIN
“Giovani ed Europa” project - year II 170,000.00 170,000.00 TURIN
Democratic participation initiative for young people. Year III 120,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN
“Well impact” - Culture and Health: updates and operating costs 90,000.00 90,000.00 TURIN
Participation and Indoor Areas 75,000.00 75,000.00 TURIN
Schools of politics - Provision 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN
“Bottom up” - Spaces adjacent to cultural and civic centres. Support for the initiative and 
provision for matching grants 45,000.00 45,000.00 TURIN

“Libri del Tempo Presente 2000-2020” operational project, in collaboration with Fondazione 
Polo del '900 and Biblioteche Civiche Torinesi - year II 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Network for the beneficial use of confiscated assets - operating costs for the implementation 
of a communication campaign 5,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Space II call for proposals - update, start of second year and allocation of operating costs 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN
TorinoProxima. Results of the civic entrepreneurship pre-acceleration programme 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN
Coding Girls in Turin - third year - operating costs for evaluation 12,000.00 12,000.00 TURIN
'Aldo Fasolo' Prize for Communication in Neuroscience, 2021 5,000.00 5,000.00 TURIN
Total for Body 877,000.00 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 8,155,000.00 

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
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Fondazione 1563 per l'Arte e la Cultura support for institutional activity 2021 2,200,000.00 2,200,000.00 TURIN

Consorzio delle Residenze Reali Sabaude Co-governed body - 2021 support Woodland as a resource. 
Building in woodland. 2,000,000.00 2,000,000.00 VENARIA (province of 

Turin)

Fondazione Torino Musei Co-governed body - 2021 support Co-governed bodies 1,500,000.00 1,500,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Teatro Regio, Turin Co-governed body - 1st provision for the three-year quota 2024-2026 1,100,000.00 1,100,000.00 TURIN

Teatro Nazionale di Genova Support for institutional activity 2021 850,000.00 850,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione del Teatro Stabile, Turin Co-governed body - 2021 support Woodland as a resource. 
Building in woodland. 800,000.00 800,000.00 TURIN

Palazzo Ducale Fondazione per la Cultura Support for 2021 - tranche II Co-governed bodies 750,000.00 750,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione Museo delle Antichità Egizie di Torino Co-governed body - 2021 support Woodland as a resource.
Building in woodland. 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

Associazione delle Fondazioni di Origine Bancaria del Piemonte Allocation to Projects Fund for 2021 130,000.00 130,000.00 TURIN

Filarmonica Teatro Regio Torino Concert planning 2021-2022 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 9,580,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Culture.
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University of Turin

Doctoral scholarships, 37th cycle (financial year 2021) 2,095,654.86 2,095,654.86 TURIN

Call for proposals for ex-post funding of university research projects 2,000,000.00 2,000,000.00 TURIN

University research infrastructure upgrade projects 0.00 1,000,000.00 TURIN

Call for proposals concerning the acquisition of small and medium-sized research equipment 0.00 350,000.00 TURIN

SSST- Scuola di Studi Superiori 'Ferdinando Rossi' - AY 2021/2022 350,000.00 350,000.00 TURIN

Proof of Value - PoV Instrument 350,000.00 350,000.00 TURIN

Ongoing research quality assessment and reporting: the 'motivate’ project 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

Final Report 2020 4,345.14 93,690.29 TURIN

Additional doctoral scholarships 37th cycle, AY 2021/2022, on innovation and greening 0.00 89,345.14 TURIN

Students in custody hub (financial yr. 2021 - AY 2021/2022) 0.00 50,000.00 TURIN

'Gianni Merlini’ European section: development of a library section covering EU-related topics 14,000.00 14,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 6,592,690.29 

Collegio Carlo Alberto - Centro di Ricerca e Alta 
Formazione

support for institutional activity 2021 5,830,000.00 5,830,000.00 TURIN

Master in insurance innovation (MII) - 2nd edition 0.00 100,000.00 MONCALIERI (province of 
Turin)

2021 contribution for LTI 0.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 5,980,000.00 

Polytechnic of Turin

Measures for the promotion and internationalisation of the doctorate 2021 1,090,610.00 1,304,234.00 TURIN

Innovative doctoral training, research innovation initiatives 2021 317,266.00 317,266.00 TURIN

Strengthening the alumnus community and turning it to account - 2021 4,762.00 275,343.00 TURIN

Final Report 2020 0.00 213,624.00 TURIN

Teaching lab - 2021 85,708.00 85,708.00 TURIN

Establishment of a hub for the Polytechnic in Brussels 80,000.00 80,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 2,276,175.00 

Fondazione LINKS Leading Innovation & Knowledge for 
Society

PoC Instrument for the Polytechnic University of Turin - 2021 1,272,644.00 1,272,644.00 TURIN

Increasing the university’s competitiveness on the basis of Horizon Europe - 2021 293,154.00 293,154.00 TURIN

POC Instrument for the Polytechnic University of Turin - 2020 200,806.00 200,806.00 TURIN

PoC Instrument for the University of Genoa 100,000.00 200,000.00 GENOA

Attraction and retention of quality teachers - 2021 128,500.00 128,500.00 TURIN

PoC Instrument: Polytechnic of Turin 26,550.00 26,550.00 TURIN

Total for Body 2,121,654.00 

Federico II University of Naples

Research funding programme 750,000.00 750,000.00 NAPLES

FRA (Finanziamento della Ricerca di Ateneo) university research funding programme 335,000.00 335,000.00 NAPLES

Study in Naples - internationalisation of study courses 2021 250,000.00 250,000.00 NAPLES

CSEF 2021 165,000.00 165,000.00 NAPLES

Total for Body 1,500,000.00 

`Amedeo Avogadro` University of Eastern Piedmont

Multi-year agreement 2019-2021: internationalisation 324,799.88 340,000.00 VERCELLI

Multi-year agreement 2019-2021: innovative doctorates 37th cycle, AY 2021/22 294,943.88 294,943.88 VERCELLI

Multi-year agreement 2019-2021: Simlab implementation 262,000.00 262,000.00 VERCELLI

Multi-year agreement 2019-2021: data banks and software development 147,616.00 147,616.00 VERCELLI

Multi-year agreement 2019-2021: innovative doctorates - graduate conferences and seminars 70,640.24 70,640.24 VERCELLI

Total for Body 1,115,200.12 

University of Milan Traces of mobility, violence and solidarity: reconceptualizing cultural heritage through the 
lens of migration 807,900.00 1,057,900.00 MILAN

Projects, 2021. Research.
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> RESEARCH

University of Genoa

Doctoral scholarships, 37th cycle 600,000.00 600,000.00 GENOA

Supporting European competition after Horizon 2020 with actions designed around fp9 
(erc/eic-fet, msca, rise) - 2021 100,000.00 250,000.00 GENOA

Final Report 2020 0.00 200,000.00 GENOA

Total for Body 1,050,000.00 

Fondazione European School of Management Italia Scholarships 2021-2022, contribution to the work of the ChinaMed Business Programme 290,000.00 316,850.00 TURIN

Fondazione Luigi Einaudi Onlus

Support for institutional activities 140,000.00 140,000.00 TURIN

Scholarships 2021/2022: specialisation and training 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Diffondere per formare Next Generation You call for proposals 5,000.00 5,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 205,000.00 

Centro Studi Luca d'Agliano

Support for institutional activities 63,000.00 63,000.00 TURIN
Migration Observatory 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Global challenges 2021 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

European economy 2021 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Lda nextgyou- phase 1 Next Generation You call for proposals 5,000.00 5,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 168,000.00 

Fondazione Collegio Universitario di Torino Renato Einaudi

New learning spaces for deserving university students - redevelopment of the Sezione Mole Antonelliana 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

M.o.d.e. “Modello Organizzativo e Didattico Einaudi” for innovative, integrated learning Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 115,000.00 

University of Gastronomic Science

Interventions to support the right to study 2021 50,000.00 50,000.00 BRA (province of Cuneo)

Support for the design of the development phase for the University of Gastronomic Sciences 31,000.00 31,000.00 BRA (province of Cuneo)

Total for Body 81,000.00 

Fondazione Luigi Firpo - Centro di Studi sul Pensiero 
Politico

Support for institutional activity 2021 55,000.00 55,000.00 TURIN

Library and culture project 2021 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 70,000.00 

Varallo Sesia Municipal Council Maintenance in the digital age PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 60,000.00 VARALLO (province of Vercelli)

Musei Reali di Torino Take care PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 60,000.00 TURIN

University Institute of European Studies (IUSE) ‘Gianni Merlini' European section of the 'Norberto Bobbio’ library 56,000.00 56,000.00 TURIN

Monastero Bormida Municipal Council Castello 'della Rovere' in Monastero Bormida: innovative process for preventive and 
scheduled conservation – phase II. PRIMA call for proposals, phase II 0.00 56,000.00 MONASTERO BORMIDA 

(province of Asti)

SEI Impresa Sociale S.R.L. Italian tech week 2021 25,000.00 25,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Difendiamo il Futuro Ripartire ancora e sempre dalla persona: solo il lavoro salverà l'italia 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione per l'Ambiente Teobaldo Fenoglio, non-profit Fondazione per l’Ambiente three-year development plan (2021 -2023) Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Ricerca Molinette, non-profit Ripartire dal senso condiviso per progettare strategie future. Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Artificial Intelligence call for proposals - second edition in collaboration with Fondazione CDP 1,549,500.00 1,794,500.00 TURIN
North-West Italy research call for proposals 1,300,000.00 1,300,000.00 TURIN
PRIMA call for proposals. “Prevenzione Ricerca Indagine Manutenzione Ascolto”: results of 
the second phase of the cultural heritage call for proposals PRIMA call for proposals, phase I 0.00 176,000.00 TURIN

Project work 2022 of Fondazione Luigi Einaudi Onlus - Provision 125,000.00 125,000.00 TURIN
“Intelligenza Artificiale” call for proposals, 2nd edition - costs for evaluating and monitoring 
the call for proposals 0.00 97,500.00 TURIN

“Intelligenza Artificiale” call for proposals, 2nd edition - costs for evaluating and monitoring 
the call for proposals 20,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

Project work 2022 of Centro Studi Luca D'Agliano - Provision 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN
Edisu - Support for the construction of university teaching facilities - Provision 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN
Call for research proposals: Artificial Intelligence, mankind and society 0.00 45,000.00 TURIN
Project work 2022 of Fondazione Firpo - Provision 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 3,758,000.00 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 26,714,469.41 
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Fondazione LINKS Leading Innovation & Knowledge for 
Society Updating of the constitution of Fondazione LINKS and consequent resolutions 5,300,000.00 5,300,000.00 TURIN

Genoa Municipal Council Contribution for the first year of the multi-year “Verso Ocean Race” project. Innovation, 
sustainability, enterprise under the Framework Protocol 500,000.00 500,000.00 GENOA

SEI Impresa Sociale S.R.L.

Vento 250,000.00 250,000.00 TURIN

Italian tech week 2021 25,000.00 25,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 275,000.00 

Fondazione Opes-Lcef Onlus Intervention aimed at developing social enterprises, with the possibility of road-testing the 
“recoverable grant” model 230,000.00 230,000.00 MILAN

Fondazione Innovazione Sociale per l'Italia 
c/o Rinascimenti Sociali

Process of liquidation of Fondazione FISI (Nesta Italia) and the role of Compagnia di San 
Paolo 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

Fondazione Luigi Einaudi Onlus

Acquisition of online databases in BESS for 2021 110,000.00 110,000.00 TURIN

Digitalisation activities in BESS in 2021 - final year 60,000.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 170,000.00 

Associazione Torino per la Finanza e l'Innovazione Sociale

Torino Social Impact 0.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Road-testing a social impact exchange 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 140,000.00 

Fondazione Adriano Olivetti
#olivettiworld: the future of accountable enterprises, programme of cultural and training 
activities in conjunction with Associazione Archivio Storico Olivetti aimed at digitising and 
showcasing the Olivetti heritage - final year

50,000.00 50,000.00 ROME

ITS Istituto Tecnico Superiore per le Tecnologie 
dell'Informazione e della Comunicazione

Digital skills training for the world of work and upskilling the organisation for access to 
National Recovery and Resilience Plan resources 50,000.00 50,000.00 TURIN

Reseau Entreprendre Piemonte

Support for institutional activity 2021 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Réseau entreprendre Piemonte: verso un mondo che cambia Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 45,000.00 

Fondazione Accademia Maurizio Maggiora Road-testing the use of Open Badges to certify skills acquired in the third sector, in 
conjunction with Promoting Decent Work Mission 0.00 40,000.00 CHIERI (province of Turin)

OFF GRID ITALIA APS Reland 0.00 20,000.00 TURIN

Arci Torino Aps Three-year plan for upgrading/transforming the body - year I - consulting on drawing up the 
plan 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Associazione FRAME Drawing up a three-year transformation plan for the FRAME association 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

‘Visionary’ social promotion association Strategic allies - strategic consulting 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Torino Youth Centre Strategic and operational design of options for developing a transformation and upgrading 
plan 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Unione delle Camere di Commercio Industria, Agricoltura e 
Artigianato del Piemonte

Unioncamere Piemonte for Brussels Office 7,000.00 7,000.00 TURIN

Unioncamere Piemonte for Brussels Office 7,000.00 7,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 14,000.00 

IL MARGINE s.c.s. - Società Cooperativa Sociale !! looking forward !! Next Generation You call for 
proposals 14,000.00 14,000.00 TURIN

Iris Network associazione italiana degli Istituti di Ricerca 
sull'Impresa Sociale Social enterprise on the European stage and social impact assessment 10,000.00 10,000.00 TRENTO

EURICSE “Comunità intraprendenti.” In search of new social transformation practices 0.00 10,000.00 TRENTO

InVento Innovation Lab Impresa Sociale srl B corp school 10,000.00 10,000.00 
CERNUSCO SUL 
NAVIGLIO (province of 
Milan)

Projects, 2021. Innovation.
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> INNOVATION

Croce Rossa Italiana Comitato di Leini OdV Updating emergency response in line with the strategic plan 2018-30 telecom equipment 
renewal project 5,800.00 5,800.00 LEINI (province of Turin)

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Development of a Blue Economy accelerator in Genoa 550,000.00 550,000.00 TURIN

Support for establishing an accelerator for the 5G and IoT sectors, managed by Digital 
Magics, a digital projects incubator 435,000.00 435,000.00 TURIN

Launch of a social procurement initiative in 2022 - Provision 336,700.00 373,700.00 TURIN

Next Generation You call for proposals  Results of initial selection, data processing and 
intervention options 250,000.00 250,000.00 TURIN

European Social Catalyst Fund - ESCF  Provision for phase 2 of the international fund, which 
supports scalable, evidence-based social innovation practices with Genio Trust, Robert Bosch 
Stiftung and King Baudouin Foundation

0.00 200,000.00 

Next Generation We call for proposals 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN

Launch of a Trusted Data Intermediary, a new model for altruistic sharing and pooled use of 
data to generate value for the local ecosystem - provision 150,000.00 150,000.00 TURIN

Support for the national welfare tech acceleration programme, promoted by SocialFare and 
Avanzi and supported by CDP Venture Capital SGR’s Accelerators Fund 135,000.00 135,000.00 TURIN

“Design e Innovazione Sociale” call for proposals 120,000.00 120,000.00 TURIN

Project work 2022 in the public-private Torino Social Impact ecosystem - provision 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

ESA-BIC: support for the establishment of an aerospace accelerator managed by I3P, an 
innovative-business incubator, and supported by the European Space Agency 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

Call for proposals aimed at facilitating digital and technology transfer processes and 
consolidating the culture of digital innovation in social economy organisations  Presentation 
of the general idea, request for an opinion and a possible plan for an allocation to launch a 
cycle of consulting to design the intervention

0.00 60,000.00 TURIN

Workshops on the civil economy at the Salone Internazionale del Libro di Torino  Provision 
and presentation of the initiative promoted by Compagnia in conjunction with Scuola di 
Economia Civile. Initiative in partnership with the Developing Skills Mission

30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

2021 strategic communication costs of the Planet Goal 15,000.00 21,795.50 TURIN

Innovators against energy poverty call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Road-testing a social impact exchange - operating costs 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 2,720,495.50 

TOTAL FOR SECTOR 9,864,295.50 

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

IIGM - Italian Institute for Genomic Medicine (formerly HuGeF) support for institutional activity 2021 2,900,000.00 3,100,000.00 TURIN

City of Turin Local Health Authority

Addition to the contribution to support the Covid-19 vaccination campaign 600,000.00 600,000.00 TURIN

Agreement between Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo and ASL Città di Torino to support 
the Covid-19 vaccination campaign 400,000.00 400,000.00 TURIN

Intervention to upgrade the microbiology and virology lab at the Amedeo di Savoia Hospital in Turin Esercizi di delega SG 400,000.00 400,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 1,400,000.00 

Fondazione C.I.G.N.O. ONLUS “Telemedicina” project on enhancing care quality to enhance patients’ life quality Esercizi di delega SG 900,000.00 900,000.00 OVADA (province of 
Alessandria)

Fondazione Respiro Libero ONLUS “Respiro libero” project HOSPEEDAL - Line 1 600,000.00 600,000.00 TURIN

Piedmont Regional Council Support for 10 additional medical-specialist training contracts - years II and III Esercizi di delega SG 510,000.00 510,000.00 TURIN

F.O.R.M.A. - Fondazione Ospedale Infantile Regina 
Margherita Onlus

Design and construction of a new department of nephrology and gastro-enterology at the 
Regina Margherita Hospital HOSPEEDAL - Line 1 400,000.00 400,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Donatrici Italiane Sangue di Cordone 
Ombelicale sezione regionale Piemonte O.D.V.

Digital innovation at the Regina Margherita Children’s Hospital in Turin HOSPEEDAL - Line 1 320,000.00 320,000.00 TURIN

Reiki and pediatric palliative care 8,000.00 8,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 328,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Well-being.
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> WELL-BEING

Fondazione Ospedale Alba-Bra Onlus Neartocare – functional innovation at the Ferrero Hospital nursery and remote health 
monitoring in Cuneo district 2 HOSPEEDAL - Line 1 255,000.00 255,000.00 ALBA (province of Cuneo)

Compagnia di San Paolo - Provisions projects on sport and 
people with disabilities Possible initiatives with Oasi Laura Vicuna 150,000.00 150,000.00 TURIN

Mondovì Municipal Council Bimbingamba Mondovì - Macro-action 1 0.00 115,000.00 MONDOVI (province of 
Cuneo)

BASKET TORINO SOCIETA' SPORTIVA DILETTANTISTICA 
A RESPONSABILITA' LIMITATA B.a.sk.e.t. - Benessere Attraverso lo Sport e l'Educazione sul Territorio 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Istituto David Chiossone per i ciechi e gli ipovedenti Onlus “So far so near” project: nationwide extension of visual rehabilitation services for the 
developmental age 90,000.00 90,000.00 GENOA

Fondazione Ricerca Molinette, non-profit Co-funding of the call for proposals to support top-level scientific research at Azienda 
Ospedaliero-Universitaria Città della Salute e della Scienza. 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Marco Berry Onlus Iron mind - senza limiti 35,000.00 35,000.00 RIVOLI (province of Turin)

Società Italiana di Igiene, Medicina Preventiva e Sanità 
pubblica - S.It.I.

“Vaccinarsi in Piemonte” - communication plan for the prevention of infectious diseases 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Infectious diseases that are preventable by vaccination - health education interventions 
among the population of Piedmont 10,000.00 10,000.00 ROME

Total for Body 20,000.00 

Fondazione ADAS - Assistenza Domiciliare ai Sofferenti 
Onlus Accompagnare oltre l'oggi Next Generation You call for 

proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 CUNEO

La Collina degli Elfi ODV Associazione di volontariato Vola solo chi osa farlo Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 GOVONE (province of 

Cuneo)

Società Sportiva Dilettantistica CH4 Sporting Club r.l. Crescere con il benessere Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Thema Education Srl Società sportiva dilettantistica Slow movement - the way to a sustainable world Next Generation You call for 
proposals 14,800.00 14,800.00 TURIN

ASS.I.S.TE -Assistenze Integrative SocioSanitarie Piemonte 
Società Cooperativa Sociale Siglabile Assiste clinical management Next Generation You call for 

proposals 14,000.00 14,000.00 TURIN

Spaziomnibus s.c.s.d. Move yourself 'quando i piedi rincorrono la terra, la testa sa dove si trova il cielo' ruthy alon Next Generation You call for 
proposals 12,930.00 12,930.00 GRUGLIASCO (province 

of Turin)

FLYING ANGELS FOUNDATION, NON-PROFIT Flying angels: next future Next Generation You call for 
proposals 12,000.00 12,000.00 GENOA

Associazione Culturale Dynamoscopio Parchiaperti | follow-up 10,000.00 10,000.00 MILAN

Associazione Italiana Trapiantati di Fegato ODV Two-year extension of the fixed-term paediatric surgery research post at the University of 
Turin 8,500.00 8,500.00 TURIN

Associazione Culturale Linea d'acqua Confluenze l'arte un ponte verso la vita 8,000.00 8,000.00 TURIN

FONDAZIONE ARPA ONLUS Support for publicising a photography book spotlighting nurses. 8,000.00 8,000.00 PISA

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Strategic framework for joint initiatives in Sport and Well-being   
Request for opinion and provisions 607,500.00 607,500.00 TURIN

North-West Italy research call for proposals 500,000.00 500,000.00 TURIN

Call for proposals to complement the NRRP calls for proposals in the educational arena 300,000.00 300,000.00 TURIN

Preventive medicine research work - Provision 250,000.00 250,000.00 TURIN

Experimental initiative to support public-private interventions on public hospital departments 
- Hospeedal.  Selection result and consequent deliberations 225,000.00 225,000.00 TURIN

Phase 2 of the project for the implementation of information systems at Cottolengo Hospital 
- Provision 150,000.00 150,000.00 TURIN

Communication initiatives under the agreement between Fondazione Compagnia di San 
Paolo and ASL Città di Torino to support the Covid-19 vaccination campaign 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Conducting a feasibility study for the creation of a multi-sensory garden on the roof of the 
spinal unit at the Orthopaedic Trauma Unit - Notice Esercizi di delega SG 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

2021 strategic communication costs of the Planet Goal 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 2,187,500.00 

Total for sector 10,363,730.00 
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IAI - Istituto Affari Internazionali Two-year agreement 2021-2022 with the Italian Institute of International Affairs - 2021 grant 400,000.00 400,000.00 ROME

Fondazione Centro Studi sul Federalismo Support for activity 2021 400,000.00 400,000.00 TURIN

International Training Centre of the International Labour 
Organisation Scholarships for the Turin School of Development 2021 385,000.00 385,000.00 TURIN

T.wai Torino World Affairs Institute

Provision for a special project in conjunction with Compagnia 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Support for institutional activities 2021 75,000.00 75,000.00 TURIN

TO-China hub 2021 75,000.00 75,000.00 TURIN

Human security governance 2021 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Asia prospects 2021 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN

T.wai 2030 Next Generation You call for 
proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 315,000.00 

The German Marshall Fund of the United States Two-year agreement 2021-2022 with The German Marshall Fund of the US - contribution 2021 300,000.00 300,000.00 UNITED STATES OF 
AMERICA

UNSSC - United Nations System Staff College Support for international training activities 2021 300,000.00 300,000.00 TURIN

European Council on Foreign Relations Italy Strategic partnership proposal 2021 300,000.00 300,000.00 ROME

CeSPI Centro Studi di Politica Internazionale Project entitled “L'Italia e le sfide internazionali nell'era post-Covid” 250,000.00 250,000.00 ROME

Studi e Ricerche per il Mezzogiorno 2021 membership and Observatories on Energy and Maritime Traffic in the Mediterranean 100,000.00 100,000.00 NAPLES

ISPI - Istituto per gli Studi di Politica Internazionale

Support for the 2021 edition of the 'Rome MED' conference in collaboration with the Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs and International Cooperation, Rome 2-4 December 2021 0.00 50,000.00 MILAN

Membership contribution 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 MILAN

Total for Body 90,000.00 

NATO Defense College Foundation “Fondazione Compagnia di San Paolo scholarships for the NATO Defense College Foundation 
Junior Fellows initiative 0.00 50,000.00 ROME

International Institute of Humanitarian Law IIHL International training and research programme in “Cultural property protection in crisis 
response” 40,000.00 40,000.00 SAN REMO (province of 

Imperia)

SIOI - Società Italiana per l'Organizzazione Internazionale - 
Piedmont and Valle d'Aosta Section Galleria degli internazionalisti 7,500.00 7,500.00 TURIN

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

2022 research work of Fondazione Centro Studi sul Federalismo - Provision 207,500.00 207,500.00 TURIN

2021 strategic communication costs of the Planet Goal 10,000.00 10,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 217,500.00 

Total for sector 3,155,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Internationalisation.

128



Annual Report
2021

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Comune di Giaveno Centro Sociale “Oasi tortorello”: health, culture, sport Environmental Restoration call for proposals 0.00 140,000.00 GIAVENO (province of Turin)

Fondazione per l'Ambiente Teobaldo Fenoglio, non-profit Support for institutional activity for 2021 70,000.00 70,000.00 TURIN

Associazione A come Ambiente “A scuola di Ambiente”, an environmental fun-learning event for children 55,000.00 55,000.00 TURIN

Regione Liguria Travel over Liguria: food, green & art 50,000.00 50,000.00 GENOA

Legambiente Piemonte e Valle d'Aosta o.n.l.u.s.

Goletta dei laghi - in Piemonte 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Next generation youth - Legambiente Piemonte e Valle d'Aosta Next Generation You call for proposals 14,992.00 14,992.00 TURIN

Total for Body 44,992.00 

European Research Institute Onlus

Sea-ty Environmental Restoration call for proposals 0.00 29,000.00 TURIN

Sea-ty project awards 6,900.00 6,900.00 TURIN

Total for Body 35,900.00 

Bioglio Municipal Council Btolium - back to origins Environmental Restoration call for proposals 0.00 31,000.00 BIOGLIO (province of 
Biella)

Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei International conference on current issues in climate research 30,000.00 30,000.00 ROME

Fondazione Museo Nazionale del Cinema 'Maria Adriana Prolo' 24th Festival Cinemambiente 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Avigliana Municipal Council Acqua: risorsa da gestire Mutamenti call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 AVIGLIANA (province of 
Turin)

Acqui Terme Municipal Council Gli alberi e la città Mutamenti call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 ACQUI TERME (province 
of Alessandria)

Associazione culturale PourParler Coumba elements Mutamenti call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 AOSTA

Unione Montana Alta Val Tanaro Ants - Azioni di Network per un Territorio Sicuro Mutamenti call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 GARESSIO (province of 
Cuneo)

Alagna Municipal Council Rigenerosa – regeneration of disused cable car structures at Punta Indren on Monte Rosa Mutamenti call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 ALAGNA VALSESIA 
(province of Vercelli)

Amici dei Sentieri Il lago il bosco: la rinascita Mutamenti call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 BROZOLO (province of 
Turin)

Environmental Foundation Michael Otto

F20 Climate Solutions Forum 15,000.00 15,000.00 OUTSIDE ITALY (EE)

Foundations 20 Platform 5,000.00 5,000.00 OUTSIDE ITALY (EE)

Total for Body 20,000.00 

Province of Savona Anti-forest-fire monitoring and pathways for the Riserva dell’Adelasia Mutamenti call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 SAVONA

Almese Municipal Council Arca - Adattamento e Resilienza al Cambiamento climatico ad Almese Mutamenti call for proposals 19,500.00 19,500.00 ALMESE (province of Turin)

Società Meteorologica Italiana Onlus Vazon durable Mutamenti call for proposals 19,000.00 19,000.00 BUSSOLENO (province of 
Turin)

Cavour Municipal Council Fruttada - frutticoltura e adattamento Mutamenti call for proposals 18,000.00 18,000.00 CAVOUR (province of 
Turin)

Viarigi Municipal Council Viarigi agreement Mutamenti call for proposals 17,850.00 17,850.00 VIARIGI (province of Asti)

San Nazzaro Sesia Municipal Council “Adattamenti” - socio-environmental workshop for a community that designs the future Mutamenti call for proposals 16,000.00 16,000.00 SAN NAZZARO SESIA 
(province of Novara)

Associazione Culturale Dynamoscopio Parchiaperti | follow-up 15,000.00 15,000.00 MILAN

Società Sportiva Outdoor Portofino a R.L. Ecosystem lab Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 PORTOFINO (province of 
Genoa)

ENTE DI GESTIONE DELLE AREE PROTETTE DEL 
MONVISO Reinforcement of the governance system for the Monviso biosphere reserve Next Generation You call for proposals 15,000.00 15,000.00 SALUZZO (province of 

Cuneo)

Ente di Gestione delle Aree Protette dell'Ossola Green generation: obiettivo Ossola 2030 Next Generation You call for proposals 14,000.00 14,000.00 VARZO (province of 
Verbano-Cusio-Ossola)

Savigliano Municipal Council La citta' al sicuro 10,000.00 10,000.00 SAVIGLIANO (province of 
Cuneo)

E.R.I.C.A. soc. coop. World plogging challenge - first edition in Val Pellice, 1-3 October 2021 10,000.00 10,000.00 ALBA (province of Cuneo)

ANFFAS ONLUS IMPERIA Un seme dopo di noi 0.00 7,498.00 IMPERIA

greenTO Gru.co, il bicibus 2.0 0.00 6,500.00 TURIN

Circolo Legambiente IL PIOPPO Ovest Ticino e Novarese APS “Un posto in 'comune'” - memory park in Trecate 0.00 6,000.00 GALLIATE (province of 
Novara)

Projects, 2021. Environment.
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> ENVIRONMENT

AFeVA Associazione Famigliari Vittime Amianto 2nd asbestos/environment 5,000.00 5,000.00 CASALE MONFERRATO 
(province of Alessandria)

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

“Capitale Naturale” call for proposals 1,442,600.00 1,467,600.00 TURIN
Experimental initiative for social-impact energy communities 420,000.00 479,999.20 TURIN
Call for proposals to complement the NRRP calls for proposals in the educational arena 300,000.00 300,000.00 TURIN
“Mutamenti” call for proposals - Ideas and action for a changing climate Mutamenti call for proposals 269,650.00 269,650.00 TURIN
Strategic framework for joint initiatives in Sport and Well-being 200,000.00 200,000.00 TURIN
2021 strategic communication costs of the Planet Goal 10,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN
Innovators against energy poverty call for proposals 20,000.00 20,000.00 TURIN
Scientific consulting and capacity building activities in support of climate action 5,500.00 5,500.00 TURIN
Total for Body 2,772,749.20 

Total for sector 3,613,989.20 

APPLICANT PURPOSE OF AWARD CALL FOR PROPOSALS AMOUNT OF AWARD,  
CURRENT YEAR (€) TOTAL AWARDED (€) LOCATION

Centro di Ricerca e Documentazione 'Luigi Einaudi'

Support for institutional activities/membership fee 2021 250,000.00 250,000.00 TURIN

22nd Giorgio Rota report 80,000.00 80,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 330,000.00 

FIERI - International and European Forum on Migration 
Research Support for institutional activity 2021 270,000.00 270,000.00 TURIN

URBAN LAB Annual contribution 2021 250,000.00 250,000.00 TURIN

Associazione Globus et Locus Support for institutional activities/membership fee 2021 166,000.00 166,000.00 MILAN

E.F.C. - European Foundation Centre Support for institutional activity 2021 85,000.00 85,000.00 BELGIUM

ASVAPP - Associazione per lo Sviluppo della Valutazione e 
l'Analisi delle Politiche Pubbliche

Dissemination and training activities 2021 45,000.00 45,000.00 TURIN

ASVAPP membership contribution 2021 30,000.00 30,000.00 TURIN

Total for Body 75,000.00 

Centro Studi Medì Migrazioni nel Mediterraneo “Figli di un Dio minore?” Living conditions and social relations among minority groups of the 
immigrant population in Genoa 45,000.00 45,000.00 GENOA

Observa Science in Society Science in Society RISP - a new relationship between science and society in the post-pandemic era 45,000.00 45,000.00 VICENZA

Fondazione Fitzcarraldo Osservatorio Culturale del Piemonte 2021 40,000.00 40,000.00 TURIN

Percorsi di secondo welfare (APS) Second year of the fifth biennial '| percorsi di secondo welfare' (2021) 30,000.00 30,000.00 MILAN

Associazione di Fondazioni e di Casse di Risparmio Spa 
ACRI 2021 contribution to support Fondazione Estense (ACRI Fund for Common Initiatives) 27,557.00 27,557.00 ROME

Gruppo di Ricerca Increase “Riconnettersi”, good practices for young people living in conditions of social short circuit - 
2nd year 25,000.00 25,000.00 ORBASSANO (province 

of Turin)

NEF - Network of European Foundations For Innovative 
Cooperation Membership contribution 2021 20,000.00 20,000.00 BELGIUM

Associazione per la Ricerca Sociale Welforum.it - national observatory on social policy 16,000.00 16,000.00 MILAN

Fondazione Italia per il Dono, non-profit Mapping and capacity-building of community philanthropy in the Ponente Ligure area 10,000.00 10,000.00 MILAN

Associazione Culturale Neodemos Neodemos - i numeri del cambiamento 10,000.00 10,000.00 FLORENCE

Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects

Contribution for the two-year project: “Osservatorio sui Beni Comuni”: a two-year programme 
of analysis of interpretations, forms and outcomes in the experience of local bodies and 
foundations

49,000.00 49,000.00 TURIN

Rockfeller Philanthropy Advisors: Theory of the Foundation project 2021 18,306.00 18,306.00 TURIN

Provision for research on local birth-rate policy and contemporary philanthropy 15,694.00 15,694.00 TURIN

Total for Body 83,000.00 

Total for sector 1,527,557.00 

Projects, 2021. Planning, Research and Evaluation Department.
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Compagnia di San Paolo - Implementation costs for 
operational projects Policy-making initiatives in impact innovation 100,000.00 100,000.00 TURIN

Total for sector 100,000.00 

Projects, 2021. Impact Innovation Department.
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